

Artificial Intelligence Futures for the Arab Region







VISION

ESCWA, an innovative catalyst for a stable, just and flourishing Arab region

MISSION

Committed to the 2030 Agenda, ESCWA's passionate team produces innovative knowledge, fosters regional consensus and delivers transformational policy advice. Together, we work for a sustainable future for all.

Artificial Intelligence Futures for the Arab Region

© 2025 United Nations All rights reserved worldwide

Photocopies and reproductions of excerpts are allowed with proper credits.

All queries on rights and licences, including subsidiary rights, should be addressed to the United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia (ESCWA), email: publications-escwa@un.org.

The findings, interpretations and conclusions expressed in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the United Nations or its officials or Member States.

The designations employed and the presentation of material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the United Nations concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

Links contained in this publication are provided for the convenience of the reader and are correct at the time of issue. The United Nations takes no responsibility for the continued accuracy of that information or for the content of any external website.

References have, wherever possible, been verified.

Mention of commercial names and products does not imply the endorsement of the United Nations.

References to dollars (\$) are to United States dollars, unless otherwise stated.

Symbols of United Nations documents are composed of capital letters combined with figures. Mention of such a symbol indicates a reference to a United Nations document.

United Nations publication issued by ESCWA, United Nations House, Riad El Solh Square, P.O. Box: 11–8575, Beirut, Lebanon.

Website: www.unescwa.org.

Cover photo credit: ©iStock.com

2500217E

Preface

This report is the third in a series of analyses from the United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia (ESCWA) on megatrends.

In his 2021 report on "Our Common Agenda", the United Nations Secretary General described that "now is the time to think for the long term, to deliver more for succeeding generations and to be better prepared for the challenges ahead". The commitments called for in Our Common Agenda include "convening foresight and planning experts ... and regularly reporting on megatrends". ESCWA has been advancing these commitments since 2021 in a variety of ways, including through this series of megatrend studies (Electric mobility, December 2022; Metaverse, August 2024).

Megatrends are socioeconomic-technical phenomena that have reached a point at which they are transforming the dominant patterns of life and work that shape the lives of billions of people today. They disrupt existing economic, financial, social-cultural, environmental and other societal conditions, and create wholly new conditions. The effects are almost always a mix of beneficial and harmful. They demand policy and other actions by leaders across sectors to strengthen and take advantage of the potential positive impacts while mitigating the potential harms.

In 2025, artificial intelligence (AI) might be considered the quintessence of a megatrend. While the technology has been developed and in use for more than six decades, it has metamorphosed in recent years into a force affecting a growing number of facets of human life. It is changing how products are manufactured, how schools teach, how cities are designed, how healthcare innovations are invented and applied, and much more – all in ways that we have only barely begun to recognize or understand.

Al is advancing in all these fields in the Arab region today. The pace and nature of this advancement will be distinctive to the countries and people of the region. The purpose of this report is to explore what that could look like and what the implications of different choices and priorities could be. Its aim is not to prescribe, but rather the opposite – to provide policymakers and leaders in other sectors in the Arab region with a combination of facts, projections and ideas about AI that open their minds and their decision-making processes to a range of possibilities.

The time for Arab region leaders to engage with the AI megatrend is now, through policy, investment and other types of actions, in support of key aims of the Pact for the Future adopted in September 2024. Doing so represents a singular

opportunity to actively shape desirable futures for the peoples of the region today and for generations to come, taking advantage of this transformational technology, and of the social and economic and other changes it is unleashing.

Shaping the future is not only possible, it is imperative. It requires proactive steps to understand what the possibilities could be, followed by actions to leverage that understanding. This report is a contribution to that understanding.

Acknowledgements

The United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia (ESCWA) appreciates the valuable contributions of the following individuals and organizations to this study and report.

ESCWA core team

Mounir Tabet, Deputy Executive Secretary Youzhi Zhang, Associate Programme Management Officer Leen Abdallah, Research Assistant

Partner organizations

The Middle East Institute, Washington, D.C., United States IE University Center for the Governance of Change, Madrid, Spain International Telecommunication Union, Geneva, Switzerland American University of Beirut, Beirut, Lebanon

Authors

Steven Kenney, Director, Strategic Foresight Initiative, The Middle East Institute

Mariette Awad PhD, Associate Professor, Electrical and Computer Engineering Department, the American University of Beirut

Thomas Basikolo PhD, Al for Good Program Officer, International Telecommunication Union

Nagla Rizk PhD, Professor of Economics and Founding Director, Access to Knowledge for Development Center, the American University in Cairo's Onsi Sawiris School of Business

Dario Garcia de Viedma, Associate Director, Center for the Governance of Change, IE University

The Middle East Institute research and analysis support

Omar Abdelrahman Noora Alozaibi Aziza Ben Abdallah Gili Golan Esther Mohadeb Luke DuBree Morton

IE University Center for the Governance of Change Jaime De Aguinaga Garcia Carlos Luca De Tena Giaccomo Ugarelli

Milica Blagojević

The American University in Cairo

Khadiga Hassan Nada Nassar

Experts interviewed

Lama al Arabiat Muath Alduhishy Hamish Campbell Achref Chibani Sofia Kyriazi Moises Maldonado Rebeca Moreno Jimenez Jessica Obeid Mohammed Soliman

Executive summary



At the end of 2024, **90 per cent** of Fortune 500 companies were using AI. A recent estimate projected **\$23 trillion** in annual economic value from AI **by 2040**.



While artificial intelligence (AI) is far from an overnight sensation, the release of ChatGPT in November 2022 was a defining moment. It mobilized the global tech sector, corporations in other sectors, Governments and global investors. At the end of 2024, 90 per cent of Fortune 500 companies were using AI. A recent estimate projected \$23 trillion in annual economic value from AI by 2040.¹

The impact of AI on humanity and society is already great today, and is scaling rapidly. In five years' time, this moment in time will seem modest in comparison. Most projections for the decade between 2030 and 2040 show exponential increases in what the world has seen to date. Leaders must juxtapose incredible societal benefits against the challenges and risks that we already face from AI, and that we will see accelerate and scale as the technology does.

The speed of the advancement of AI makes it critical for leaders to contend with both sides of the opportunity and risk equation now. This report provides insights into what we can anticipate regarding the future of AI, to identify decisions and actions that leaders can take today to prepare for tomorrow. In some cases, they are decisions and actions that must be taken for future success.

The present report examines three alternative pathways that Al could take in the Arab region over the next 10 to 20 years. Each represents a direction that the advancement of Al might take in the region that could gain magnitude and momentum over that time period through deliberate strategies with supportive policy and other actions to achieve distinctive aims. The pathways are not mutually exclusive. They can proceed in parallel to varying degrees, and there can be degrees of overlap and complementarity between them.

These are not the only pathways that countries in the Arab region could pursue to leverage AI in their future societies. Whether these pathways or others are pursued, building the capacity to develop and use AI will be essential. Capacity-building is an imperative for every country, not just in the Arab region. The critical decisions for public, private and civil sector leaders will be how to do so in the most appropriate ways given the conditions and starting points unique to each country.

Pathway 1: Optimizing diverse AI technologies and partnerships for local priorities

Many countries today are embarking on strategies for domestically developing AI models and other AI research and development capabilities and infrastructure. Locally curated and controlled datasets, a native AI-skilled workforce, governance frameworks and other elements are part of these strategies. But making the technology locally is not the only way countries might think about AI to advance their interests. Some may choose to develop some elements of their AI tech stack locally, while building collaborations with global partners to adapt AI for some of the aims they want to achieve. For some countries in the Arab region, the latter may be an optimal pathway.

The countries in the Arab region that are currently farthest along in their development and application of AI already benefit from global collaborations which allow them to adapt partners' AI innovations as well as boost their research and development and infrastructure self-reliance. Other countries in the region that are at an earlier stage of creating their AI futures with constrained resources are also forging global partnerships and may benefit even more.

Most indicators of the growing attention in the Arab region to partnering for Al adaptation involve government entities on one or both sides of the agreements. Business-to-business international partnerships are proliferating as well and can be equally or even more important. There are also growing cross-sectoral intra-regional collaborations helping countries adapt Al for their distinctive priorities. In addition to bilateral collaborations, several intra-regional forums have emerged.

Smart strategic use of open-source software and algorithms will be an increasingly powerful additional means of partnering to adapt global Al innovations to countries' priorities. Open source is a means for working in real time with a global community of developer partners that numbers in the millions. Bringing Arab region diaspora experts into structured collaborations in their countries of origin could be another resourceful way to adapt Al innovations to local priorities.

Many Arab region countries have long-term national visions, offering opportunities to adapt AI to established plans for the future. There are also new national AI strategies in a number of Arab region countries. Countries can forge pathways that explicitly link what they prioritize in their partnerships for adapting AI to goals and priorities in their national visions or other country-level policies. They can consider how goals, priorities and objectives in these national visions can be advanced by AI in ways that were never previously possible. They can also consider new goals, priorities and objectives that might be added to their visions that can be advanced by AI.



Pathway 2: Al and identity in the Arab region



A second pathway could see investment in Al in service to objectives rooted less in individual nations' priorities, and more in the Arab region's language, cultures and identity more broadly. One dimension of this pathway is to accelerate and scale the development and use of Al models built on Arabic-centric data (Arabic language text and data in other forms like images, video and audio). Another dimension is the opportunity countries have to safeguard and nurture their cultural heritage in ways never before possible, via Al applications that preserve, recover, and restore manifestations of those cultures for future generations.

Investing in creating generative AI tools built and trained on Arabic language data and other types of data that reflect the region's values, culture and peoples will transform businesses, government ministries, and other types of enterprises in Arab countries. Progress on Arabic large language models (LLMs) and other generative AI tools is accelerating in the region and elsewhere, driven by at least three forces. One is recognition of the economic growth it can fuel. The second is recognition of the prospects it offers for positioning in the global tech economy. The third is recognition of the inherent value of reflecting native language and culture in how AI is utilized in everyday work and life.

With a growth of Arabic language AI models and applications, consumers in the Arab region will see significant improvements in their experiences as customers in a range of ways, and businesses will gain access to new local and global customers. Essential government services are increasingly provided in Arab region countries through digital means, and Arabic language AI models will transform how citizens engage with their Governments.

Development of Arabic AI models and tools will also help fuel job creation and business creation throughout the region. It will enable high-quality educational content to become more accessible to and engaging for students from different linguistic dialect backgrounds. Generative AI tools capable of performing in the range of Arabic dialects will play an important role in advancing digital equity, opening the AI-enabled future to millions in the region. Arabic language LLMs and generative AI will be a demonstration of the region's growing stature and influence on the global stage.

There is an emerging role for Al in the preservation of cultural heritage. Generative Al can be utilized for reconstructing damaged works of art and historically significant cultural sites. It can translate ancient texts, making them accessible to scholars and to non-experts who might otherwise never be able to engage with them. Al can power immersive virtual environments that recreate long-lost historical sites and figures, making cultural heritage experiential for those who cannot engage with it physically.

The benefits of investing in Al for cultural heritage preservation are significant. They include economic growth from Al-enabled cultural tourism, with accompanying job creation, and the revitalization of neighbourhoods and infrastructure surrounding site restorations. Al will also be instrumental in fostering cross-cultural mutual understanding in a variety of ways, including promoting inclusiveness and empathy within communities and between communities, and in some cases promoting conflict resolution. It will also strengthen Arab region countries' relationships with other countries, helping foster positive perceptions and thereby strengthening their position on the international stage.

Pathway 3: Al and the Sustainable Development Goals in the Arab region

Considerable work is being done globally on applying Al to the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), and substantial progress is being seen. However, countries around the world are behind on 80 per cent of the 169 targets that comprise the SDG framework.

As AI is accelerating and scaling at an astonishing rate, there is an opportunity for countries to recognize this as a call to action. A third pathway for the advancement of AI in the Arab region is to accelerate and scale the application of AI against specific SDG targets in a deliberate strategic manner, with the aim of closing the gap on the 80 per cent of targets that risk not being met.

In 2024, the United Nations reported on projects underway or planned to develop and deploy Al-enabled systems and tools in support of the SDGs. Nearly 50 agencies within the United Nations system contributed, reporting on more than 400 projects. The work on Al to accelerate SDG progress goes beyond the efforts of United Nations agencies and their multi-sectoral partners, including Al startup companies, the social sector and civil society organizations, and other types of enterprises around the world. All this work represents an important inflection point.

Seizing on this inflection point can be a pathway for Al in the Arab region. At least two attributes could define this pathway. One has to do with prioritization – identifying promising SDG-relevant Al applications to scale beyond the modest levels of their current use. Prioritizing may also need to consider which SDGs, or targets within individual Goals, to focus on in prospective future efforts to scale Al initiatives. The second attribute relates to shifting the focus of funding to the region for these Al efforts. Countries could deliberately target more of their own investment to scaling selected Al developments for selected SDGs. Partnerships with global investors and Al developers to focus more on SDG-supporting initiatives in the Arab region could be another element of a prioritization strategy.

The ability of policymakers and other leaders in the Arab region to visualize this pathway for the future of AI in the Arab region requires appreciating the kinds of outcomes that current efforts to apply AI to the SDGs can create. Chapter 4 of this report provides examples of the potential impacts of scaling selected types of AI tools when applied to the 17 SDGs. The examples are not a prescription for which SDG targets to focus on, or for specific types of AI applications to choose to scale.



Contents

Pr	reface	3			
Ac	Acknowledgements				
	kecutive summary	ements5immary6ns, acronyms and glossary12cion13opportunities come great challenges14ment will not last15oroach of this report - exploring alternative pathways for the future advancement of Al in the Arab region16any pathway: capacity-building17s, key messages and recommendations171: Optimizing diverse Al technologies and partnerships for locallw, impact locally19velopment efforts indicate that one size need not fit all20do dapt Al for local needs is taking off in the Arab region22to adapt Al for local needs is taking off in the Arab region23established plans for the future28dations aligned with this pathway292: Al and identity in the Arab region33owe are and what Al can be33and risks of generative Al tools built on non-native languages34and risks of generative Al tools built on non-native languages35uage generative Al tools are emerging and already having an impact36uage generative Al tools built on non-native languages36uage generative Al tools will make are substantial37th and rapidly emerging role for Al in the preservation of Arab region cultural heritage40th and rapidly emerging role for Al in the preservation of Arab region41s of investing in Al for cultural heritage preservation of arab region41s of investing in Al for cultural heritage preservation of arab region41and risks of gene			
AC	obreviations, acronyms and glossary	12			
1.	Introduction	13			
	A. With great opportunities come great challenges	14			
	B. Today's moment will not last	15			
	C. Aim and approach of this report – exploring alternative pathways for the future advancement of Al in the Arab reg	gion 16			
	D. Underlying any pathway: capacity-building	17			
	E. Key findings, key messages and recommendations	17			
2.	Pathway 1: Optimizing diverse AI technologies and partnerships for local				
	priorities	19			
	A. Think globally, impact locally	19			
	B. Global Al development efforts indicate that one size need not fit all	20			
	C. Adapting and partnering – an Al pathway for impact in the Arab region	22			
	D. Partnering to adapt AI for local needs is taking off in the Arab region	24			
	E. Many countries have long-term national visions they are pursuing, offering opportunities to adapt AI to established plans for the future	28			
	F. Recommendations aligned with this pathway				
3.	Pathway 2: Al and identity in the Arab region	33			
	A. Linking who we are and what AI can be	33			
	B. Across industries and sectors, language models and other generative Al tools are transforming				
	how everything is done				
	C. Drawbacks and risks of generative AI tools built on non-native languages				
	D. Arabic language generative AI tools are emerging and already having an impact				
	I. Recommendations aligned with this pathway	47			

4. Pathway 3: Al and the SDGs in the Arab region	51
A. Juxtaposing trends of great importance	51
B. Seizing on the inflection point as a pathway for Al in the Arab region	54
C. Recommendations aligned with this pathway	61
5. Capacity-building	65
A. The urgent need for Al capacity-building	65
B. New jobs, gone jobs and changed jobs as Al advances	66
C. How Al jobs are evolving in selected Arab region countries	68
D. Al jobs against the realities of overall jobs	69
E. Other key elements of Al capacity-building in the Arab region	71
F. A policy framework for Al capacity-building in the Arab region	73
G. A phased and tiered approach	77
H. Metrics and evaluation for Al capacity-building in the Arab region	78
I. Recommendations aligned with capacity-building	79
6. Key findings, key messages, and recommendations	83
A. Policy, legislative and regulatory recommendations (P)	84
B. Technical recommendations (T)	87
C. Investment recommendations (I)	90
Annex 1.	
	00
Illustrative adaptations of AI for selected national vision goal areas in Arab region countries	93
Annex 2.	
Additional Al use cases supporting the SDGs	99
Endnotes	106

Abbreviations, acronyms and glossary

AI	artificial intelligence
AR	augmented reality
ESCWA	United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia
ICT	information and communication technologies
IMF	International Monetary Fund
ITU	International Telecommunication Union
IWMI	International Water Management Institute
LLMs	large language models
MLLMs	multi-modal large language models
MSME	micro, small and medium enterprise
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
SDGs	Sustainable Development Goals
SLMs	small language models
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
UNEP	United Nations Environment Programme
VR	virtual reality

1

Introduction

The recent boom in generative AI has been astonishing. Since the free public release of OpenAI's ChatGPT in November 2022 and its 100 million monthly active users just two months later, it became the fastest growing consumer technology application in human history.²

Since 2022, the largest and most powerful companies in the global tech sector have rapidly accelerated the deployment of their own generative AI models – Google's Gemini, Meta's (formerly Facebook) MetaAl and Microsoft's Copilot, to name just three. None of these accomplishments occurred overnight. OpenAl's company launch was in 2015, and the work in Al of Meta, Google and Microsoft that led to their popular tools of today goes back decades. Work on Al by other companies, research institutions, Governments and other entities goes back decades further still. The 1950s is recognized as the era of the birth of a technology that has many other forms rather than just the generative AI.³

The ChatGPT launch mobilized not only global tech sector giants, but also global investors looking for startups and preparing to propel a massive wave of transformative AI applications. In the United States, investors have funnelled more than \$250 billion into more than 4,500 AI companies cumulatively since 2013. In 2022 alone, more than 500 AI-based startups were founded in the United States, attracting \$47 billion in non-government funding. Over the last decade, the top 10 countries globally in terms of number of AI startups combined to found nearly 8,700 companies. That is approximately 12 per cent of the estimated 70,000 AI-based startups in existence in the world today, more than 200 of which were privately-owned startup businesses worth more than \$1 billion as of March 2024. Generative AI comprises nearly 50 per cent of all AI funding, "a significant increase from 2022 when generative AI startups garnered only 8 per cent".⁴

The importance of this moment in time is not only in tech sector or entrepreneur windfall. It is in the human and societal impact AI is already having. An estimate in late 2024, puts the economic value of generative AI at \$20 trillion by 2030, expected to drive



By late 2024, 35 per cent of businesses had adopted AI technologies in their operations, and another 42 per cent were considering AI for future implementation. AI is being used by more than 50 per cent of large companies with over 5,000 employees. More than 90 per cent of government organizations

surveyed globally are already using or exploring using Al.



Against the incredible societal benefits introduced above, leaders must juxtapose existing **challenges and risks**, which will accelerate and scale as Al does.



3.5 per cent of all global GDP. Another estimate two months later projected \$23 trillion in annual economic value by 2040, from Al software and services alone, and noted that the entire United States gross domestic product (GDP) in 2024 was approximately \$28 trillion.⁵

By late 2024, 35 per cent of businesses had adopted Al technologies in their operations, and another 42 per cent were considering Al for future implementation. Al is being used by more than 50 per cent of large companies with over 5,000 employees. More than 90 per cent of government organizations surveyed globally are already using or exploring using Al. The kinds of Al use cases these businesses and Governments are developing, for example, revolutionizing healthcare by expanding access to quality services and enabling unprecedented new forms of treatment and disease prevention as well as optimizing energy usage and integrating renewable energy sources into power grids; and much more. The United Nations has documented more than 400 Al projects globally in support of the SDGs. They are, for example, optimizing crop yields while minimizing resource consumption in sustainable agriculture initiatives and revolutionizing climate modelling and climate change impact mitigation strategies. New avenues for employment, learning, connectivity and personal fulfilment are being opened up for people around the world.⁶

Al is not just a tool to be leveraged, but a force to be reckoned with. From the largest public and private sector institutions to enterprises and countries with modest resources, to individuals in their everyday lives, no one can ignore Al. While the costs of embracing Al are high in some respects, it has a lower entry barrier than other technologies, making it possible for all organizations and societies to engage in seizing the opportunities that Al enables.

A. With great opportunities come great challenges

Against the incredible societal benefits introduced above, leaders must juxtapose existing challenges and risks, which will accelerate and scale as AI does. One risk is the impact that biases in AI algorithms and models present as these models are used for decision-making in organizations on an ever-widening range of topics and issues. Because they generate results based on the data on which they are trained, their results unavoidably reflect the culture from which the data are drawn, which has been shown to favour certain groups in the models' predictions. For example, the AI underlying Google displays far fewer ads for high-paying executive jobs to women users. In law enforcement, "AI-powered predictive policing tools ... can reinforce patterns of racial profiling and disproportionate targeting of minority communities".⁷

Another set of challenges has to do with intentional use of Al for criminal or other nefarious purposes. This includes the generation of deepfakes – video, audio and other forms of misrepresentation of actions and behaviours. As a recent analysis from the Brookings Institution notes, "because they are so realistic, deepfakes can scramble our understanding of truth in multiple ways",⁸ with potentially high degrees of harm. Another risk is the introduction of spurious data with the deliberate intent of deceiving Al models – a phenomenon that has been dubbed Al pollution.

Because AI is fuelled by data, there are natural risks associated with how and to whom that data are made available. Data protection risks associated with AI include data breaches due to the vast amount of sensitive data processed, and privacy

concerns from models and applications collecting personal information without consent. Potential criminal and other misuses are enabled by the fact that peoples' and organizations' data are widely available to Al models and applications. Given the increasingly anthropomorphic nature of Al applications (e.g., chatbots, realistic virtual reality (VR) agents), there is a risk factor of "people becoming more likely to develop trusting relationships with Al ... and consequently more inclined to share increasingly personal information".⁹

Some core aspects of AI have a dual benefit-risk edge. For example, one use of AI widely considered to be beneficial is in surveillance systems. Al algorithms can autonomously analyse and synthesize video and other forms of data to identify people, vehicles, objects and behaviours in real-time for better and faster detection of security threats. At the same time, many have concerns about the same AI applications being misused by Governments or other actors for surveillance to enact repressive measures.¹⁰ Another dual edge benefit-risk consideration relates to the growing ability of AI to provide decision-making support. This is already driving transformational beneficial effects in nearly every business sector and aspect of life. At the same time, there are already growing concerns that this ceding of control is making users lazy, with risk implications as AI is used more widely for decision-making support on increasingly more important topics and issues. Some developers of current market-dominating AI models have voiced concerns about the future of human agency over AI. There are questions as to whether AI will become superintelligent, a so-called "artificial general intelligence that can match or exceed human-level performance", and even potentially advance to some form of sentience that could be beyond human control.¹¹

B. Today's moment will not last

Al will continue to accelerate and scale in ways so that, in five years' time, its current capacities will seem modest. Most projections for the decade from 2030 to 2040 show exponential increases in what the world has seen to date in investment, range of use cases, pervasiveness, threats and other aspects of the Al phenomenon. Underlying the pace of increase is the pace of advancement of the technology itself. In late 2023, in testimony before the United States Senate, the chief executive officer of Al company Anthropic said that "the single most important thing to understand about Al is how fast it is moving".¹² The rate at which humans are being surpassed by Al in accomplishing new tasks has increased dramatically over the last decade. The amount of computing power used to train Al systems climbed slowly for 60 years until 2010, and since then has skyrocketed year over year. The same is true of the number of data points used to train Al models.¹³

The release in January 2025 of a new LLM from Chinese company DeepSeek is emblematic of the pace of advancement of Al. It stunned many observers by training the model in substantially less time, with fewer and less powerful chips, at substantially less cost to develop than those of its global competitors. Two days later, a White House press conference announced "the largest Al infrastructure project by far in history" – a new \$500 billion collaboration (Project Stargate) between United States-based OpenAl, Oracle, Japanese investment company SoftBank and United Arab Emirates government-backed tech company MGX.¹⁴

This speed of the advancement of AI is why it is critical for leaders to contend with both sides of the opportunity and risk equation – thoughtfully, rigorously and



Most projections for the decade from 2030 to 2040 show exponential **increases** in what the world has seen to date in **investment**, range of use cases, **pervasiveness**, **threats** and other aspects of the Al phenomenon.



creatively. The phenomenon of AI creates an imperative for strategic foresight, and strategic foresight requires using insights into what we can anticipate regarding tomorrow to identify decisions and actions leaders can take today to prepare for and succeed in the future.

There is a long history of technological innovation racing far faster than Governments. There is limited ability to put policies and regulations in place to effectively promote the equitable deployment of new technologies and manage the risks. For a range of reasons, Governments evolve incrementally, while technology increasingly demonstrates "combinatorial innovation".¹⁵ Advances in individual technologies are combined to create effects far greater than the advances possible from any one individually. If leaders today take traditional approaches to reacting to innovations and resultant changes, the promise of Al will not be realized, and the risks of its potential harms may be great. Leaders must anticipate and pre-adapt to them instead.

A proactive approach to AI policy must be transdisciplinary and approached with a long, multi-generational view. As founder and executive director of Data Economy Policy Hub, Shamira Ahmed, notes, "AI impacts economics, ethics, law, science, sociology, and even the environment [in] complex, interconnected [ways that] cannot be fully addressed from any single disciplinary perspective".¹⁶ Leaders must start working today to develop "anticipatory AI policies that reflect the complexities of our interdependent global society, support responsible innovation, and create inclusive intergenerational benefits". It is essential to seize this opportunity now, when the impact of public policy actions taken early can shape the future. Leaders that wait are likely to find little room for policy manoeuvre later, after the route AI can take has already been charted and set.¹⁷

C. Aim and approach of this report – exploring alternative pathways for the future advancement of AI in the Arab region

This report and the research underlying it explore the potential for region-centric approaches to the public policy dimension of AI. The intention is to help leaders in the Arab region optimize the positive impacts and minimize the negative impacts of this technology megatrend on the Arab region. It recognizes that leaders everywhere in the world have sometimes been ill-prepared for past megatrends due to insufficient advanced consideration of them. The aim is to provide leaders in the Arab region with extensive current considerations of some of the potential futures of the AI megatrend, while the technology is still gaining momentum. This can help ensure preparation that is not only sufficient but optimal for the countries and people of the region.

The report examines three alternative pathways that Al could take in the Arab region over the next 10 to 20 years. Each represents a direction that the advancement of Al might take in the region that could gain magnitude and momentum through deliberate strategies with supportive policy and other actions to achieve distinctive aims. The pathways are not mutually exclusive. They can proceed in parallel to varying degrees, and there can be degrees of overlap and complementarity between them.

The first pathway (chapter 2) explores how countries in the region could pursue strategies for adapting AI developments sourced from anywhere in the world in ways



A **proactive** approach to Al policy must be transdisciplinary and approached with a long, **multigenerational** view.



that serve and advance distinctive local priorities that may be key elements of their national vision.

The second pathway (chapter 3) explores how countries in the Arab region could pursue strategies for using LLMs trained on Arabic language data and culture to fuel the growth of their economies. It also looks at using Al to

D. Underlying any pathway: capacity-building

These are not the only pathways countries in the Arab region could pursue to leverage AI in their future societies. Whether these pathways or others are pursued, building the capacity to develop and use AI will be essential. Capacity-building is imperative for every country globally. Critical decisions for public, private and civil sector leaders will be how to do so in the most appropriate ways given the conditions and starting points unique to each country. A number of elements comprise the capacity-building imperative for countries in the Arab region.

One is creating an appropriately trained and skilled workforce. Skill development for living and working with information and communication technologies (ICT) in the digital economy is already underway in every country in the Arab region, though the level and pace varies significantly. Working in and with AI demands new additional specific skills and abilities, such as in developing and training algorithms and using machine learning to automate tasks. Because the pace of advancement for AI is so fast, and is expected become even faster, capacity-building in terms of skill development will need to be continuous and lifelong.

A second essential element of capacity is Al-relevant infrastructure. As with skill development, in the Arab region and elsewhere there is a foundation of such infrastructure for the broader digital economy and society, and also Alspecific infrastructure needs. The former comprises 5G mobile and other types of communications networks for Internet preserve, restore and promote the Arab region's cultural heritage.

The third pathway (chapter 4) explores how countries in the Arab region could pursue strategies that select and then scale AI applications to accelerate their attainment of the SDGs, particularly in countries where SDG progress is most urgently needed.

connectivity, cloud platforms and cybersecurity systems. Beyond these, countries and industries will also need new types of infrastructure that are uniquely demanded by Al.

A third element is institutional capacity – the mechanisms for overseeing and governing the development and use of Al within countries as well as across borders. Similarly to skill development and infrastructure development, there is already a foundation. Numerous countries have agencies or sub-agencies, created within the last decade, dedicated to fostering and regulating the digital economy. Many of these institutions can have their scope expanded to encompass Al, and some are already being retrofitted. At the same time, it is recognized that, because so much about Al is novel, adapting existing institutions may be insufficient, or could even be counterproductive and create risk. Newly created Al-specific institutions are already beginning to appear, for example the Spanish Agency for the Supervision of Artificial Intelligence, Considerable additional attention is needed for conceptualizing and creating the institutions that countries around the world will need for the futures of Al.¹⁸

Chapter 5 of this report explores a range of considerations and issues related to the capacity-building necessary in the Arab region to pursue any pathway for AI development and usage. That chapter includes issues related to jobs and AI in the Arab region.

E. Key findings, key messages and recommendations

Chapter 6 of this report draws from all the prior chapters. It compiles policy and other recommendations from chapters 2 through 5. It also provides key findings and key messages for each recommendation.

Key findings are factual points revealed by the research underlying this report, highlighting a notable reason why the recommendation is needed. Source citations for the key findings are included in the report text where these factual points first appear and are not repeated in chapter 6. Key messages relate to the importance and relevance for the region of that finding and its accompanying recommendation. It answers the question of why the finding is important for the Arab region and further contextualizes the recommendation. The recommendations represent actions public policymakers and other-sector leaders can take now and in the near future to address the finding and its key message, in the context of the overall AI megatrend.



Pathway 1: Optimizing diverse AI technologies and partnerships for local priorities

A. Think globally, impact locally

Since 2022, AI is being adopted more rapidly and globally than other major technology phenomena, including mobile phones or the Internet. With each passing month and year, more countries, including nearly every country in the Arab region, are developing AI capabilities or accelerating current development of AI. The recent sudden spike in AI development was initially primarily concentrated in the more industrially developed world, and some countries are emerging as clear leaders in the AI race, enabled by their considerable financial and other resources. At the same time, commensurate with their resources, many other countries including in the Global South also are pressing forward with AI development at a pace comparable to those leaders.¹⁹

This is occurring due to a global recognition that the aggregation of technological innovations that comprises Al today enables previously unachievable advancements in economies and social innovations. Every country can see how it can deliver breakthroughs on many of their national priorities, with leaders in every sector throughout the world eager to move Al agendas forward. The burgeoning number of ways that Al can be applied to a plethora of objectives enables these leaders to tailor their Al investments to what is distinctively important to their societies.

A growing number of countries today are embarking on strategies for what has been described as "sovereign Al".²⁰ This is a matter of domestically developing their own Al foundational and language models and other Al research and development capabilities and infrastructure. Locally curated and controlled datasets, a native Al-skilled workforce, governance frameworks, and other elements are also part of this equation. But a focus on making the technology locally is not the only way countries might think about developing Al to advance their sovereign interests. Some may take an approach of selectively developing some elements of their Al tech stack indigenously, while in parallel building collaborations with global partners to adapt Al technical innovations developed elsewhere for some of the objectives they want to achieve. Creating governance and other mechanisms to ensure local authority over the fruits of such partnerships is critical.

For some countries in the Arab region, the latter may be an optimal pathway. The version of the sovereign Al concept emerging as dominant today, emphasizing self-reliance in model and infrastructure development, has benefits but also risks. One risk is that the cost and other burdens of large-scale indigenous Al research and development and infrastructure development could divert limited resources from other vital pursuits. Another risk is that countries could, if they determine self-reliance to be unrealizable, see other forms of strategic investment in Al as impractical as well, leaving them lagging behind on a megatrend that will shape every society and economy. These risks exist for middle- and lower-income countries anywhere in the world, not just those in the Arab region, as well as for wealthy countries.

Combining indigenous development with adapting external developments through partnerships is an AI pathway for countries in the Arab region. It prioritizes impact, customized to local needs, over efforts to secure a place in what is emerging as a sovereign competition that is global in scope. Rather than aiming to replicate others, countries in the Arab region can work to be leaders in applying AI to their own distinctive priorities, optimizing research and development innovations from any source in service to those priorities.

B. Global AI development efforts indicate that one size need not fit all

Recognition of the transformational potential of AI is fuelling research and development and investment worldwide. The amount of computing power used to train AI systems doubled every 20 months from the 1950s to 2010, and since then has doubled every six months. The number of large-scale AI models released went from 9 in 2021 to 29 in 2022 to more than 100 in 2023. The cumulative number of large-scale AI models released by developers in the top ten countries (all wealthy and industrialized) climbed from 47 in 2022 to 282 in 2024.²¹

1. Al development is increasingly global...

The 10 countries that produced these large-scale models are far from the only ones investing in and developing AI. Activity is also considerable in countries whose means for developing AI are more constrained. In September 2024, The Global AI Index documented AI development activity in 83 countries around the world, spanning every region. The index ranks these countries based on a calculus involving 122 indicators grouped in the categories of innovation (level of and output from research and development), implementation (comprising availability of AI-trained talent, reliability and scale of infrastructure, and the nature of the regulatory and public opinion environments), and investment (both government and commercial).²²

The data show the truly global nature of the Al phenomenon – the list of 83 countries is notable for its geographic scope, and they are not the only countries developing



The amount of computing power used to train **AI systems** doubled every 20 months from the 1950s to 2010, and since then has doubled every six months. The number of large-scale AI models released went from 9 in 2021 to 29 in 2022 to **more than 100** in 2023. The cumulative number of large-scale AI models released by developers in the top ten countries (all wealthy and industrialized) climbed **from 47 in 2022 to 282 in 2024**.



and leveraging AI. The data also show how the intensity of some countries' efforts to develop and apply AI is not necessarily correlated to their income. It is also evident that a focus on indigenous model and infrastructure development is not the only or most important determinant of success for every country in gaining the transformative economic, social and other potential outcomes of AI.

As noted, there are clear leaders in global Al development. Given their economic resources, the United States and China each are markedly more advanced than any other country. A cluster of eight advanced industrialized economies are at the next level of development, essentially equivalent with one another. A third tier of 20 other countries are also effectively equivalent to one another, and there is a fourth tier comprising the remainder of the 83 countries. Two Arab region countries – Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates – fall in the third tier, while eight others fall in the fourth tier. Another index which ranks countries' Al development employs its own set of indicators.²³ Overall, it mirrors the findings of the Global Al index closely, although it ranks a few individual countries slightly differently.

2. ... but countries are emphasizing different things in shaping their AI futures

Numerous elements comprise a national approach to developing and leveraging Al. These range beyond local model and infrastructure development, to things like adaptation of open-source models, diversity of a country's Al workforce, number and quality of education institutions teaching about Al, patents for Al applications, responsible Al efforts (ethical and values-based research and development and use frameworks) and legislative activity. Looking at some individual countries shows the benefits of national Al strategies that emphasize these other kinds of metrics, and that mix some local research and development with adapting and leveraging externallydeveloped models and infrastructure.²⁴

For example, South Korea, sixth overall in the Global Al Index, has prioritized development of platforms and algorithms to power Al tools and projects more than fundamental Al research. Singapore has also prioritized local development and local research, ranking fifth and third in those indicators.





Of the top 25 Al intensity countries, 10 have GDPs of **\$500 billion** or less, and 3 of **\$100 billion** or less. Luxembourg ranks only 16th in research and 24th in development, but third in overall intensity due to its investment in other elements of its Al future. Estonia ranks even lower in **local research** (34th) and **development** (52nd) but 17th in overall intensity, thanks to its emphasis on fostering **startups** in local commercial **Al businesses.**



Neither country has invested proportionally in rooting their AI development efforts in a local regulatory environment or a public dialogue about AI, two elements that will be important to tie those developments to national or citizen priorities. India has placed significant emphasis on the development of platforms and algorithms to power AI tools and projects and on local AI talent development (second only behind the United States on that indicator), while ranking near the bottom of the index on investment in locally-developed infrastructure needed for AI applications.²⁵

The intensity metric (Al capacity relative to the size of a country's population or economy) also illustrates that research and development on LLMs and infrastructure need not be predominantly indigenous for a country to excel in using AI to create positive impacts on local priorities. Intensity requires putting available resources to work in whatever ways make the most sense and create the greatest impact for a country. Of the top 25 Al intensity countries, 10 have GDPs of \$500 billion or less, and 3 of \$100 billion or less. Luxembourg ranks only 16th in research and 24th in development, but third in overall intensity due to its investment in other elements of its Al future. Estonia ranks even lower in local research (34th) and development (52nd) but 17th in overall intensity, thanks to its emphasis on fostering startups in local commercial AI businesses. Switzerland ranks fifth, in part from focusing more on developing local AI workforce talent than on local models and algorithms. Sweden, Portugal and Belgium are thriving in Al by focusing on regulation and public trust, despite their local AI research and development and infrastructure development being in the mid to lower ranks. Al intensity produces results, but there is no single formula for intensity.²⁶

C. Adapting and partnering – an Al pathway for impact in the Arab region

The countries in the Arab region farthest along in development and application of AI already benefit from collaborations with global partners. Through collaborations they are working to adapt those partners' AI innovations to boost their research and development and infrastructure self-reliance. Other countries in the region, at an earlier stage in creating their AI future with the resources they have, are also forging global partnerships and may benefit even more. The foundational and language models and infrastructure needed to optimize technology's impact on the distinctive priorities of each country may be developed locally, but they need not necessarily be – they may be more efficiently and effectively adapted from innovations developed elsewhere.

1. The power of the technology may be more important than power over it or from it

Since the term was publicly coined, the narrative of sovereign Al²⁷ has been framed more as one of local self-reliance in developing the technology than of local benefits from applying it. The reality is that only a very few initiatives underway globally that are termed sovereign Al actually reflect the self-reliance that the narrative implies – "a counterintuitive commonality among sovereign Al model projects is that they are generally open source [not a] closed approach to maintain control over how it is built and distributed".²⁸ While many employ supercomputers developed by their national Governments, most are reliant on other technology from United States or other



non-local sources. Advanced microchips represent the greatest foreign dependency for all sovereign AI efforts, and controls over access to these chips are anticipated to be an enduring structural barrier to AI self-reliance. From the United States, the Regulatory Framework for the Responsible Diffusion of Advanced Artificial Intelligence Technology announced in January 2025 is only the most recent such mechanism. Other countries, including Taiwan, Japan and the Netherlands, have their own controls in place on key elements of the semiconductor supply chain.

Beyond the potentially unrealizable idea of infrastructure and research and development self-reliance, much of the sovereign Al concept aligns with the idea of adapting and partnering. Other pillars are a local Al-skilled workforce; regulatory and ethics frameworks customized to the values and cultures of each society; creating a conducive environment for homegrown Al-driven businesses and public sector applications; and international cooperation. Most elaborations of the concept focus on all these elements and on locally generated and controlled data in the local language to train Al models (wherever the models may have been developed), as "the most commonly stated objective of sovereign LLM projects is protecting and promoting national languages, threatened by the potential dominance of LLMs trained primarily on the English language".²⁹

Adapting models and infrastructure developed externally, and partnering with companies and Governments outside the region, can help countries in the Arab region to build each of these pillars, potentially even more rapidly and effectively than efforts to build them locally. Partnerships can help train and educate local workforces for future jobs developing and using AI, help foster local AI startup ecosystems, and help develop sound AI governance frameworks. Countries can take actions in the near-term to build partnership efforts for longterm impact.



The work with Huawei is contributing to the development of **Arabic language** LLMs, while the work with IBM focuses on adapting AI to **healthcare** and **energy** sector use cases. Additional partnerships have followed, including deals that secured nearly **\$1 billion** in funding in 2022.



D. Partnering to adapt AI for local needs is taking off in the Arab region

Examples of Arab region countries collaborating to adapt AI to local needs and priorities are already being seen and can be anticipated to increase both in number and impact.

1. Burgeoning partnerships between Governments and private sector entities in the Arab region with counterparts around the world to adapt AI to local needs and priorities

Saudi Arabia has entered into major collaboration commitments over the past several years on AI to drive its future economy and society. In three separate agreements in 2020, the Saudi Authority for Data and Artificial Intelligence joined with IBM and the Chinese companies Alibaba and Huawei. The partnership with Alibaba focuses on adapting the company's algorithms to advance a specific Saudi Vision 2030 goal of enabling new levels of smart city functionality across Saudi Arabia. The work with Huawei is contributing to the development of Arabic language LLMs, while the work with IBM focuses on adapting Al to healthcare and energy sector use cases. Additional partnerships have followed, including deals that secured nearly \$1 billion in funding in 2022 for over 40 Al and other tech startups; an Aramco Digital strategic partnership with privately-held United States tech services firm World Wide Technology; and a major Saudi public investment fund venture to adapt Google's Al offerings and jointly invest in Al skill development for the local workforce.³⁰

International partnering to develop and adapt AI has also been a major focus in the United Arab Emirates over the past several years. The Telecommunications and Digital Government Regulatory Authority adapted ChatGPT in 2023 to create the U-Ask chatbot, enabling queries in more than 50 languages to transform how Emirati citizens and other users engage with the Government. A major collaborative venture was announced in April 2024 between Microsoft and G42, the AI company partly owned by Abu Dhabi sovereign wealth fund Mubadala. Microsoft's investment – the largest private investment globally made to any AI company in 2024 – "will support a new \$1 billion developer fund to create an AI workforce and talent pool to drive innovation across the region", not just in the United Arab Emirates. Projects supported by the developer fund will be creating and adapting AI applications to priorities across multiple sectors of the United Arab Emirates economy and society with access to Microsoft's computing resources leveraging export-controlled Nvidia chips.^{31,32}

Ongoing talks between Mubadala, Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing Company and Samsung Electronics point to a similarly significant emerging partnership. This and other international partnering efforts represent steps by the United Arab Emirates to meet the country's International Artificial Intelligence Policy. The policy codifies a national aim to "establish international alliances for developing, securing, and governing Al systems". It also elaborates the Government's intent to agree with partners on "transparency and built-in checkpoints within Al tools to enforce ethical standards and accountability measures".³³

Other Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) countries are pursuing partnerships to adapt global Al innovations to meet their local priorities. A growing number of the 170 companies in financial technology (fintech) in Bahrain are from outside the region, operating in a regulatory sandbox intended to offer them a conducive environment for AI-driven applications and business model experimentation. In Oman, a partnership was recently announced between Nokia and local tech company Ooredoo to deploy a state-of-the-art network to meet the considerable connectivity needs of local data centres, Al-driven applications and cloud-based platforms. Oman also will host a new Center for the Fourth Industrial Revolution to develop and adapt AI with global partners. Three companies in the Arab region -Riyadh-based Intech Smart Buildings, Qatar-based facilities management firm Fixit and Dubai-based Smart Energy Savings - are partnering with United Kingdom-based Arloid Automation on adaptations of AI to reduce the energy requirements associated with their own operations and in Al-based smart facility applications their clients use.^{34,35}

Egypt also offers examples of taking steps along a pathway of partnering and adapting AI to its national priorities. In April 2024, Egypt established an agreement with Italy for a joint centre for collaboration between research institutions and businesses to develop AI applications and workforce AI skills in Egypt and elsewhere in Africa. Since late 2024, Egypt has also worked with Latvia on creating similar centres to collaborate on AI adaptation and workforce development; with the United States and Japan to adapt AI applications in the healthcare sector; and with Chinese State-owned Tsinghua Unigroup Co. Ltd. for a \$300 million investment fund for AI.³⁶

Morocco has established partnerships under its Digital 2025 strategy with Huawei, IBM and Google and with academic research institutions abroad. It is also looking to South-South cooperation, particularly with other African nations, to advance its aims in the regional and larger global AI ecosystem. Tunisia has opened a new AI innovation hub called Novation City. Jordan has global partnerships dating back to 2002 for developing and adapting AI locally, for example with the Japanese International Cooperation Agency, and with the United States Trade and Development Agency on AI for cancer research with King Hussein Cancer Foundation.³⁷

2. Intra-regional and cross-sectoral collaborations help adapt AI for Arab region countries' priorities

Many of the Al-related partnerships countries in the Arab region have formed or are forming are with the United States and Europe, and to a lesser extent with China and other Asian countries. Intra-regional collaborations are also being formed to serve each regional partner's local priorities.

In January 2025, Morocco and Saudi Arabia met to discuss potential commitments and means to collaborate on Al development and applications to drive socioeconomic development in both countries. Morocco has already advanced beyond exploratory dialogues to an agreement with A171, the Al company launched by the Abu Dhabi Advanced Technology Research Council and its commercialization arm VentureOne. The deal will help Morocco leverage A171's open-source Falcon Al models to "adapt Al solutions to enhance citizens' access to government services", an important objective of the Digital Morocco 2030 strategy. It will also help Moroccan startups access computing power they can use to develop Al applications that align with local priorities.³⁸

Egypt and the United Arab Emirates have also been moving forward with Al collaborations, including a framework memorandum of understanding signed in December 2023 for joint investments in data centres for AI in Egypt. Another collaboration being explored involves bringing educational institutions in the two countries together for AI skill development. Officials from Egypt and Algeria met in June 2023 to map out initiatives (data centres, new undersea cables for broadband connectivity) to enable and adapt Al to serve priorities in both countries. A recent study assessed the benefits of Algeria, Libya, Mauritania, Morocco and Tunisia working together in AI, recommending initiatives to share AI knowledge and expertise, joint investments in Al education and technology infrastructure to develop AI capabilities, and work on AI adaptations to improve efficiency and productivity across sectors.³⁹

Several intra-regional forums are bringing countries in the Arab region together to engage at a policy level on actions they can take in alignment with one another to use and adapt Al for shared and individual countries' priorities. One is the technical committee on Al and new work patterns established at the annual Arab Labour Conference in September 2022 and continuing in 2024 to establish collaborative actions to take advantage of Al and address the challenges it poses. Another is the Arab Working Group on Artificial Intelligence, formed by the Arab Council of Ministers for Communications and Information (ATICM) at their annual meeting in 2019. One aim is to "develop a unified Arab strategy, adopt regulatory frameworks for leveraging Al, and come up with guidance for ATICM member states on the best ways to employ these frameworks to serve the goals of the Arab countries".⁴⁰

Countries in the region are also collaborating with one another in cross-sectoral Al-focused forums with the United Nations



Countries in the region are also **collaborating** with one another in cross-sectoral **AI-focused** forums with the United Nations and other intergovernmental organizations.



In 2011, there were fewer than **900 Al-related** projects on GitHub, a proprietary web-based platform that allows developers to store, manage, and share code. In 2023, there were approximately **1.8 million** projects, a **59 per cent** rise that year alone over 2022.



and other intergovernmental organizations. In February 2024, the United Nations Development Programme joined with Mohamed bin Zayed University of Artificial Intelligence to co-lead a new AI for Sustainable Development Platform, AI4SDP. AI4SDP will facilitate partnering efforts to adapt AI innovations developed anywhere in the world to help countries meet SDG targets. Nineteen Arab countries joined together with the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) and other countries in May 2024 in an initiative to promote the adaptation of AI tools and frameworks for integration into national education systems. In the same year, the Saudi Data and Artificial Intelligence Authority joined with the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) to adapt the latter's framework for AI incident monitoring to language models and other AI tools developed in the Arabic language.⁴¹

3. Strategic use of open-source software and algorithms will be an increasingly powerful means of partnering to adapt global Al innovations to Arab region countries' priorities

Open-source development of AI models could be characterized as at the other end of the spectrum from sovereign AI. It is the most expansive way countries in the Arab region can pursue a pathway of partnering on AI for local priorities. Going beyond discrete, structured, negotiated partnerships, open source is a means for working in real time with a global community of developer partners that numbers in the millions. These developers are continuously adapting the work of other partners and making their own work available for adapting. The open-source community and mentality is democratizing AI, whereas closed-source models only allow those with access to larger computing infrastructures to develop the technology. In countries with limited resources, open source will be vital to enabling them to adapt AI in ways that suit their distinctive aims.⁴²

Open-source AI research has grown exponentially over the last several years, in tandem with the post-ChatGPT boom. In 2011, there were fewer than 900 Al-related projects on GitHub, a proprietary web-based platform that allows developers to store, manage, and share code. In 2023, there were approximately 1.8 million projects, a 59 per cent rise that year alone over 2022. More than 80 per cent of companies are building 25 per cent or more of their AI tools on open-source platforms, and thousands of software development teams globally have experimented with opensource AI. In 2023, nearly two thirds of the AI foundation models released were open source. GitHub is far from the only repository and partnering ground for open-source Al. Others include Hugging Face, Data Version Control and DagsHub. The Hugging Face platform alone is home to more than 900,000 models, 200,000 datasets, and 300,000 demo apps. Developer communities formed around niche areas within Al and machine learning are other platforms for open-source collaborators. Major tech and cloud companies offer open-source tools on their platforms, like the Google AI Model Garden and Amazon CodeWhisperer. A growing number of research institutions host the open-source models of their researchers.⁴³

Adaptation of AI through open-source partnering is one key to the strides countries in the Arab region have made over the past several years, and it will be key to their continued advancement. The most prominent and capable Arabic language models in the world have been built through such collaborations. Some have been adapted from existing open-source models. Others have been custom built then made open for developers anywhere in the world to adapt for distinctive needs.



The United Arab Emirates and Saudi Arabia saw the **highest increase** in **talent migration** in 2023 (1.4 per cent and 1.3 per cent, respectively), and nearly one in three AI experts that moved in 2023, moved to the Middle East.



4. Bringing Arab region diaspora experts into structured collaborations in their countries of origin could be a resourceful way to adapt Al innovations to local priorities

Another approach to partnering to adapt Al to priorities and contexts of the Arab region could leverage researchers, developers and entrepreneurs living in diaspora. Migration from many countries of the Arab region is a long-recognized trend. A local tech and Al sector is showing signs of growth and could possibly counter the loss of this homegrown tech talent. The United Arab Emirates and Saudi Arabia saw the highest increase in talent migration in 2023 (1.4 per cent and 1.3 per cent, respectively), and nearly one in three Al experts that moved in 2023, moved to the Middle East.⁴⁴

However promising this trend, the number of skilled Arab region technical researchers and developers living abroad is considerable. Strategies can tap into these experts to help adapt AI to priorities in their countries of origin. Mauritania recently created a self-described academic diaspora platform called MARAM to enable AI-focused Mauritanian researchers working abroad to support the implementation of the national AI strategy. Another example is the Tunisian AI Society. It was created as a community of expatriate academics, tech sector workers in AI, researchers, and others to collaborate with organizations and initiatives and participate in making Tunisia a tech hub in AI in the region.⁴⁵

5. Governance frameworks will be critical in ensuring that partnering and adapting aligns with countries' values and cultures as well as with specific priorities

Legal and regulatory constructs for local authority over the development, deployment and use of AI are acknowledged as an essential pillar of sovereign AI. Whether the technology is developed locally or adapted from external partners, such constructs help ensure that AI is controlled and regulated within a specific nation to ensure alignment with its unique values, laws and strategic interests. As legal and regulatory constructs are created and implemented, they will provide clear guidelines for AI development and deployment, regardless of the source of the technology, and mechanisms for oversight and accountability, ensuring that AI technologies are used responsibly and benefit society. Recognition of the importance of AI governance mechanisms and agreements, within countries' borders and across borders, is demonstrated by the large number of legislative and regulatory actions that have been taken or proposed globally.⁴⁶

For countries emphasizing external partnerships as a core element of how they adapt AI to their local priorities, legal and regulatory frameworks will be particularly important to ensure that the fruits of such partnerships align with local laws, values and contexts, and that partners welcome being accountable to what these frameworks require. There are clear indicators in their existing and emerging AI plans that countries in the Arab region are building the foundations of frameworks that will serve them well as they create their AI futures, should they choose to pursue the prospective pathway this chapter describes, or any pathway.



At least **15 ESCWA member States** have national visions or were developing one **in 2024**. The majority of countries in the Arab region have adopted the **2030 Agenda** for Sustainable Development in these national visions.



E. Many countries have long-term national visions they are pursuing, offering opportunities to adapt Al to established plans for the future

Many countries have developed national visions with goals and objectives for their long-term future, often over timespans of ten to sometimes thirty years. At least 15 countries in the Arab region have national visions. They represent a framework for linking their partnering and other efforts to adapt AI to clearly defined goals on which leaders and populations are aligned.

1. Countries in the Arab region have long been focused on the long-term

A 2014 analysis showcased 16 countries that at that time had created long-term visions and the benefits gained from them. If terms other than national vision document are considered, such as national development plan or strategic vision, the number of countries that have structured plans at the national level regarding their long-term future is considerably higher.⁴⁷

The Arab region is notable for such work. At least 15 ESCWA member States have national visions or were developing one in 2024. The majority of countries in the Arab region have adopted the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development in these national visions. Saudi Vision 2030 may be among the most well-known. Its three pillars of a vibrant society, a thriving economy and an ambitious nation have specific associated goals and objectives. Implementation is moving forward in vision realization programmes, including initiatives in health sector transformation, industrial development and human capability development. Vision 2030 is foundational to how the Saudi Arabia is creating its future.⁴⁸

Other countries in the region have similar long-term plans. For example, the 2030 Vision of Egypt, published in 2023, describes six strategic goals. These include improving Egyptians' quality of life and raising their living standards; creating an integrated and sustainable environmental system; and building a diversified, knowledge-based and competitive economy. For each strategic goal, the country's leaders identified several general goals and a number of specific means of attaining them. Jordan has its Vision 2025, promulgated in 2015, built on three core objectives: boost economic growth, achieve fiscal stability, and provide support to those who need it; enhance the business and investment environment and raise its competitiveness; and hone the tools and means to develop and support priority economic sectors. The vision lays out a series of specific goals and objectives for transforming the country's model of development, with initiatives focused on key existing, emerging and high-potential clusters of industries for growth. In early 2019, Iraq promulgated its Vision 2030 with 25 goals across five national priorities.^{49,50}

Since 2017, many countries have begun to craft and adopt national AI strategies. At the end of 2023, an estimated 75 countries had a national AI strategy. Bahrain and Iraq were among eight countries that released their strategies during 2023. More than half the ESCWA member States have national AI strategies, and others are developing strategies or other national-level AI frameworks or guidance. At the release in 2024 of the OECD Principles on Artificial Intelligence, officials reported "significant policy attention and action evidenced by more than 1,000 AI initiatives in over 70 countries and jurisdictions".⁵¹ Almost half of these are public-sector-driven (244 initiatives at the national government level, 88 at the sub-national government level, and 135 by public research institutions). The national Al strategies in a number of countries around the world are tied specifically to societal challenges or priorities identified by those countries, including (in descending order of number of initiatives in these areas) inclusiveness, health, environmental sustainability, climate change, energy security, food security and aging populations, and a general category that includes transportation, economic development, sustainable development, entrepreneurship and other priorities.

Countries in the Arab region can forge a pathway that explicitly links what they prioritize in their partnering on and adaptations of AI to goals and priorities in their national vision or similar country-level policies and documents. They can consider how current goals, priorities and objectives in their national visions can be advanced by Al in ways that were never previously possible. As the technology and their adaptations of it continue to advance, they can consider what new goals, priorities and objectives might be added to their visions that can be advanced by Al to enable societal wellbeing.

Annex 1 provides examples of how Al can be used – and is already being used – to advance objectives in three sectors that are prominent in many Arab region countries' national visions: transportation, water resource management and energy. The examples in the annex are not a prescription for which national vision priorities countries should select to employ Al on, or for specific applications of Al in these sectors. They are intended only to inspire thinking in about ways in which Al can be adapted in support of whatever national vision or other priorities countries assess to be of particular value.

F. Recommendations aligned with this pathway

Four recommendations align with the pathway for Al development in the Arab region outlined in this chapter. They are not exclusive in their relevance to this pathway, as they could also be supportive of other pathways that policymakers and other leaders might pursue.



Draft, adopt, and implement an Arab Region Charter for Responsible AI as a foundation for ethics, safety and security both in local development of AI and in adaptations of partners' AI innovations and in the use of AI applications from any source

Responsible AI refers to "the design, development, deployment, and governance of AI in a way that respects and protects all human rights and upholds the principles of AI ethics through every stage of the AI lifecycle and value chain. It requires all actors in the national AI ecosystem to take responsibility for the human, social and environmental impacts of their decisions".⁵² The concept and principles of responsible AI are becoming increasingly widespread in Governments' and international organizations' ongoing development of AI regulations and policies globally. Responsible AI can guide the localization, customization and optimization of AI for outcomes aligned with Arab region countries' priorities and the mitigation of any potential harm caused by AI, taking into account local culturespecific ethics and values while enshrining universal principles.

Individual countries in the Arab region have already taken some measures to adopt national responsible AI stipulations. For

example, Egypt launched the Egyptian Charter for Responsible Al in 2023. Jordan created a National Charter on Al Ethics, published its National Al Code of Ethics, in 2022. The United Arab Emirates launched the "UAE Charter for the Development and Use of Artificial Intelligence" in 2024, which outlined ethical Al development and use principles. In 2024, the Global Index on Responsible Al included 16 countries in the Arab region out of a total of 138 countries; the index offers a practical tool for the responsible use of Al. To date, fewer than 10 per cent of 138 countries assessed score above 50 (out of 100) on the index.

Specific implementation steps for the development of an "Arab Region Charter for Responsible Al" could include: devising a dynamic assessment tool aligned with the Global Index on Responsible Al; working with regional and global think tanks to promote and assess responsible Al in the region; and promoting and incentivizing responsible Al solutions at different levels (government, business, research, education, civil society). Regional organizations (for example, the Arab League or the MENA Observatory on Responsible Al) and international organizations (for example, UNESCO or OECD) could also be valuable collaborators aiding in the development of the charter.



Devise and adopt a tool that countries in the Arab region can use to operationalize linkages between their Al strategies and their national visions/long-term development plans

Fourteen countries in the Arab region already have national Al strategies: Algeria, Bahrain, Egypt, Iraq, Jordan, Kuwait,

Lebanon, Libya, Mauritania, Morocco, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Tunisia and the United Arab Emirates. Twelve countries have national visions.⁵³ Morocco has its Digital 2030 and Lebanon has its National Health Strategy, which are comparable strategies. The pathway outlined in this chapter looks to linking these national AI strategies with countries' respective visions. The prospects for maximizing the positive outcomes of this pathway would be increased if countries had a dashboard for aligning these linkages, mapping planning activities to priority aims, and monitoring and evaluating performance leveraging a key performance indicator and objectives and key results methodology.⁵⁴

A number of countries around the world have adopted or are considering key performance indicators and objectives and key results frameworks for linking actions to important national priorities. For example, the National Agency on Corruption Prevention in Ukraine implemented objectives and key results to set and achieve anti-corruption goals in a more transparent, accountable and agile manner. This enabled the agency to adapt to changing conditions, streamline its operations, and allocate resources more efficiently. It also helped foster innovation and take stakeholder needs and experiences into account when setting objectives and measuring results. In the United States, the Nicholas Institute for Environmental Policy Solutions at Duke University recently developed methods using a key performance indicator development approach aimed at helping Governments support climate adaptation and resilience planning. The brief outlines general outcome key performance indicators for adaptation planning such as operational response and recovery effectiveness, stakeholder inclusion, measures of equity in resilience outcomes, and the state and function of relevant ecosystems and environmental conditions.

Countries in the Arab region could bring together representatives from their national policy and planning entities (ideally spanning multiple ministries), national research and planning institutes, academia, and other stakeholders to implement this recommendation. They could develop a practical dashboard tool that could capture and convey information about key performance indicators and objectives and key results related to desired linkages between Al strategies and specific goals and objectives in national visions. Ideally, the dashboard would be a common baseline tool that all countries in the region could then customize based on their distinctive needs. The specific key performance indicators and objectives and key results to be tracked in the dashboard would be decided by individual countries based on their distinctive visions and priorities.



Diversify partnerships for Al innovation to include a wide range of countries from the Global South, especially Africa, including triangular cooperation alliances that also involve international organizations, highincome countries and businesses

Al innovation is not limited to countries in the Global North or countries with advanced industrialized economies. A pathway of leveraging partnerships to adapt Al to local priorities in the Arab region will be most successful if it encompasses the collaborators that best contribute to those priorities, anywhere in the world. Countries in the Arab region will continue to build partnerships with Al leaders in the Global North. Cultural alignments will make partnerships between Arab region countries and countries throughout Africa and elsewhere in the Global South valuable in ways distinctive from Global North partnerships.⁵⁵

Countries in the Arab region should look to establish modes of triangular cooperation, where two or more Global South countries collaborate with another partner to together devise innovative and adaptable solutions to challenges and opportunities in Arab region countries' unique contexts. Another dimension could be South-South and triangular cooperation where "traditional donor countries and multilateral organizations facilitate South-South initiatives through provision of funding, training, management, technological systems, and other forms of support".⁵⁶ Forms of triangular cooperation may be more sensitive than other types of partnerships in terms of local cultures and contexts, involving local communities, and respecting and benefiting from cultural diversity.

A number of models could be considered. One is the triangular cooperation project facilitated by the Islamic Development Bank with Mauritania and Tunisia, targeting financial inclusion in Mauritania by adapting mobile-based financial services. Others include the new G20 Co-Lab on Trilateral Cooperation, the Global Partnership Initiative on Effective Triangular Cooperation, the United Nations Office for South-South Cooperation South-South Galaxy, and the OECD Knowledge Hub on Triangular Cooperation. In September 2024, the Chinese Ministry of Foreign Affairs upheld the central and coordinating role of the United Nations in promoting international cooperation to bridge the AI and digital divides. United Nations efforts were described as ideally including North-South, South-South and triangular cooperation based on principles of sovereign equality, development orientation, peoplecentred shared benefits and inclusiveness, and multi-party coordination and cooperation.



Establish a regional Al researcher exchange programme

A regional exchange program for AI researchers should be established to strengthen collaboration between technical and social science researchers across countries.⁵⁷ This initiative could provide opportunities for mobility within the Arab region, ensuring that researchers from every country can work in advanced research or industrial ecosystems in specific AI applications. This approach would allow expertise to be shared more effectively and contribute to capacity-building across different institutions. International cooperation beyond the Arab region should be a core component as well as within the region, with structured exchanges involving AI researchers at institutions in the United States, China, India, other Asian countries, and countries throughout Europe, Latin America and Africa. The programme should include both universities and private sector actors. Companies developing AI technologies should host researchers. This structure would create stronger links between research and application, supporting innovation that responds to both economic and societal needs.

The valuable outcomes of international collaboration in research are well known, and several international models provide useful insights for leaders in the Arab region to

consider. Programmes such as the Italy-United Kingdom Short-Stay initiative and the Sweden-Singapore AI Exchange demonstrate how short-term mobility can create lasting academic and professional connections. In these cases, researchers spend defined periods in partner institutions, building skills and working on joint projects. Other initiatives like the United States-Japan University-Corporate AI Partnerships have integrated industry actors into research collaborations, ensuring that academic insights contribute to technological development and inform developers' ethical considerations. Private sector-led exchanges show how workforce mobility can also strengthen the ecosystem.

Host institutions should be selected based on their expertise in specific AI applications, ensuring that participating researchers can work in environments that match their skills and research interests. The initiative would require coordination between Governments, universities and industry stakeholders to establish clear guidelines on participation, funding mechanisms and expected outcomes. Drawing from the experiences of existing exchange programmes, the focus should be on creating sustainable collaborations that continue beyond the initial exchange period, strengthening AI ecosystems across the region.



Pathway 2: Al and identity in the Arab region

A. Linking who we are and what AI can be

It is increasingly critical to consider the questions AI raises about the future of human agency and human cultures. AI can be developed and used to create economic and other values in new ways that cement its usefulness within the cultures that underlie economies. It can be employed to preserve, promote and celebrate those cultures. Public, private and other-sector actors have the opportunity to explore to unlock the power of AI at the intersection of humanity and value.

The previous chapter considered a pathway for the future of Al in the Arab region in which countries invest in customized adaptations of Al to put this transformational technology at the forefront of their solutions for national priority goals. Another, possibly complementary pathway could see investment in developing and employing Al in service to objectives rooted less in individual nations' priorities, and more in the languages, cultures and identities of the Arab region more broadly.

One dimension of this pathway is to accelerate and scale the development and use of LLMs and other types of Al models built on Arabic-centric data (Arabic language text and images, video, audio, and code rooted in and reflective of Arabic cultures). Leveraging these models offers enormous potential for boosting the levels and forms of economic and other value creation in Arab region markets, industries and other types of enterprises.

Another dimension is the opportunity that countries in the Arab region have to safeguard and nurture their cultural heritages and identities in ways never before possible via AI applications that preserve, recover, and restore those cultures for future generations.



In a 2024 survey, "one-third of all respondents were regularly using generative AI in at least one function, meaning 60 per cent of organizations with AI adoption were using generative AI".



Research showed that at "one company with **5,000 customer** service agents, the application of generative AI increased issue resolution by **14 per cent** an hour and reduced the time spent handling issues by **9 per cent**".



B. Across industries and sectors, language models and other generative AI tools are transforming how everything is done

Al, especially generative Al, is fuelling far-reaching changes in the operations of businesses and other types of enterprises and in the ways they create value. Tools like ChatGPT and Google's Gemini, routinely called LLMs, are increasingly multimodal large language models (MLLMs). These models fuse in a single tool the ability to leverage and generate not only text, but also other types of data such as images and audio. These multimodal models are creating generative outputs that are transforming how functions are performed across industries and Governments.

The impacts are already being seen in a multitude of forms, from productivity improvement, to process reengineering and automation, new kinds of data analytics, cost and other efficiencies, development of new kinds of products and services, customer service experience enhancement, decision-making enhancement, and more. LLMs and MLLMs are enabling redesigns of business and industrial processes through their ability to analyse huge datasets to identify inefficiencies, suggest potential improvements, and even generate new versions of the process. In a 2024 survey, "one-third of all respondents were regularly using generative AI in at least one function, meaning 60 per cent of organizations with AI adoption were using generative AI".⁵⁸

Generative AI is changing and expanding how value is created in organizations. Customer service functions are one area improvements are being seen, as selfservice improves due to the high quality of chatbots' natural language processing abilities. Research showed that at "one company with 5,000 customer service agents, the application of generative AI increased issue resolution by 14 per cent an hour and reduced the time spent handling issues by 9 per cent".⁵⁹ Product companies can use generative AI to personalize an individual's online shopping experience, leveraging multimodal inputs to analyse a customer's preferences and purchase history "to help customers discover the most relevant products and generate personalized product descriptions".⁶⁰

Process quality control functions are also being revolutionized, in industries including energy, chemicals, manufacturing and many others. Generative AI-enabled visual inspection offers unparalleled accuracy, speed and consistency in identifying defects in products and processes, surpassing traditional manual inspection methods. This can be particularly useful in, for example, the oil and gas industry, where some facilities are so large that it would take years to inspect everything manually. Healthcare is another area where generative AI is changing old ways of operating and creating improved, more efficient, and in some cases entirely new processes. It can read scans and point out problems as accurately or more than technicians can, it can suggest diagnoses and treatment protocols, summarize doctors' notes and prepare insurance claims, and more. The use of AI foundation models in research and development can even aid in the design of new drugs and materials.^{61,62,63}

LLMs and other generative AI tools are transforming value creation across sectors around the world, including in the Arab region. Yet the models driving these transformations are mostly in the English language. Generative AI tools built and trained on Arabic language and other data rooted in values, culture and people pertaining to the Arab region will transform enterprises even more meaningfully.


Most LLMs are English language models, because they are primarily trained on content from the Internet. Estimates of the amount of Internet content in **English** vary between 50 per cent to nearly **70 per cent**. The number of **Arabic** websites is less than **1 per cent** of the global total, and it is not in the top fifteen by language.



C. Drawbacks and risks of generative AI tools built on non-native languages

There are disadvantages users contend with when using generative AI tools trained predominantly on data in non-native languages. These include biases, diminished accuracy of results (due to poor proficiency in the user's native language), misinterpretations of idiomatic and other linguistic differences and other cultural contexts, and inappropriate or offensive responses for a cultural setting.

Currently, most LLMs are English language models, because they are primarily trained on content from the Internet. Estimates of the amount of Internet content in English vary between 50 per cent to nearly 70 per cent. The number of Arabic websites is less than 1 per cent of the global total, and it is not in the top fifteen by language. English is the highest resourced language by multiple orders of magnitude, meaning it has the largest volume of digitized text, recorded speech, and other annotated resources, which are all being used to train LLMs. These tools' outputs therefore conform to the culture of the training data.⁶⁴

This is also true in multilingual AI models. Because they are disproportionately trained on English language text, they transfer values and assumptions encoded in English into other language contexts. These multilingual models "use English internally, even when they are prompted in another language ... and then translate to the target language at the very last moment". The resulting risk is "superimposing a limited world view onto other linguistically and culturally distinct regions".⁶⁵

Al models' biases toward the cultures of their training data languages have material consequences for users with different native languages and cultural contexts. This can create discriminatory outcomes depending on users' race, gender or ethnicity, limiting their access to opportunities and perpetuating economic inequality. As Al is rapidly becoming more widely employed in schools, educational outcome inequalities may already be emerging. Such outcomes also pose legal, reputational and other risks to organizations employing biased models. There are more urgent, even life-threatening, impacts in the healthcare context, for example. In one study, unequal representation of members of different demographic groups in the datasets used to train Al algorithms caused "computer-aided diagnosis systems to return lower-accuracy results for African-American patients" in the United States.⁶⁶ Importantly, such biases in Al tools are not rooted in the language of the training data but rather in attributes of the culture of the model developers.

Consequences of non-native language AI model biases are visible in other ways. In 2024, Chinese researchers looked at the ability of AI models to generate results reflective of traditional Chinese medicine, which is rooted in millennia of Chinese wisdom and differs fundamentally from western medicine. Four LLMs developed by Chinese companies performed more than twice as well as four from western developers on sets of questions from the National Medical Licensing Examination for traditional Chinese medicine, and on the Japanese medical licensing exam. This is probably due to western LLMs being primarily trained on English datasets, lacking deep familiarity with Chinese culture, language nuances and traditional Chinese medicine concepts.⁶⁷

For organizations in every sector in the Arab region, generative AI tools built on Arabic text and other data will be key to ensuring the value creatable with AI is not diminished by the negative impacts of biases inherent in models that have been trained in other languages and cultures.



In August 2024, **G42** released twenty Jais follow-on models, the largest release of production-ready models in the Arab region. Further progress is being fuelled by a **\$1.5 billion** investment in G42 by Microsoft.



Trained on a dataset of **400 billion words** of high-quality **Arabic** text, Fanar stands ahead of other Arabic models, with a range of different dialects.



D. Arabic language generative Al tools are emerging and already having an impact

The challenges of developing Arabic language AI models are considerable. All such efforts face challenges that are specific to the language, as well as the shortage of Arabic digital data. As described by Ashraf Elnager at the University of Sharjah, "the complexity of Arabic makes it extremely challenging compared to other languages, simply due to its many dialects, variants, and rich morphology".⁶⁸ Yet progress on Arabic LLMs and other generative AI tools is accelerating in the region and elsewhere. This is driven by recognition of the economic growth it can fuel; recognition of the prospects it offers for positioning in the global tech economy; and recognition of the inherent value of reflecting native language and culture in how AI is utilized in enterprises and people's everyday lives in the Arab region.

A family of models called Jais became available in August 2023 from collaborative development between Abu Dhabi Al company G42, Mohammed bin Zayed University of Artificial Intelligence, and United States-based Cerebras Systems. Jais has been recognized as more accurate than other Arabic LLMs with respect to reflecting linguistic nuances in the models' outputs. In August 2024, G42 released twenty Jais follow-on models, the largest release of production-ready models in the Arab region. Further progress is being fuelled by a \$1.5 billion investment in G42 by Microsoft.⁶⁹

The Qatar Computing Research Institute at Hamad Bin Khalifa University has developed a series of LLMs named Fanar. Trained on a dataset of 400 billion words of high-quality Arabic text, Fanar stands ahead of other Arabic models, with a range of different dialects. For example, it recognizes differences in pronunciation and morphology between Syrian, Algerian and Egyptian speakers. The training also included an extensive dataset focused on Qatari heritage, culture and traditions. This reflects the project's aim of empowering the people of Qatar with advanced tools that preserve Qatari cultural identity.⁷⁰

In Saudi Arabia, the NEOM AI company Tonomus is working with Chinese tech giant Huawei on the AraMUS LLM, while the Saudi Data and Artificial Intelligence Authority is collaborating with IBM to develop ALLaM. Other Arabic language generative AI tools include Rayan, developed by the Saudi Ministry of Human Resources and Social Development; Mulhem, the first LLM trained exclusively on Saudi datasets; Noon; and SauTech, a speech-to-text-conversion software model able to recognize and process a range of dialects.⁷¹

While LLMs get much of the attention, small language models (SLMs) may hold even greater promise for developing generative AI applications capable in diverse Arabic dialects. SLMs process and generate human language with fewer parameters than LLMs. Their smaller size makes them customizable to perform well on niche applications. This makes them usable by developers with modest tech-stack resources, creating the prospect of accelerating growth of native language generative AI models and applications in middle income and less-developed countries. SLMs can also accelerate development of niche AI tools trained on different dialects, opening up the benefits of generative AI to the millions of speakers of those dialects.

United Arab Emirates tech company Tarjama& recently released a family of SLMs called Pronoia for translating Arabic business, legal and medical content.

In September 2024, researchers at MBZUAI released the Atlas-Chat-2B and Atlas-Chat-9B SLMs, trained on Moroccan Arabic Darija dialect and other Arabic dialects. The Atlas-Chat project has three objectives: "to make AI more accessible for Darija speakers by providing models with a higher level of understanding for the dialect; making [these models] freely accessible via open-source licenses; and releasing small-size models that can be used in resourceconstrained environments".⁷² This kind of strategy can empower small- and medium-sized enterprise businesses and freelance developers to work with and build on Al tools, along with stimulating other Governments and research institutions to increase their development of SLMs and LLMs for all Arabic dialects.

E. The differences that Arabic language generative AI tools will make are substantial

Al models generally perform better when trained and used in a user's native language, with superior understanding of nuances and cultural context generating more accurate and relevant responses, though their performance is dependent on the quality and quantity of training data and other factors. Countries in the Arab region will see multidimensional societal benefits if they concentrate generative Al efforts on models and applications built on Arabic language text data and reflective of Arab region culture and values.⁷³

1. Arab region consumers will see significant improvements in their experiences as customers in a range of ways, and businesses will gain access to new local and global customers

The accuracy of the linguistic understanding of Arabic generative AI tools, the naturalness of the content and responses they will generate, and their sensitivity to cultural nuances will produce deeper connection between businesses in the Arab region and their customers and other stakeholders.

Tools with high capabilities in Arabic language understanding, reading comprehension and common-sense reasoning will generate marketing content more easily understandable to Arabic-speaking customers of all dialects, and with a higher (and ever-increasing) degree of resonance with and respect for cultural norms and values. They will also offer improved understanding of customers' needs and views gathered from sentiment analysis on data they generate in reviews they post online, and their social media posts and videos. Companies like Amazon, Bank of America, Ford Motors, T-Mobile, and others use generative AI in these ways. The same ability to do so with Arabic dialect-trained models will transform businesses and consumers in the Arab region.⁷⁴

Development of sophisticated Arabic-speaking chatbots will enable businesses to handle customers' inquiries with highly accurate natural language understanding in Arabic dialects. This will enable high-satisfaction customer service automations and create access to previously unreachable customer pools where these dialects are spoken. These phenomena are already being seen in India, a country with considerably more languages and dialects than the Arab region. Indian tech company Sarvam Al recently introduced tools that Indian businesses can use for voice rather than text interactions with customers in ten different local native languages and mixed-language conversations voice bots with the potential to reach a billion people.⁷⁵ Similar tools to engage speakers of Arabic dialects will expand businesses' markets and customers' options, in the region and for Arabic speakers anywhere in the world.

The future impact of native language generative AI tools on customer experience has importance well beyond the retail and consumer domains. Essential government services are

The future impact of **native language** generative AI tools on customer experience has importance well beyond the retail and consumer domains. Essential **government** services are increasingly being provided to citizens around the world through **digital** means. AI innovations will dramatically enhance these transactions by enabling people to engage in their native language and make services available to individuals previously without access.



increasingly being provided to citizens around the world through digital means. Al innovations will dramatically enhance these transactions by enabling people to engage in their native language and make services available to individuals previously without access. The United Nations offers an example of how native language trained models for social listening can have great effect on enhancing government services. Since 2019, generative Al tools have been used to analyse radio broadcasts to gain insight into how to better serve citizens in remote areas where local dialects are spoken, using tools designed to do automated speech recognition in the Ugandan, Acholi and Luganda languages. In the United Arab Emirates, a ChatGPT-powered bot called U-Ask enables citizens to engage in both Arabic and English for government services. Sehha is one of several Al-assisted apps developed by the Government of Saudi Arabia for providing and coordinating healthcare services to citizens. Schools, hospitals and philanthropic institutions will also be able to engage with the communities they serve in new ways.⁷⁶

2. Development of Arabic language generative AI models and tools will help fuel job creation and business creation throughout the region

Al in the Arab region is already creating new jobs and stimulating the proliferation of startups and other new businesses. A specific focus on developing Arabic language models and tools will further fuel this in unique ways.

Some future Al jobs will be technical ones where the language the models are trained on may make little difference. Other technical jobs will be specific to developing Arabic language models or will call for individuals who are fluent in the language and culture. An example of the latter type of role is computational linguists, specializing in analysing linguistic data to identify patterns and trends, to develop the algorithms that power Arabic language customer service chatbots and speech recognition software. Another is human-centred machine learning designers and engineers, for whom understanding of the distinct needs of Arabic-speaking users will be essential.⁷⁷

Beyond the technical job roles, there are many other types of roles important to both the development and the practical use of Arabic language generative AI models and tools. Many of these will require native speakers of the language the models are built in. This will create job opportunities as the development and use of Arabic language generative AI scales.

One additional new type of job is in the creation of Arabic language-centric datasets to train and power these AI models and tools. There are jobs related to increasing currently limited Arabic digital data resources and uploading them to online repositories or making them available in other ways for model training. This will entail digitizing printed Arabic text, creating culturally significant digital images, making audio recordings of people speaking in Arabic dialects or uploading audio from Arabic films and television and storytellers. Such jobs could be filled by people in rural areas and other regions where annual incomes are low and economic opportunities are few. Karya, a nonprofit launched in 2021, is doing this and improving the lives of men and women in poor remote villages in India.⁷⁸

There will also be a further boom in job creation and other forms of economic growth in the region's tech sector startups from the development of Arabic language generative Al tools. There were more than 1,800 Al startups in the region as of April



There were more than **1,800 Al** startups in the region as of April 2024, enabled by funding rounds generating a cumulative total of nearly **\$13 billion**.





Arabic language generative Al models and tools will provide a number of substantial enhancements in the **education** systems of countries in the Arab region.



2024, enabled by funding rounds generating a cumulative total of nearly \$13 billion. The Saudi Arabia National Strategy for Data and AI is providing public investment and stimulating private investment to fuel AI startups and other AI-related company and infrastructure growth. In December 2024, Abu Dhabi-based companies, investors, government entities and technologists together launched Hub71+AI, a specialist platform designed to accelerate AI startups, with access to locally developed bilingual LLMs and global partners including Amazon, Google and Nvidia. Many of the AI startups that will proliferate in the Arab region will focus on developing Arabic language models and apps that can only be built on native language models.⁷⁹

3. Education for students and learners at every level will be improved and enriched by employing Arabic language generative Al tools

Arabic language generative AI models and tools will provide a number of substantial enhancements in the education systems of countries in the Arab region. They will enable high-quality educational content to become more accessible to and engaging for students from different linguistic dialect backgrounds. They will also enable more personalized learning for student speakers of these dialects in core subjects like maths, science and history.

All of the GCC countries have initiatives in place for integrating Al into their educational systems. Algeria, Egypt, Jordan, Kuwait, Mauritania and Tunisia all include education as a priority sector in their national Al strategies and digital economy plans. Al is a key element of the ICT in Education Policy and Masterplan under development in Somalia with support from UNESCO. Iraq announced in May 2024 its decision to begin using Al in the school curricula. In Morocco, officials are "actively incorporating generative Al into our educational framework … while ensuring [its] use aligns with our values".⁸⁰

India offers an example of the benefits of employing of models trained on Hindi, Tamil, and other native languages and dialects on the education system. Chief among them is personalized and adaptive learning experiences for student speakers of these dialects, as content and feedback is tailored to their individual needs, preferences and progress. There are also learning efficiency benefits – having content in their native dialect and the ability of the multilingual models to translate quickly and easily from one dialect to another will "help students learn better and faster and avoid the cognitive load of learning in a foreign language".⁸¹

Multilingual generative AI can also enhance students' multicultural awareness, familiarizing them with the languages and traditions of their fellow students of different backgrounds. For example, "a multilingual LLM can generate stories, poems, songs, or jokes in different languages, and explain the meaning, context, and nuances of the words and expressions used ... along with insights on the history, geography, literature, and art of different regions and communities".⁸²



With **English** as the dominant language on the Internet, more than **1.5 billion** of the world's **eight billion** people cannot use their language to navigate the digital world. Arabic language LLMs and other generative Al tools are essential for enabling millions of people to navigate it who cannot today.



4. Generative AI tools capable in Arabic dialects will play an important role in advancing digital equity and open the AI-enabled future to millions in the region

In May 2024, United Nations Deputy Secretary General Amina Mohammed outlined several imperatives for the global community with respect to AI. Among them was to "not simply take AI models and data sets [as they are currently being developed] – we need inclusivity in the data that underpins these models, and diversity among the people building them".⁸³ With English as the dominant language on the Internet, more than 1.5 billion of the world's eight billion people cannot use their language to navigate the digital world. Arabic language LLMs and other generative AI tools are essential for enabling millions of people to navigate it who cannot today. In addition to equity, these tools are an important element of AI capacity-building in the Arab region.

The equity impacts of AI models and tools accessible to speakers of native language dialects will span from education to healthcare, financial inclusion, and other areas. In Rwanda, text- and voice-based AI translation models with capacity in multiple languages and dialects enable thousands of community health workers to diagnose conditions in individuals with whom they do not share a common language. They can also refer those in need of urgent care. A similar impact is being seen in Senegal through the locally developed Kera Health app which provides people in rural areas important health information and engagement with doctors through an AI assistant that can converse in five different languages.⁸⁴

The financial inclusion impacts of Arabic language models in the region's fintech sector will be significant as well. Between 50–70 per cent of the population in the Arab region is unbanked or financially underserved, making it the region with "the lowest proportion of adults with a financial account in the world".⁸⁵ Integration of Al into local mobile digital banking apps could change this meaningfully in the future, making access to financial services equitable. Linguistically diverse Arab region citizens will have easy to use Al-driven tools to assess their creditworthiness using alternative data sources. This will open up microloans to people without formal credit histories to start small businesses or make other investments in their future.

F. An important and rapidly emerging role for AI in the preservation of Arab region cultural heritage

Countries in the Arab region can use AI to safeguard and nurture their individual and shared cultural heritages and identities in ways never before possible. The possibilities of what AI can do in this context can help ensure that centuries of tradition endure for future generations.

These possibilities range from reconstructing damaged works of art and historically significant cultural sites, to translating ancient texts for analysis, to powering immersive virtual environments that recreate long-lost historical sites and figures. Al can deepen understanding of connections between artists, artifacts and the socioeconomic and other historical contexts in which they worked and were created. It can help validate the integrity of collections of cultural artifacts against forgeries or illegal trade. Al can even help preserve intangible cultural heritage: "the traditions and living expressions that are transmitted from one generation to the next – community



gatherings, oral traditions, songs, knowledge of natural spaces, healing traditions, foods, holidays, beliefs, cultural practices, skills of making handicrafts, methods of agriculture and cattle breeding, traditional navigation skills, cooking skills, etc".⁸⁶ The Arab region is immensely rich in expressions of culture and identity. Al offers unprecedented new means of securing them for the enrichment of millions of people.⁸⁷

Al for cultural heritage preservation could become a focus for leaders in every sector. There is a natural interest in every culture to invest in heritage preservation, and models are emerging around the world for mechanisms to leverage the potential of Al for these objectives. The European Commission in February 2022 pointed out how AI can serve the "Treaty obligation of the [European Union] to preserve and promote its cultural diversity and history". They have since embarked on creating Europeana, a "common European data space for cultural heritage" with the aim of building "collaborations and partnerships [between] museums, galleries, libraries, and archives [and a] network of data partners, aggregators, and experts in digital cultural heritage".⁸⁸ Officials in Malaysia are working at the intersection of the country's National Culture Policy, National Digital Infrastructure Plan and Ministry of Education to integrate AI into efforts to protect and preserve traditional practices and other aspects of Malaysian culture.

G. Al use in cultural preservation around the world could inspire initiatives in the Arab region

Al is already supporting cultural heritage preservation globally. One example is the work of researchers at University of Rome La Sapienza to analyse the exterior of the Colosseum. They are using Al algorithms to "identify erosion patterns and subtle structural shifts, enabling restoration experts to implement targeted interventions that are effective and respectful of the Colosseum's historical integrity".⁸⁹ Another example is the restoration of the Notre Dame Cathedral, where Al enabled architects, engineers and restoration experts to analyse multiple digital databases and archives containing images of the cathedral and other information. This allowed for recreating the physical structure and interior artworks to match the original colours, textures and other details used 850 years ago.

1. Al in the preservation and restoration of historic sites, artifacts and artworks

Countries in the Arab region can look to numerous examples of AI research and development for site and artifact preservation. An international consortium of partner institutions has been working since 2021 on a project named RePAIR. The aim is to "virtually eliminate one of the most laborious and frustrating steps in archaeological research, namely the physical reconstruction of shattered works of art". The integration of robotics with computer vision and other elements of AI "envisages a future where archaeology can deal effectively with reconstruction problems at an unprecedented scale".⁹⁰

Another example is Arch-I-Scan, in development at the University of Leicester, identifying and archiving artifact fragments by using custom designed algorithms similar to those of facial recognition software. The tool is compiling a dataset projected to grow to hundreds of thousands of digital images of Roman tableware and other ceramic fragments. The results are being made available open source to researchers around the world to inform "archaeology in response to socially oriented questions" about the people who used the vessels and their culture.⁹¹

2. Al in the preservation and restoration of important historical texts

Al can also reconstruct missing or damaged sections of texts. LLMs trained on the language of a book or text can analyse datasets of similar texts in order to learn the linguistic patterns and style of the original document. Using the resultant knowledge, it can then predict what words or phrases would most likely fill the gaps in the damaged text. Text reconstruction with Al need not be limited to printed material. Researchers at 0xford University and Google DeepMind have been working since 2018 to restore inscriptions made by the ancient Greeks in stone, pottery, metal and other surfaces damaged over centuries. Handwritten texts are also becoming easier to analyse and reconstruct with Al.^{92,93}

Given the complexities and nuances of the Arabic language, reflective of the numerous place-specific, ethnic and other subcultures within the Arab region, the capabilities AI offers for enhancing understanding and preservation of heritage in the form of text are especially significant. There is pioneering work already being done in this area by Arab region researchers and the prospects for results from such innovations are promising. One example the work of Tunisian librarian Said al-Barouni to preserve a cache of ancient texts of the Ibadi branch of Islam "because old Arabic cursive is challenging to modern readers".⁹⁴ Others include Ashaar, a project for analysis and generation of Arabic poetry employing AI deep learning, and AraPoemBERT, an AI model custom designed at Taibah University in Saudi Arabia for analysis and understanding of Arabic poetry texts.⁹⁵

3. Al in the preservation of the Arabic language itself

There are approximately 400 million Arabic language speakers around the world. The growth of generative AI language models could endanger non-English languages, even major ones not currently considered endangered. Between 50–90 per cent of the 7,000 languages in the world will be extinct by the end of the century, in part due



There are approximately **400 million** Arabic language speakers around the world. The growth of generative Al language models could endanger non-English languages, even major ones not currently considered endangered. Between **50–90 per cent** of the **7,000 languages** in the world will be extinct by the end of the century, in part due to the Internet and digitalization focusing attention on the usage of a few major languages.



to the Internet and digitalization focusing attention on the usage of a few major languages. At the same time, the value of AI for preservation of all languages, including Arabic, is high and will grow in the future.⁹⁶

In late 2022, Google launched the 1,000 Languages Initiative, aiming to build a single AI model capable of performing a breadth of tasks including language generation, translation and others in 1,000 languages. It is "combining technical innovation with community engagement, with Google researchers collaborating with speaker communities to collect language data, then developing new methods for training AI systems on the datasets including audio recordings, text, and others".⁹⁷ The Stanford University Initiative on Language Inclusion and Conservation in Old and New Media was initiated in 2024 with the aim of encoding "endangered languages into standard formats, facilitating their preservation and integration into AI applications".⁹⁸

Efforts to develop Arabic language LLMs like ALLaM, Jais and Fanar will help preserve the Arabic language for future generations. Efforts to factor Arabic dialect diversity into such LLMs and other Al tools will have a range of cultural heritage preservation impacts. For example, as voice-activated chatbots become one of the dominant forms of generative Al, it will help safeguard against so-called accent neutralization. Speakers of every Arabic dialect will be understood in their natural speaking patterns when engaging with voice-activated Al tools, in a way that today's English-dominated models do not allow. This is important because "accents are a part of cultural identities that need to be nurtured and cherished – an honest signal of nativegroup membership".⁹⁹

4. Al in the preservation of other aspects of culture in the Arab region

Al is also helping to archive music, rituals, traditions related to food, skills and traditions related to making handicrafts, and other aspects of culture in societies around the world. The Arab region can look to them as models and inspiration for how to use Al to safeguard their own traditions.

For example, researchers in China are collaborating on an effort to develop an Al-based framework for preserving Manchu music. The Al models being used are even generating new Manchu music segments that accurately adhere to the traditional styles. In another initiative in Vietnam, researchers are using Al to preserve traditional musical instruments.¹⁰⁰

Al can play a role in the preservation of cuisines as well, for example "analyzing culinary data to unearth unique flavour pairings and suggest ingredient substitutions that respect the roots of traditional dishes while accommodating contemporary dietary preferences".¹⁰¹ Here, Al might suggest ingredients with a reduced environmental footprint, such as plant-based substitutes for animal products.

Oral traditions and craftmaking traditions are other important forms of cultural heritage. In early 2024, researchers at the University of Munich developed "a novel virtual space that combines first-person virtual reality with generative Al-driven narrative personalization" to bring a centuries-old storytelling ritual from Afro-Caribbean culture into the modern age. In Hong Kong, researchers are using generative Al to preserve

Al is also helping to **archive music**, **rituals**, **traditions** related to **food**, **skills** and traditions related to making handicrafts, and other aspects of culture in societies around the world. The Arab region can look to them as models and inspiration for how to use Al to safeguard their own traditions.



a method of painting a distinctive type of porcelain vessel that is a distinct folk art of the Lingnan region of China. The project includes "a novel user-friendly interface [through which] today's young generations and future generations can create new vessels that "closely adhere to the traditional style, [extending] the history and culture".^{102,103}

5. Al makes previously unrealizable cultural heritage preservation efforts possible

Throughout the world, countless culturally significant artifacts and sites remain inaccessible, and others lie undiscovered, due to topographic and other challenges. Efforts to excavate known ones and search for unknown ones are costly and difficult, but Al if offering new possibilities.

For example, tech company WSense is leveraging acoustic modems and sensors powered by AI to enable advances in underwater archaeology in Baiae, an ancient Roman city submerged off the northwest shore of the Gulf of Naples. With AI, the system can adapt to changing sea conditions in real time without interruption of data transmission, making it possible for researchers to remotely explore the site in new ways. It is anticipated that access to the site could become a tourism opportunity through interactive smart tablets. In the Netherlands, dense forests in the Utrechtse Heuvelrug and the Veluwe have historically made it difficult to find culturally significant ruins, including burial mounds that researchers knew were present. Since 2019, researchers have been employing AI in concert with light detection and ranging technology and making breakthroughs that "will inform about [local] past societies and be added to the national database of known archaeological features and protected for posterity".¹⁰⁴

H. The benefits of investing in AI for cultural heritage preservation are significant

From the standpoint of economic growth, a rise in the number of significant artworks, sites and other aspects of Arab region cultures made accessible through Al will positively impact tourism, job creation in the restoration and preservation, and more. The consequent growth and spread of awareness of Arab region cultures will have its own intangible benefits. It could contribute to second-order economic benefits such as increased trade, as this cultural understanding strengthens relationships of trust, or as countries in the Arab region becomes more attractive to emigres as places to live and start businesses.

1. Prospects for economic growth benefits from Alenabled cultural preservation

In 2025, the culture sector comprises 6 per cent of the global economy, with estimated annual revenues of more than \$4 trillion annually. The tourism industry is an important source and driver of wealth creation in the Arab region, estimated at \$275 billion in 2024 with projected growth to more than \$450 billion by 2034. Even without AI, evidence of economic growth from heritage preservation initiatives is strong. The cultural sector revenue in Saudi Arabia is projected at nearly \$48 billion



In 2025, the culture sector comprises **6 per cent** of the global **economy**, with estimated annual revenues of more than **\$4 trillion** annually. The **tourism** industry is an important source and driver of wealth creation in the Arab region, estimated at **\$275 billion in 2024** with projected growth to more than **\$450 billion by 2034**.



per year by 2030, reflecting major government and private sector investments in the revitalization of landmarks such as Diriyah. Egypt has boosted archaeological site restoration and expansion investment to stimulate cultural tourism, with tourism industry growth projections at more than 7 per cent annually over the next 5 years. As AI enables further cultural preservation efforts, the figures for 2025 and beyond could grow to even greater levels. Increased cultural tourism is one of the greatest prospects for economic growth in the Arab region due to the ability of AI to accelerate and scale cultural heritage restoration and preservation efforts.¹⁰⁵

A prominent Al-enabled cultural initiative already well under development in the region is the Journey Through Time master plan, a \$15 billion ongoing investment of the Saudi Arabian Government for preservation and related tourism and sustainable development in the Alula Valley. Al is being used to power immersive augmented reality (AR) tours, allowing visitors to virtually reconstruct historical sites, access real-time information about locations, and engage with the ancient past through interactive elements. With AR, visitors can walk through sites that are partially ruined or no longer exist.¹⁰⁶ Universities and other academic institutions are also becoming engaged. One example is the Digital Sirah Project, underway since 2018, which aims to create "the world's most comprehensive digital portal on the life of the Prophet Muhammad, making it accessible and engaging to the public, particularly youth, through Al elements".¹⁰⁷

Al also offers the prospect of greater engagement with Arab region cultures by people and institutions around the world as it is further integrated with VR and AR technologies to create immersive Metaverse tourism. This will have direct economic benefits for countries in the Arab region as companies and Governments develop and market these virtual cultural experiences. The integration of Al with VR creates the possibility of giving people anywhere in the world the ability to see landmarks in the Arab region and also "experience cultural practices and traditions, and even engage with digital twins of ancient people who may have established those traditions generations ago".¹⁰⁸ Examples include a VR environment for the celebration of Saudi National Day in 2022, created to make the history and culture of Saudi Arabia accessible to the rest of the world, and an Al-powered Metaverse experience of the Temple of Eshmun in Lebanon.

Preservation and restoration work is labour intensive and requires people to fill a wide range of roles. Every new project will increase jobs. To illustrate, the large-scale effort to restore buildings, streets and other elements of the ancient Walled City of Lahore in Pakistan created jobs for 1,500 skilled craftspeople and manual labourers, and "demand for conservation skills has increased in the region ever since".¹⁰⁹ As AI enables new cultural restoration and related projects, more jobs will be created for preservation professionals, architects, engineers and others. Jobs for AI technicians will also be created to complement and enable physical site preservation efforts.

2. The role of Al in fostering cross-cultural mutual understanding

Cultural heritage preservation is promotes awareness, understanding and appreciation of ideas and traditions. Al offers powerful new capabilities to archive cultural heritage and make accessible, with considerable benefits to society. Innovations in Al foster inclusiveness and empathy within and between



To illustrate, the large-scale effort to restore buildings, streets and other elements of the ancient Walled City of Lahore in Pakistan created jobs for **1,500 skilled craftspeople** and manual labourers, and "demand for **conservation skills** has increased in the region ever since".





communities, and in some cases promote conflict resolution across a diversity of different sects, ethnicities, religions or local identities.

The United Nations Department of Political and Peacebuilding Affairs, partnering with United States-based AI company Remesh, is using machine learning and other Al tools to facilitate and process information from large-scale social listening dialogues among citizens in conflict situations. "By identifying and combining actors' identities and their respective voices, the AI offers a fine-grained picture regarding topics, themes, and narratives important to different identity groups. By applying filters to the responses, the moderator sees in real time, for instance, how many women, or members of an ethnic minority group, express a certain view."¹¹⁰ The tool is able to process audio data collected in the local dialects of people engaged in the dialogue. The United Nations Department of Political and Peacebuilding Affairs has already employed it in dialogues in Haiti and Bolivia, and in Arab region countries including Libya, Iraq, Yemen and Lebanon. Other United Nations-led or supported initiatives are employing AI in other ways to engage with groups involved in conflict to foster mutual understanding within and between these groups. One example is in the peace process in Columbia, and another is in Uganda.¹¹¹

Mutual understanding through familiarity with cultural heritage strengthens relationships between countries.

Growing global awareness and appreciation of Arab region cultures through AI-enabled cultural exchange will foster empathy, helping position peoples and countries on the global stage in contexts ranging from popular media and entertainment to international finance institutions and standard-setting bodies. It will also help safeguard against a drawback of globalization - cultural homogenization potentially eroding the vibrance of other cultures. In light of that risk, efforts to preserve and promote Arab region cultures take on a greater importance and Al offers powerful means of doing so. Investment in Al applications will contribute to accelerating and scaling global partners' understanding of the region and its people, with diplomatic, economic and other benefits. It can also stimulate new business partnerships, interest from entrepreneurs and others in starting businesses in the Arab region, and other kinds of international engagement opportunities.¹¹²

Al can also contribute in unique new ways to building positive shared multicultural identities within and between countries in the Arab region. In many of these countries, people of different sects, ethnicities, religions or local identities are living together. Individuals who have immigrated from one country to another strive to feel connected to both their culture of origin and culture of residence. Novel applications of Al can build bridges between individuals and communities that share cultural elements while also celebrating unique elements of their identities.

I. Recommendations aligned with this pathway

Four recommendations align with this pathway. They are not exclusive in their relevance to this pathway, as they could also be supportive of other pathways outlined in this report or with other pathways that policymakers and other leaders might pursue.



Establish a regional fund and leverage it to design and implement a region-wide collaborative project and platform Arab Region Cultural Heritage: Past, Present, and Future – Enabled with Al

The Arab region is diverse and possesses a wealth of cultural heritage ranging over thousands of years. There are numerous initiatives in individual countries for preserving, restoring and disseminating this heritage, including a number leveraging Al. A collaborative and mutually supporting project spanning countries across the region would enable aspects of culture shared across countries to be recognized, celebrated and preserved in ways beyond what is achievable in individual projects. Al offers tools to achieve using a unified methodology in one smart, dynamic, interactive digital platform or an integrated set of platforms.

The project should incorporate a well-planned and structured collection of content spanning the different components of Arab region cultural heritage including historical artifacts, art, architectural sites, texts, poetry, literature, science, music, cinema, food, textiles and languages. The project could be conducted in phases and would be contingent on collaboration between the different countries in the Arab region. It could be led by a steering committee with representatives from high-income, middle-income, less developed and conflict-affected countries. Collaborators and supporters could include multilateral partners and museums, libraries and universities throughout the region. A joint fund could be established to design and implement the project with contributions commensurate with available resources from different countries and partners.

The project will unveil the wealth, depth and complexity of Arab region cultural heritage and civilizations of the region. It will promote peace and communication with other cultures and communities of the world and also highlight links to other civilizations. It will celebrate the nuances and the complexities of the region's languages, histories and peoples. It can serve as the go-to online platform for Arab region cultural heritage. It would also provide new work opportunities, on site and remotely, for every participating country.



Scale the Arabic language digital content for AI models and applications by promoting production and curation of multimedia outputs, connecting and opening digital knowledge platforms and archives, and supporting production of localized datasets

Data and texts in the Arabic language publicly available online are very limited compared to their English counterparts. The result is "insufficient training data to develop accurate and reliable AI systems – fewer annotated datasets available for Arabic natural language processing hinders the development of advanced models and AI".¹¹³ The limited Arabic content does not only hamper the development of indigenous AI models, it also reduces the adaptability of AI models to local solutions. Countries in the Arab region, individually and in a variety of collaborative efforts, should launch a series of coordinated initiatives to expand the reservoirs of local datasets to support the development of localized AI models. Two lines of effort could be pursued in parallel.

One is the curation and digitization of existing content, making it available for AI model training and other uses in Arab region digital economies. A number of specific projects could comprise this content curation effort. Countries could work together to establish an Arab region open knowledge platform with links to various existing online sources of Arabic language digital content and archives (e.g., Arabic Collections Online, the Digital Library of the Middle East, the Arabic Union Catalog and the Digital Archive for the Study of Pre-Islamic Arabian Inscriptions). Platform designers could collaborate with global entities and initiatives on open data and also liaise with regional knowledge hubs. Feeding this platform could be a multi-country project to digitize public domain Arabic language content archives, as well as sources like Arabic movies, television shows, radio broadcasts etc., capturing distinct dialects, morphologies and accents with generative AI tools that compute videos and images as well as text.

A second line of effort should focus on the production and collection of new Arabic language data. This effort could be fuelled with seed funding from countries' ministries of communication or other sources for the collection of disaggregated data at the grassroots level using tools such as sensors, crowdsourced data, and audio recordings of storytellers in cities and villages. Other projects could include fellowships and competitions for Arabic language content creators (bloggers, musicians, videographers); partnering with schools on joint programmes in Arabic language digital content creation by primary and high school students; and working with civil society to raise awareness and enhance digital literacy and expression, especially for women and marginalized communities.



Coordinate public and private sector efforts to develop generative AI tools built on Arabic language-centric content within an ecosystem of small and large language models and action models reflective of diverse dialects and other contexts

The pathway outlined in this chapter provides evidence of the benefits of integrating Arab region cultures into AI models. These models must account for the diversity of dialects and other manifestations of culture in the Arab region. Given that the region's computing capacity and other relevant infrastructure is also diverse, a particular focus should be on small language models and small action models (SAMs), which combine language computing with logic and reasoning to execute specific tasks. This would benefit not only middle-income and less developed countries, but also those with greater resources given how smaller models are easy to deploy locally and are tailorable to leverage local datasets and local cultural and linguistic contexts. Smaller models offer effective AI solutions to communities, furthering inclusion and fostering preservation of unique cultures and languages.¹¹⁴

Key stakeholders in the Arab region should undertake a coordinated set of actions to promote the development of a thriving ecosystem of such models. This can be done through a series of practical steps. One would be to build and support innovation hubs, bringing together academia and startups to promote a thriving ecosystem and emphasize scaling SLMs/SAMs. Others could be to provide targeted support to academia through research grants and research competitions; incentives for startups to build SLMs/SAMs, such as subsidies, tax exemptions or financing technical support; linking model development efforts to Arabic language data curation and collection initiatives; collaborating with Arab region technologists and entrepreneurs in diaspora; and funding from multilateral or development.



Establish a rigorous testing and evaluation programme to validate Arabic language LLMs for preferred use in the provision of government services in the Arab region

Governments in the Arab region should prioritize the adoption of LLMs specifically designed for local languages in the provision of their services to citizens, other residents and visitors to their countries, ensuring they meet highperformance standards before deployment. Only models that demonstrate improved representation of diverse demographic groups and that align with sustainability goals should be



integrated into public services. Developing Arabic language LLMs is already a growing priority in the region. Such models, with improved Arabic language capabilities in Al applications, should be recognized and embraced by Governments for their potential to provide more accurate, context-aware and culturally relevant interactions for users engaging with government services. Governments must carefully assess their feasibility, sustainability and performance before largescale adoption in the services related to healthcare, education, public safety and other essential needs.¹¹⁵

To ensure these models are suitable for government services, rigorous evaluations should be conducted, comparing them with general-purpose LLMs. This assessment should focus on accuracy, cost-effectiveness and the ability to reduce biases, particularly in underrepresented dialects and demographic groups. Research has shown that LLMs trained on specific linguistic and cultural datasets can outperform general models in local language comprehension and contextual adaptation, but Governments must have evidence of such results. One of the main challenges for locally trained LLMs is the vast amount of data and computational resources required, which often centralizes Al development in a few well-funded institutions. A promising way forward is federated learning, which enables multiple entities - universities, government agencies, private sector actors - to collaboratively train and fine-tune LLMs. Methods like FedBiOT, which optimize computational efficiency in federated learning settings, can help Governments develop high-performing native language LLMs. Evaluation and confirmation of superior or comparable performance relative to general purpose models could be built into these federated development efforts. The same performance evaluations for accuracy, cost-effectiveness and ability to reduce biases prior to use in providing government services should be applied to native language models that Governments from external developers as would be applied to government-developed models.



Pathway 3: Al and the SDGs in the Arab region



With only 5 years until 2030, evidence shows countries around the world are behind, and in some cases are even losing ground, on **80 per cent of the 169 targets** that comprise the SDGs.



A. Juxtaposing trends of great importance

Considerable work is being done globally on applying AI to the SDGs and substantial progress is being seen. With only 5 years until 2030, evidence shows countries around the world are behind, and in some cases are even losing ground, on 80 per cent of the 169 targets that comprise the SDGs. At the same time, AI today is accelerating and scaling at an astonishing rate. What the technology is capable of, the number of contexts in which it is being applied, the number of entities engaged in advancing its development and the level of investment going into it all are advancing at incredible speed.

Countries around the world should recognize the juxtaposition between the slow pace of SDG progress and the accelerated pace of Al advancement as a call to action. A third pathway for the advancement of Al in the Arab region is to accelerate and scale the application of Al against specific SDG targets strategically, with the aim of closing the gap on the 80 per cent of targets that are at risk of not being met.

There are hundreds of initiatives underway to design AI applications to meet SDG targets around the world, and a number of them are being pursued by and in countries in the Arab region. Continuing to generate and experiment with new ideas is necessary. At the same time, this moment in time may also call for identifying subsets of SDG targets that may be of particular importance to individual countries or to the Arab region as a whole, and subsets of proven or in-process AI developments. Countries could then marshal resources to move these innovations from pilots to scale to meet these priority challenges. This pathway explores what this could look like, in individual countries or in multi-country or even broader regional collaborative initiatives.



Nearly 50 agencies within the United Nations system contributed, reporting on more than **400 projects** – nearly **20 per cent** more participating entities and nearly **50 per cent** more projects than the previous year. These efforts reflect a strong and growing commitment to crosssector collaboration in bringing AI into global efforts to achieve the SDGs.



1. Initiatives to bring AI and SDGs together for impact

In 2024, the United Nations published its annual compilation of projects underway or planned that aim to develop and deploy Al-enabled systems and tools in support of the SDGs. Nearly 50 agencies within the United Nations system contributed, reporting on more than 400 projects - nearly 20 per cent more participating entities and nearly 50 per cent more projects than the previous year. These efforts reflect a strong and growing commitment to cross-sectoral collaboration in bringing Al into global efforts to achieve the SDGs. Of the projects, 24 per cent are in collaboration with one or more Government, 20 per cent are joint efforts with academic institutions, and 17 per cent involve private sector entities working with United Nations agencies. They span all 17 SDGs, with some Goals seeing particular attention including SDG 3 (Good Health and Wellbeing), SDG 9 (Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure), SDG 10 (Reduced Inequalities), SDG 13 (Climate Action), SDG 16 (Peace, Justice and Strong Institutions) and SDG 17 (Partnership for the Goals). The majority of the projects address more than one SDG, signalling holistic multidimensional efforts reflective of the intentional integrated nature of the framework of the Goals as defined in 2015. In 2023, one of the signature efforts within the United Nations system to harness the power in support of the SDGs, the AI for Good platform, coordinated by the International Telecommunication Union (ITU), saw over 1 million online views and its online community grew to over 100,000 individuals, institutions, networks and groups, with representatives from more than 180 countries.¹¹⁶

The work on Al to support and accelerate progress on the SDGs extends beyond the efforts of United Nations agencies and their multi-sector partners that the ITU is documenting. In May 2024, scholars at Google identified more than 600 Al use cases that have been developed specifically to support SDG targets by organizations in the social impact sector, such as non-profits, companies with dedicated social impact initiatives, social entrepreneurial enterprises and philanthropic foundations. This represents a 300 per cent increase in the application of Al to address the SDGs since a 2018 survey of such work conducted by McKinsey. These efforts are advancing progress on all 17 of the SDGs and include "scaled use cases, where Al applications have demonstrated impact and opportunities for full scale potential could still be realized".¹¹⁷

In 2020, research drawing on hundreds of experts from around the world arrived at a consensus conclusion that AI is already helping or is capable of helping in the achievement of 79 per cent of SDG targets (134 targets), while noting that 35 per cent (59 targets) could be negatively impacted by AI. Negative impacts are primarily rooted in two factors. One is that the massive (and growing) amount of energy required for computing power to develop and deploy AI poses risks to achieving SDGs related to climate and clean energy. The second has to do with the fact that "AI-based developments are traditionally based on the needs and values of nations in which AI is being developed, [which] might enable nationalism, hate towards minorities, and bias election outcomes" in other geographies.¹¹⁸ This poses risks to SDGs related to gender equality, reduced inequalities, justice and strong institutions, and others.

2. Progress on the SDGs is concerning ...

Data are abundant and clear on the overall state of SDGs achievement worldwide. Data indicate an urgent need for policy, technology and other interventions, including



As of June **2024**, none of the 17 SDGs are on track to be achieved by 2030, and only an estimated **16 per cent** of the SDG targets are progressing measurably.



Al interventions, to dramatically accelerate progress. As of June 2024, none of the 17 SDGs are on track to be achieved by 2030, and only an estimated 16 per cent of the SDG targets are progressing measurably. Approximately one-third of the 169 SDG targets are stalled or regressing, with regression demonstrated in 11 of the 17 Goals ranging, from 10 per cent of a Goal's total targets (SDG 17) to 50 per cent of targets (SDG 2), and more than 30 per cent of the targets in three other Goals. In three of the SDGs (1, 6 and 13), no targets are currently on track.¹¹⁹

Reports from the United Nations and other sources on SDG progress paint a widely varying picture based on geography, which is partly reflective of the level of economic development or resources of the countries in question. Sustainable Development Report rankings (calculated as percentage of SDG achievement, with a score of 100 indicating that all SDGs have been achieved) show 19 of the 20 top-ranked countries are in Europe, although these countries also face significant challenges in achieving several SDGs. The coalition of BRICS countries have made faster progress than the world average over the past decade, and countries in East and South Asia have made the greatest overall progress.¹²⁰

In the Arab region, 14 ESCWA member States rank in the middle third among the 193 members of the United Nations committed to the SDGs, with seven others in the bottom third. Progress is clearly visible despite a variety of recognized barriers including conflict and instability in some countries, climate change impacts, the COVID-19 pandemic and institutional issues. A number of important steps forward over recent years were recognized by the United Nations Deputy Secretary General in March 2024, including rising sustainable energy development; improvements in food security and sustainable food systems in many countries, notably Jordan and the United Arab Emirates; initiatives in Bahrain and Oman to boost social protection benefits; and reduced gender gaps in schooling. Achievement levels in the Arab region are significant, with a score of 61 average of the top ten ranked countries at 83. However, the remaining required progress constitutes considerable challenges and hardships in every country in the Arab region – a reality equally true for the top ranked countries throughout the world.¹²¹

3. ... but AI can offer an inflection point

The number and diversity of Al initiatives already in use or being developed for supporting and advancing the SDGs is considerable. Most are in relatively early stages of deployment, with relatively limited scope and scale. These pilot-scale implementations offer promising indicators of positive impacts, but data on demonstrated impact are modest and have not yet been analysed systematically. Measurement of the impacts on SDGs is being explored by Al for Good and its partners. Consolidation of the results of such evaluations would offer important insights to guide future efforts.

The pace of advancement in technology could significantly affect the currently modest scope, scale and impact of these AI applications. The number of patents issued globally for AI innovations in 2022 was over 62,000, 30 per cent more than in 2021 and more than twice the number in 2020. In 2023, private sector industry developers released 51 notable machine learning models, while just four were released a decade earlier. The number of foundation models released in 2023 was



The number of **patents** issued globally for Al innovations in 2022 was over **62,000, 30 per cent** more than in 2021 and more than twice the number in 2020. In 2023, private sector industry developers released **51 notable machine learning models,** while just

four were released a decade earlier.



twice that released in 2022 (149 compared to 72), with the 2022 figure representing nearly three times the 2021 number. Global investment in generative AI in 2023 stood at \$25 billion, 9 times the level the year prior and 30 times the 2019 level. Across sectors, 55 per cent of organizations reported having adopted AI and integrated it into their operations, compared to 20 per cent in 2017. In 2023, there were 75 countries with national AI strategies, only 6 years after Canada published the first such strategy in 2017.

Putting the full potential of this technology to work to advance the SDGs, through near-term policy, investment, partnerships and other actions, offers a pathway for AI development that has the potential to create futures of unprecedented promise.

B. Seizing on the inflection point as a pathway for Al in the Arab region

The key to AI development in the Arab region is prioritization. While the number of AI applications being pursued for supporting the SDGs is important and necessary, a spread of resources across so many initiatives inevitably keeps the scale and of impact of each effort modest. A survey conducted in 2024 with more than 60 experts from the social sector in 17 countries revealed that "most efforts to deploy AI for social good to date have focused on research and innovation rather than adoption and scaling". Moreover, "55 per cent of grants for AI research and deployment across the SDGs are \$250,000 or smaller, consistent with a focus on targeted research or smaller-scale deployment rather than large-scale expansion".¹²² Specific AI innovations being developed or already employed to advance SDG achievement could be selected and prioritized by leaders in Arab region countries to be scaled for far greater impact.

Prioritization may also need to consider which SDGs, or targets with individual Goals, to focus on in prospective future efforts to scale AI initiatives. As the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) and others have made clear since 2015, the 17 SDGs are integrated, action in one area affect outcomes in others. It is crucial that development balances social, economic and environmental sustainability.¹²³ Leaders should make careful choices to prioritize certain targets of Goals that can create results that also promote positive outcomes in other areas.

Prioritization should shift the focus of global funding of SDG-supportive AI efforts to deployments in the region. Research shows that "only 10 per cent of grants allocated toward AI initiatives that address one or more of the SDGs went to organizations based in low- or middle-income countries".¹²⁴ Investment by Governments and private sector entities in AI is growing rapidly in many countries in the Arab region. One element of a strategy for countries pursuing this pathway could be to prioritize growing portions of that investment to scaling AI developments for selected SDGs. Partnerships with investors and AI developers to focus more of their efforts on SDG-supporting initiatives and advocacy in multilateral forums could be other elements.

1. Seeing the impacts of AI on SDGs can inform leaders' prioritization

To visualize this pathway for the future of AI, policymakers and other leaders in the Arab region should consider the possible outcomes of today's efforts to apply AI to the SDGs. The examples selected and described below are not a prescription for which SDG targets to focus on, or for specific types of AI applications to choose to scale. They are intended to inspire thinking about which efforts to scale initiatives will create the most meaningful outcomes on particular SDG targets.

1 ^{№0} POVERTY No Poverty

Enhancing access to financial services for underserved populations

Al can enhance access to financial services for underserved populations in a range of ways. One is use of Al applications in microfinancing for entrepreneurs. By utilizing non-traditional data sources, such as mobile phone usage and social media activity. Al-powered tools are transforming credit scoring. powering alternative data models that enable financial institutions to assess creditworthiness for individuals without access to traditional banking and without formal banking histories. In the digital banking context, AI is enhancing mobile applications, making banking accessible and user-friendly for underserved communities. Al is also being used to design personalized financial products and services like microloans and insurance plans that meet specific needs of low-income populations. By empowering people to manage financial risks and build stability, Al promotes pathways out of poverty. The integration of Al into financial services contributes to economic empowerment and poverty alleviation in several important ways. One is economic resilience - access to loans and microinsurance reduces vulnerability to financial shocks, enabling people to make investments in incomegenerating activities. A second is savings growth - Al powered mobile banking platforms encourage financial discipline and futureproofing through structured saving options. Al-driven solutions also reduce dependency on costly in-person financial services, making banking more accessible and affordable.¹²⁵



Zero Hunger

Optimizing farming practices and enhancing crop yields

Agriculture- and food-related use cases are the second highest growth area of Al development after healthcare. More than 50 Al use cases described are impacting the SDGs most related to agriculture and food security. One that is projected

to be of high impact is for crop monitoring, using satellite imagery and machine learning algorithms to identify issues such as nutrient deficiencies, pest infestations or water stress. Another is Al-driven predictive analytics models to forecast pest outbreaks or crop diseases, allowing farmers to take timely preventive measures. Others include Al-driven tools to recommend optimal planting times and crop varieties based on local soil and weather conditions, and Al-powered logistics systems to predict food demand and improve supply chain efficiency to minimize waste. Researchers in India are developing an AI framework model for self-sustained farming in which these and other AI technologies are all integrated and working in concert to enable important precision farming breakthroughs. The United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization is developing and deploying AI tools that perform crop monitoring and other critical functions. One is the Hand-In-Hand Geospatial Platform, which is performing "cutting edge quantitative remote sensing in agriculture and enabling unprecedented cross-sectoral knowledge discovery by integrating data on soil, land, water, climate, fisheries, livestock, crops".¹²⁶ Another combines time-series satellite remote sensing data, machine learning, and Al-powered geospatial data analytics tools to manage the growth and yield of crops from planting to harvest with improved understanding of how environmental and management factors affect them. The benefits of AI technology to the aims of SDG 2 are numerous. One is increased productivity – enhanced crop yields contribute to improved food availability, reducing food shortages and supporting market supply. A second is food security - Al enables better resource management, for example by enabling sustainable farming practices that adapt to climate change. A third is labour efficiency - automated systems reduce the burden of manual labour while improving decision-making for farmers.

3 GOOD HEALTH



Good Health and Well-being

Al-enabled predictive analytics and wearable health devices

Al is at the forefront of health monitoring and forward-looking care through predictive analytics and wearable health devices powered. Wearable devices provide Al-powered real-time monitoring of metrics like heart rate, activity levels and sleep patterns. An individual's historical and live health data can be analysed to predict risks and enable early preventive care, and even to trigger alerts for emergency responses. Al platforms are able to collect data from sensors to remotely monitor and track the health of patients with chronic conditions. Such applications democratize healthcare access, enhance patient outcomes, and support global health priorities under SDG 3. Deployment of Alpowered health technology wearable devices and other Al-enabled predictive health analytics offers numerous beneficial outcomes. One is early detection and prevention, as real-time insights and predictive tools reduce the risk of serious health conditions, lowering overall healthcare costs. A second is improved chronic disease management – remote monitoring allows for continuous care and support for patients with long-term conditions. Al tools also make healthcare more accessible, particularly for people in remote or underserved areas. There is a cost reduction benefit as well – by preventing severe health crises, Al helps minimize expensive medical interventions and hospitalizations.¹²⁷



Inclusive and Quality Education

Enhancing educational outcomes through personalized learning experiences

Al technologies can create personalized learning experiences by analysing student performance data and tailoring educational content to match individual learning styles and needs. This enables all students, regardless of their background or challenges, to receive a tailored education. Personalization of the classroom or other learning experiences through Al-powered analysis helps teachers identify each student's specific strengths and areas for improvement and adjust their learning paths accordingly. Al tools also can customize learning materials based on the data analysis to suit each student's learning pace and style, whether they require more time on certain topics or prefer a more accelerated path. In Rwanda, a pilot project used Al to help high school students enhance their skills in maths through personalized learning and exercises.¹²⁸ AI can provide students immediate feedback on their work, helping them stay on track and highlighting areas they need to focus on. Work on developing and deploying AI tools for personalizing learning has been underway for some time, for example in a \$240 million investment by the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation in 2016. The impacts are already being seen and will accelerate as AI advances. One impact is improved learning outcomes, with Al-driven personalized learning leading to better retention and comprehension. Another is more efficient learning – students learn at their own pace, allowing for more efficient use of study time and resources. Al also contributes to equalizing access to education, helping students anywhere can have high-quality, customized learning experiences. It can also improve learning confidence, as personalized Al-assisted learning helps students grasp challenging concepts and provides guick feedback.



Gender Equality and Women Empowerment

Al for improving maternal health

Al technologies are contributing to SDG 5 by improving maternal health outcomes, for example providing personalized healthcare recommendations and support to prevent complications during pregnancy. Algorithms can analyse data from expectant mothers and provide tailored advice on nutrition, exercise and prenatal care. Al systems also can serve as early warning systems, monitoring vital signs and health indicators to detect signs of potential complications such as preterm labour, high blood pressure or gestational diabetes. When a risk is identified, the AI system can send alerts to healthcare providers and patients, enabling early intervention and reducing the likelihood of severe complications. Impacts already being seen, such as reduced maternal mortality. Al-driven early warnings and personalized care identify complications before they become life-threatening, enabling care providers to intervene in a timely way.¹²⁹



Sustainable Water Management and Sanitation

Al-enabled smart water management systems

Al is transforming water management by optimizing the distribution, quality and usage of water in a variety of important ways. For example, AI tools are able to continuously monitor water quality in real time, detecting fluctuations or contaminants in the water supply at a municipal or enterprise level. They are also increasingly deployed for predictive maintenance, able to detect when pipes, pumps or treatment plants need attention based on data analytics. This helps reduce the risk of breakdowns and improves the reliability of the systems in which they are used. Another application of Al is to analyse data on usage and demand to help ensure water is used efficiently, an application particularly valuable in the Arab region and other areas with worsening water scarcity. There are a number of benefits of Al in support of SDG 6. One is greater assurance through real-time monitoring that water quality standards are maintained, helping prevent spread of waterborne diseases in drinking supplies. Al-driven resource usage optimization also helps ensure equity and efficiency in water allocation, increases water quantities available for use, and helps to reduce energy and chemical usage in water management.

Predictive maintenance and optimized water distribution with Al tools also can reduce operational costs, making water utilities more affordable and efficient for public use.¹³⁰



Affordable and Clean Energy

Al innovations and clean energy

Al is being leveraged to enhance the efficiency and sustainability of energy systems, including in some countries in the Arab region, particularly in the areas of energy generation, distribution and consumption optimization. These applications are tackling the challenges of improving energy system performance while at the same time minimizing environmental impact. On the supply side, AI technologies help optimize how energy is generated. For example, AI tools can analyse meteorological and other data to forecast solar generation capacity and help solar operators plan for balancing out the intermittent nature of supply. On the demand side, AI systems are demonstrating their unique utility in monitoring and analysing energy usage to provide consumers with recommendations and adjustments to optimize their consumption patterns. With this, they can take actions such as storing solar-generated power in batteries for use at peak need times. These and other applications of AI are helping ensure that clean sources such as wind and solar are used effectively to meet the growing demand for electricity globally, with the Arab region projected to be one of the greatest demand-growth regions. The impacts will be considerable. For example, there will be efficiency gains, as Al-driven solutions help optimize energy generation, distribution and consumption, thereby reducing waste and lowering carbon emissions. Al will also enable potentially significant energy cost savings - by enhancing system efficiency, it can help reduce operational costs and improve affordability for consumers.¹³¹



Decent Work and Economic Growth

Al in workforce development

Al is creating a need for workers to adapt to a rapidly changing job market. At the same time, Al tools will help workers get the reskilling and other forms of professional development they need for the future job market, including training and development for job roles that will not be affected by Al. A projected six in ten current workers will require additional training within the next 4 years. Estimates vary that between 40 to 60 per cent of jobs worldwide will be exposed to Al, necessitating reskilling and other support. A growing percentage of this support will be able to be provided by Al tools. Al-driven educational platforms offer tailored learning experiences based on individuals' learning styles, career goals and areas of interest, helping ensure they are equipped with the most relevant skills. Al tools can also continuously reassess workers' skills and recommend customized training programmes to enhance employability. Tools are also emerging that leverage AI to provide career counselling for workers shifting roles, identifying new opportunities and pathways based on personal data and market trends. An important result will be increased economic resilience. By helping workers acquire new skills, AI prepares the workforce for changes. Al will also make skill development and career progression more accessible to a wider range of individuals, especially in underserved regions or communities.¹³²



Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure

Al for predictive infrastructure maintenance

Al is being used to enhance the reliability and efficiency of infrastructure maintenance. In a growing number of cities around the world, Al-driven systems collect data on temperature, vibrations, structural integrity, environmental conditions and other factors from sensors and Internet of Things devices installed on infrastructure such as bridges, roads and buildings. Al algorithms can analyse this data in real-time to detect patterns and predict when maintenance will be needed. These predictive insights help schedule repairs before major issues occur, reducing the risk of infrastructure failure. Other AI systems can generate proactive maintenance schedules based on such predictions, helping ensure timely intervention and reducing unexpected disruptions. There are a number of already observed and projected beneficial impacts from the use of predictive infrastructure maintenance in support of SDG 9. One is the extended lifespan of assets and prevention of costly emergency repairs. A second is improved public safety as Al-generated predictions and accompanying preventive maintenance actions reduce or avoid life-threatening failures. A third is greater infrastructure resilience as AI systems' real-time adaptability enables them to continuously learn from new data to improve predictions and adapt to emerging issues.¹³³



Reduced Inequalities

Al for accessible education

Al tools are increasingly capable of making education more accessible to a broader range of people of every age. This includes students with disabilities, students who have not traditionally had textbooks or other educational content available in their native dialects, and students that face other forms of marginalization in their opportunities to learn. Al tools include assistive technologies and personalized learning platforms that cater to individual needs. Al-enabled assistive technologies include speech-to-text and text-to-speech tools that can convert spoken language into text and vice versa, helping students with hearing or visual impairments engage with educational materials. Other tools use generative AI to create adaptive learning materials, tailoring educational content to match each student's learning style and needs. Such tools make it easier for them to access the material regardless of any disabilities they may live with, or any language barriers they may face in a multilingual classroom. They also enable teachers to offer ongoing support more easily to each student in a tailored way. The outcomes in support of SDG 10 are projected to be considerable. One impact is in helping equalize opportunities - Al can help ensure that students with disabilities or other types of barrier have equal access to education, promoting inclusivity and greater equity. Another is improved learning outcomes - by providing personalized learning experiences and continuous support, AI helps students achieve better academic outcomes.¹³⁴



Sustainable Cities and Communities

Al for smart urban planning

Al-driven solutions can enhance urban planning and management in a variety of ways to create more sustainable and liveable cities. By allowing planners to integrate data from a plethora of sources and enabling them to conduct predictive modelling, Al helps optimize resources and manage urban growth effectively. Multisource data integration at scale is a powerful new capability for urban designers and redevelopers. Al integrates data from sources such as traffic patterns, environmental sensors, population demographics and citizens' social media activity to offer comprehensive insight into urban dynamics. Continuous real-time monitoring and analysis of this data helps predict urban trends and identify challenges. These predictions can feed Al models that can offer guidance on urban growth patterns, enabling cities to respond proactively and make informed decisions about infrastructure development and resource allocation. In these ways, Al helps build more sustainable, resilient cities that are better equipped to handle growth and environmental challenges and offer citizens enhanced quality of life. A range of specific impacts relevant to SDG 11 have already been observed and are projected to increase. One is optimized traffic management – by predicting congestion and suggesting alternative routes, Al reduces travel times and emissions for cleaner, greener cities. A second is improved energy management – Al systems monitor and optimize energy consumption in public buildings and infrastructure, promoting energy efficiency.¹³⁵



Responsible Consumption and **Production**

Al for waste management

Al-driven solutions are optimizing waste management through the use of smart bins and optimized collection routes, contributing to more efficient and sustainable waste disposal. Al-powered smart bins are Internet of Things devices equipped with sensors that monitor the fill levels and types of waste placed into them. These sensors send real-time data to computer systems that are themselves leveraging AI algorithms for analysis of the collected data, enabling targeted smart waste management actions such as automated sorting for recycling and disposal. Other Al algorithms optimize waste collection routes based on real-time data, ensuring the most fuel-efficient and time-effective paths are chosen, which reduces operational costs. Collection schedules can be adjusted dynamically to meet demand, ensuring timely and efficient waste collection, especially in high-demand areas. One impact of the use of AI in this context is reduced waste and enhanced recycling rates. A second is financial savings optimized routes and better scheduling lead to lower operational costs. There will also be reductions in carbon emissions from more efficient use of vehicles and optimized collection processes.¹³⁶

13 CLIMATE ACTION



Climate Action

Al for climate prediction

Al is enabling advances in climate prediction through advanced data analysis and early warning to help mitigate the impact

of extreme weather events. Machine learning algorithms are capable of integrating and analysing massive datasets from various sources such as satellite imagery, weather stations and historical climate data. This information. analysed as single-source datasets or integrated into multisource datasets, provides new insight into climate patterns. Leveraging the results of these big data analytics operations, Al models are used to predict future climate patterns and potential extreme weather events (storms, droughts and floods), allowing for better preparation and response strategies. They monitor emergent patterns and produce results in real-time as well as making future projections, detecting changes and issuing early warnings. Based on predictions and on real-time observations, Al systems can recommend specific preparedness measures, guiding authorities and communities on how to respond effectively to mitigate damage. Through AI, authorities will have enhanced ability to prepare for and respond to climate-related disasters, reducing the economic and human cost of extreme weather events. Lives will be saved and injuries from disasters reduced as early warning systems allow communities to take proactive measures.137



Life below Water

Al for marine conservation

New applications of Al have been developed to enhance conservation efforts by detecting threats to marine biodiversity. One is the use of Al-powered underwater drones to monitor marine life and ecosystems, capturing real-time data on species' presence and activities, water quality and environmental conditions. The data can then be analysed using Al algorithms to identify trends and detect potential problems. Fujitsu has developed a system combining light detection and ranging and AI to capture high-resolution 3D data from organisms and other undersea features. This comes under research and development efforts "to create ocean digital twins ... to predict changes in the environment [and] simulate the possible effects of conservation measures".¹³⁸ AguaNurch is an AI-powered engine that gathers and processes millions of data points on ecological stressors on bodies of water. Other Al systems go even further, beyond just analysing collected data to flagging changes in marine ecosystems that indicate environmental stress. These tools inform conservation strategies, providing recommendations for authorities and environmental organizations that will help them design effective conservation strategies to protect vulnerable underwater species and habitats. Already observed impacts are expected to increase. One is proactive biodiversity protection – AI helps get in front of potential threats to marine ecosystems before they can cause irreversible damage. A second is in sustainable fisheries - Al promotes the development and enforcement of sustainable fishing practices, promoting the long-term health of fish populations and marine ecosystems.

15 LIFE ON LAND

Life on Land

Al for wildlife conservation

Researchers are pioneering and employing new applications of AI to monitor wildlife populations, track their movements, and predict poaching. For example, Conservation AI, a United Kingdom-based non-profit, has developed a solution



involving Al-powered camera traps and drones to monitor wildlife populations in their natural habitats. Machine learning algorithms analyse the video data collected, identifying individual animals, monitoring migration patterns, and detecting any unusual behaviour or signs of danger. Researchers at the University of Würzburg in Germany have developed AI to do similar work for monitoring and protecting bird populations in Ecuador, using AI to analyse audio recordings to understand the birds' soundscapes. A professor at the University of Southern California developed an AI model that analyses historical data and patterns related to poaching and makes forecasts by identifying risky areas or behaviours, allowing rangers to prepare and intervene before illegal hunting can occur. Other Al systems generate real-time alerts based on monitoring data, notifying rangers of immediate threats. This enables swift intervention to prevent poaching or human-wildlife conflicts. The impacts of AI tools on SDG 15 objectives include increased biodiversity protection – Al helps protect endangered species by providing continuous monitoring and identifying threats before they can harm wildlife populations. Reduced poaching is another beneficial outcome - predictive analytics and real-time alerts allow authorities to take proactive measures, reducing illegal hunting activities. Al will also enable more effective data-driven conservation efforts, making it easier for conservationists to manage protected areas and wildlife reserves.¹³⁹



Peace, Justice and Strong Institutions

Al for judicial efficiency

Al can play a role in improving judicial efficiency, transparency and fairness by automating case management processes, enhancing accessibility, and detecting biases in judicial decisions. Al systems can automate routine tasks in case management such as reviewing legal documents, organizing case files, and scheduling hearings. This allows courts to process cases more quickly and frees up time for judges and clerks to focus on complex matters. Al is highly effective in analysing case data to identify patterns, predict case outcomes, and suggest courses of action. It can also help prioritize cases based on urgency and complexity, ensuring that critical matters are addressed promptly. Al-powered platforms can also make court information accessible to the public, like case progress and decisions, and help detect and mitigate bias in judicial decision-making. Authorities need to be mindful of the risk of bias in AI training data leading to unjust case outcomes. By analysing past judgments and identifying trends of bias in them, AI can recommend

adjustments to correct these, and over time to prevent them. There is already evidence of the beneficial impacts of AI systems in the judicial context. One is how AI reduces delays, speeding up case resolution and improving overall efficiency in courts. A second is that the increased transparency of case data and judicial decisions fosters trust in the legal system, making it more accountable to the public. A third is that by identifying and mitigating biases, AI contributes to more equitable outcomes, helping ensure that all individuals are treated fairly under the law.¹⁴⁰



Partnerships for the Goals

Al for global health collaboration

Al can enhance global health outcomes not only by scaling its use in individual health systems around the world. It can also help improve health outcomes by enabling collaboration in different forms across country and sector borders. Increasingly over time, world health institutions will create AI systems that integrate health data from various countries, health organizations and institutions to create comprehensive global health databases. These databases can facilitate breakthroughs in identifying emerging health trends, predict disease outbreaks, and more. This can enable faster, coordinated responses to global health challenges such as pandemics. Al-driven platforms will also facilitate sharing of health data, research findings and best practices among global health organizations. These platforms help connect experts, policymakers and practitioners from different countries and sectors. Cross-border and cross-sector collaboration platforms are already emerging, such as the Global Initiative on Al for Health. One of its mission pillars is "to create a global community of experts and resources that foster knowledge sharing and collective action".¹⁴¹ Another is the European Health Data Space, an ecosystem of rules, standards and practices, infrastructure and a governance framework to support the free movement of health data. Al will serve the objectives of SDG 17 in a variety of ways. One will be improved health outcomes through data-driven insights that support timely interventions and coordinated responses to health crises. A second is more efficient resource use - Al will help ensure that resources are used efficiently in global health initiatives, improving health interventions. A third benefit will be from how AI can optimize the allocation of resources for global health initiatives, helping ensure vaccines, medical supplies, healthcare personnel and other vital elements of public health are deployed where they are most needed.

C. Recommendations aligned with this pathway

Four recommendations align with the pathway outlined in this chapter. They are not exclusive in their relevance to this pathway, as they could also be supportive of other pathways outlined in this report or with other pathways that leaders in the Arab region might pursue.



Establish a region-wide job skill programme leveraging Al tools to empower and enable the demographic wealth of the region for future work and entrepreneurship

The Arab region has the highest rates of unemployment of young people, women and educated persons in the world, and the lowest rate of women's labour force participation. It also has the highest global rates of overall unemployment, and large percentages of the populations in many countries in the region work in the informal labour sector. These challenging conditions are partly due to the huge mismatch between the supply and demand for skills, stemming from the inability of education and training systems to fulfil current and future skill needs.¹⁴²

A coordinated multi-country campaign to cultivate job-readiness skills in key demographics by leveraging Al tools could reduce the levels of unemployment and underemployment that characterize the Arab region. Designing and implementing a campaign to scale Al applications being developed for the education sector for the subset of SDGs that relate to work and economic opportunity would address a region-wide priority. Al-driven educational platforms would put training for job skills within reach of millions of people previously without access. A training campaign using Al could prepare young people, women, educated unemployed persons and informal sector workers for jobs in the formal economies of their countries. Programmes for skill development in Al would be a related but separate initiative.

Actions to move forward with an Al-enabled job skill development campaign could include creating an Arab region fund for human capital building with Al and establishing a regional hub to host skill development activities. Ideally, the hub should ensure equity by allocating country quotas for trainees and country representation on a steering committee. Programmes could focus on using Al-based training/education tools to develop skills for the future of work and entrepreneurship, such as basic job readiness skills (communication, teamwork, critical thinking, problem solving, professionalism, soft skills); financial skills; basic technical skills (project management, computer literacy), language skills for targeted business needs, and other skill areas critical to job readiness.

Implementation of this region-wide job skill development programme could leverage partnerships with multinational tech companies; education companies; universities in the region and outside the region; and others. Other partnerships could be with regional entities like ESCWA, the Arab League Educational, Cultural and Scientific Organization and the Arab Labor Institute. Governments in the region could engage and incentivize local entrepreneurs (with tax breaks or subsidies) to build tailored AI tools that would provide the necessary skill development for young people, women, unemployed educated people and informal workers.



Establish a network for regional research on Al for sustainable agriculture – linking and scaling promising initiatives and Al innovations that address food security

Food security in the Arab region has long been severely jeopardized, a problem exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic and by conflicts. Given the expected population growth and rising temperatures and other effects of climate change, there is a need to address these challenges by capitalizing on AI, the existing innovations in the region and the link to national AI policy prioritizations.¹⁴³

Creating a network for regional research on Al for sustainable agriculture would help connect agriculture and food-focused Al startups with one another and with key stakeholders to scale climate-friendly practices and policies for food production and security, sustainable food supply chains and waste reduction in the Arab region. Al innovations fostered by the network that address food security would also help reduce poverty, reduce emissions, and improve health and wellbeing. The network could be led by a coalition of countries, potentially on a rotating basis.

The network could map the current landscape of sustainable agriculture Al innovations and startups in the area and link them. Locally developed agriculture and food-related Al applications and tools are already emerging in a number of countries in the region. The network could connect such innovators to relevant stakeholders (policymaking bodies, academia, civil society, farmers, manufacturers); other regional research initiatives and networks like Al for Development Africa; and international organizations like the International Food Policy Research Institute. In addition to



detailed real-time research on the promise and perils of Al for agriculture and food security, the network could also establish a scorecard for responsible Al for sustainable agriculture to incentivize businesses and national policies; liaise with existing methodologies for tracking food and hunger-related SDGs; and engage with funding sources in the region and globally for assistance in scaling the most promising relevant Al applications.



Harmonize data legislation across the region to promote sharing of data on open-source platforms data and Al innovation for advancing the SDGs

Al applications and tools in support of the SDGs are booming, and the ones that scale will generate considerable amounts of data. A number of countries in the Arab region already have data legislation in place, including Bahrain, Egypt, Qatar and Saudi Arabia. These laws "differ in scope, enforcement, and requirements, making compliance a complex and resourceintensive task".¹⁴⁴ An effort to converge legislation related to data would help facilitate AI entrepreneurship and innovation, benefit consumers, and help regional collaboration in meeting the SDGs. All SDGs would be promoted and advanced with attention to data governance. The foundation of such an effort could be to establish a regional working group on data legislation harmonization. The group could proceed in phases. In the first phase, participating entities could outline the benefits, challenges and costs of harmonization; review data protection and related legislation and regulations (those addressing privacy, freedom of information and other related issues); identify gaps and means to bridge them; liaise with representatives from the European Union and other international organizations for lessons learned from global efforts to codify data governance rules (including how data privacy rules can also support innovation objectives); and set a clear plan of action with feasible short-, medium-and long-term targets.

The second phase could focus specifically on how harmonized and clarified data governance rules across the region could facilitate innovation in AI in support of the SDGs. Activities of the working group could include assessing how harmonization could reduce barriers to innovation investment caused by restrictive data flow rules; foster greater regional economic integration and cooperation in support of scaling AI applications that impact the achievement of specific SDG targets; create a clearer compliance environment for AI startups and other businesses to operate in; address cross border data flows to ease doing business and encourage innovation; and other topics to be decided by the participating entities.



Employ AI tools in social listening applications to enhance citizen-government engagement, social cohesion, and disaster and other humanitarian relief efforts

Governments and humanitarian organizations are increasingly using Al-driven analysis and other kinds of Al applications to understand real-time citizen needs. Social listening in this context is defined as Al-enabled analysis of text, audio, social media and other data to understand real-time citizen needs. Through the processing of vast amounts of public data, social listening tools enhance governance, crisis response and public service delivery. In the Arab region, over 90 per cent of young people use social media daily, and Facebook alone has 190 million active users. During crises, Al-powered analysis of social media can provide faster insights than official reports. This can help authorities to respond quickly to public concerns and emerging risks.¹⁴⁵

Around the world, AI and other digital platforms and tools that facilitate public participation in various aspects of governance decision-making and humanitarian operations are already in use. To integrate social listening into governance, Governments should implement programmes and actions for structured use of AI tools to analyse public digital conversations, detect patterns, and translate insights into policy actions, not only in crisis response but also in everyday governance contexts. Governments can set up monitoring units to work with humanitarian groups, local authorities and social media platforms to track public sentiment and help detect misinformation. Al-powered surveys can gather insights beyond analysing social media users. Voicebased surveys can reach populations with lower literacy levels. Aligning this approach with SDG 11 and SDG 16 would strengthen governance and resilience.

The use of AI for social listening and related decision-making has already shown results, for example to detect linguistic patterns in people reporting in real-time during the 2022 floods in Pakistan. For non-crisis contexts, digital citizen engagement tools in use in some countries in the Arab region today could be adapted by other countries with only marginal costs, which could be covered through collaboration with multilateral institutions or private sector partnerships. Efforts to introduce the use of AI in humanitarian or government operations and activities must build in measures to protect the rights and safety of the populations being served. Use cases of Al in these contexts may pose risks. These include potentially "exacerbating disproportionate surveillance, perpetuating inequalities due to algorithmic biases", or technical failures in newly introduced systems leading to inadvertent delays, disruption or cancellation of aid distribution.¹⁴⁶



Capacity-building



An estimated **60 per cent** of jobs in advanced **economies** already are or will be **exposed to AI**. Some workers will be displaced by AI in occupations where tasks can be automated, while other jobs will instead be complemented by AI that increases workers' productivity.



A. The urgent need for Al capacity-building

Al is actively reshaping every sector, and its power to do so is growing exponentially. The need for capacity-building is both essential and urgent. To not be left behind, industries and Governments must develop essential workforce capabilities, infrastructure and policies. In the Arab region, existing skills, technology infrastructure and governance frameworks need to be developed to enable the transformation.¹⁴⁷

Al will have substantial impacts on jobs and employment. Some of these are already being seen, and the projected future impacts are more complex than the equation of current jobs eliminated and new jobs created. An estimated 60 per cent of jobs in advanced economies already are or will be exposed to Al. Some workers will be displaced by Al in occupations where tasks can be automated, while other jobs will instead be complemented by Al that increases workers' productivity.¹⁴⁸

Countries in the Arab region must focus on Al capacity-building – skills, infrastructure and governance institutions – as both an enablement mechanism and a protective mechanism for the millions of the workers that comprise their economies and societies. Education and training will be critical to qualify people for the increasingly Al-centric jobs of the future, and for requalifying others for new jobs when their current ones are displaced by Al. Creation of data centres, networks and other Al infrastructure will create jobs, and training for those jobs will be needed. New regulatory and other institutions will provide the capacity for workers to contend with the social, economic, health and other challenges they will face as Al changes the future of industries.

-C

The Internet has given rise to new job roles like web developers, digital marketers, cybersecurity experts and e-commerce specialists. The digital economy of China supported **256 million jobs** in 2022, a **15 per cent** rise from the previous year.



B. New jobs, gone jobs and changed jobs as AI advances

Al is not the first instance of technology impacting jobs. Examples point to the positive impacts of technology innovations on employment, and also to the importance of deliberate efforts to reskill workforces and to put regulatory measures in place to help workers contend with new technologies.

1. All is not the first wave of technology impacting jobs

The emergence of the Internet, personal computing, enterprise computing and smartphones have revolutionized work environments and reshaped employment across multiple sectors. They enable real-time communication through email and instant messaging and real-time data sharing within and between businesses, bridging geographical divides and enhancing team collaboration. E-commerce has revolutionized the retail sector, allowing businesses to operate without a physical presence. However, these shifts also contribute to job outsourcing, decline in traditional retail employment, and a growing dependence on precarious gig work arrangements.149

The Internet has given rise to new job roles like web developers, digital marketers, cybersecurity experts and e-commerce specialists. The digital economy of China supported 256 million jobs in 2022, a 15 per cent rise from the previous year. However, while these new roles have benefited skilled professionals, they have also widened the income gap, leaving many middle- and low-skilled workers with fewer opportunities. ICT disproportionately affects middle-skilled jobs and leads to job polarization. Higher investment in these technologies leads to a greater increase in high-skilled labour's share of labour income and a decrease in the middle-skilled labour's share. The transition to digital work often requires retraining, which can be costly and inaccessible to those already displaced by automation.¹⁵⁰

The smartphone revolution has transformed employment by creating opportunities, for example by supporting the emergence of a vast ecosystem of mobile apps. The rise of social media has also driven new career paths, with digital marketing becoming an essential business strategy for engagement and audience targeting. Yet many of these roles lack stability, benefits and worker protections, raising concerns about the quality of jobs being created in the digital age. Additionally, increased connectivity from smartphones and mobile computers has blurred the boundaries between work and personal life. A decade ago, 77 per cent of employees in remote and freelance positions reported experiencing mental health challenges and burnout due to increased work expectations and difficulty disconnecting from their jobs.¹⁵¹

These and other lessons learned from the impacts of previous waves of technology innovation must inform how leaders in the Arab region approach capacity-building to prepare countries' workforces for the job realities of the Al future.





Generative AI and automation could affect up to **70 per cent of employees'** current work activities, necessitating career transitions for approximately **12 million workers** across Europe and the United States.



An estimated **83 million jobs** will be lost globally as a result of Al, even as **69 million new jobs** are created.



2. Al will likely be the most profound, with job losses and gains already being seen

Unlike previous automation waves that primarily impacted low-skilled jobs, the expanding capabilities of AI now extend into high-skilled, white-collar professions, affecting fields such as business, science, engineering, law and the arts. AI-driven transformations are expected to reshape job structures, increasing demand for high-skilled professionals in sectors such as healthcare and cybersecurity. It also will reduce opportunities in office administration, manufacturing and customer service. Generative AI and automation could affect up to 70 per cent of employees' current work activities, necessitating career transitions for approximately 12 million workers across Europe and the United States. However, these estimates do not account for potential economic shocks, workforce readiness or disparities in AI adoption across industries. Lower-wage workers are particularly vulnerable, requiring urgent reskilling efforts to remain competitive. Existing retraining initiatives, such as online AI career certifications and government-led programmes, may not scale sufficiently to meet demand, necessitating stronger collaboration between policymakers, industries and educational institutions.^{152,153}

An estimated 83 million jobs will be lost globally as a result of AI, even as 69 million new jobs are created. Generative AI has the potential to automate up to 300 million full-time jobs in Europe and the United States, and impacts like this can be anticipated in Arab region countries, commensurate with the size and nature of job markets. In 2025, 60 per cent of employers reported anticipating major workforce restructuring by 2030. Advancements in AI and information processing are projected to simultaneously drive job creation and displacement in 86 per cent of employers surveyed. Robotics and autonomous systems, many AI-enabled, are expected to be the largest net job displacers, eliminating 5 million jobs. Over the 2025–2030 period, structural labour market shifts driven by AI are projected to result in a net creation of 78 million jobs, offsetting 92 million job displacements. However, these projections depend on multiple factors, including government policies, pace of AI adoption, labour market regulations and macroeconomic conditions.¹⁵⁴

3. Changed jobs through Al-driven skill disruption

The impacts of Al on employment demand not only adjusting to job creation and elimination, but also equipping individuals with the skills to work alongside Al systems. Success in Al integration depends as much on people as on the technology itself. The most critical skills from 2025 to 2030 will be the ability to leverage big data and Al in current but changed job roles. Technological advancements are expected to be the primary driver of skill evolution over that period, as a projected 39 per cent of today's skills evolve or become obsolete.¹⁵⁵

The impact of AI on employment and skill needs will not be uniform across regions. Developed economies are more likely to experience disruptions in knowledge-based professions, while developing economies, where labour costs are lower and AI adoption is slower, may initially see a less pronounced shift. The effects of AI will vary significantly by sector.

For example, in healthcare, Al-assisted diagnoses, surgeries and telemedicine will augment medical professionals rather than replace them. Building the governance



The impact of AI is also influencing hiring strategies. Skill gaps remain the most significant barrier to business transformation, with 63 per cent of employers identifying this as a top challenge between 2025 and 2030. In response, 85 per cent of employers plan to invest in workforce upskilling, while 70 per cent intend to hire talent with new skills.



capacity to manage this transition within healthcare institutions will be essential. In education, AI-driven personalized learning tools will reshape the role of educators from traditional teaching to AI-augmented mentorship. Successful AI integration into education will require substantial investment in teacher training to ensure that educators can effectively incorporate AI tools into their methods. Administrators will also need to develop AI literacy to make data-driven decisions in educational institutions. In many industries, AI-powered automation is expected to replace lowskill manual labour while creating demand for robotics engineers and automation specialists. AI will enhance production planning and control, quality management, maintenance management and supply chain management. It will also reshape workforce demands, requiring professionals to develop AI-driven problem-solving skills and adapt to AI-enhanced environments.¹⁵⁶

The impact of AI is also influencing hiring strategies. Skill gaps remain the most significant barrier to business transformation, with 63 per cent of employers identifying this as a top challenge between 2025 and 2030. In response, 85 per cent of employers plan to invest in workforce upskilling, while 70 per cent intend to hire talent with new skills. Nearly 50 per cent anticipate transitioning employees from declining roles to emerging ones, and 40 per cent expect workforce reductions as some skills become obsolete. These shifts are already being seen as AI chatbots and automation reduce the demand for entry-level roles while increasing the need for AI data analysis expertise.¹⁵⁷

C. How AI jobs are evolving in selected Arab region countries

The impacts of Al on jobs in the GCC countries, where the technology is being adopted most quickly, provide an example of what leaders can expect in other Arab region countries.

In Saudi Arabia, AI is projected to augment and automate nearly one-third of all jobs, significantly transforming productivity, agility and collaboration, particularly in high-skilled professions. Generative AI is expected to impact 37 per cent of all hours worked, offering opportunities for revenue-generating activities and higher-value contributions. However, nearly half of all jobs in the country remain predominantly non-language-based, limiting exposure to AI-driven disruption in the short term. As Saudi Arabia advances toward a knowledge-based economy under its Vision 2030, the prevalence of language-intensive roles is expected to rise, accelerating AI adoption.¹⁵⁸

Highly-skilled occupations (25 per cent of total employment in Saudi Arabia) are projected to undergo significant transformation. Generative AI could automate and augment over half of working hours in these roles, with an additional third being substantially impacted. Professions such as mining, engineering and metallurgy, which involve scheduling operations, system testing and model development, stand to benefit from AI-driven efficiencies. Within organizations, functions such as finance, IT and operations exhibit the highest potential for AI augmentation and automation.¹⁵⁹

In the United Arab Emirates, certain job market sectors are expected to witness a gradual transition, with AI increasingly automating manual roles, particularly those centred on documentation and process-driven tasks. Fintech and technology-driven firms are likely to follow the lead of developed markets, such as that of Sweden,

which is increasing use of AI to streamline back-office operations. In parallel, the emergence of highly skilled AI-driven roles is gaining momentum, particularly as Abu Dhabi strengthens its position as a global hub for AI investment and development. This trend is expected to generate job opportunities in AI infrastructure development and other areas. For example, the demand for technology-skilled healthcare professionals is set to rise, driven by AI advancements and evolving healthcare needs. Additionally, industries like marketing, advertising, public relations and digital marketing are emerging as key employment sectors for recent graduates.¹⁶⁰

Al is expected to contribute \$5 billion to the economy in Qatar and create 13,000 new jobs by 2030. The Government's \$2.47 billion investment in digital infrastructure is driving opportunities for tech professionals, particularly in Al, cloud computing and data management. Organizations are seeking professionals with Al expertise, data analytics skills and innovative problem-solving capabilities. While Al will automate certain tasks of lesser skilled workers and is expected to displace many of them, it is also generating demand for specialized roles such as Al engineers, data scientists, and Al trainers, suggesting a net positive impact of Al on job creation.¹⁶¹

D. Al jobs against the realities of overall jobs

As Al adoption is rapidly transforming the employment landscape across the Arab region, the realities of unemployment, underemployment and opportunity disparities bring the need for Al skill development and other elements of Al capacity-building into sharp focus.

The region continues to struggle with deep-rooted gender disparities in workforce participation. In 2024, the labour force participation rate in the Arab region stood at 49 per cent, but only 19 per cent of women were part of the workforce compared to 74 per cent of men. The growth of Al-driven job markets will bring with it the challenge of how to build skill capacity to avoid mirroring this underrepresentation in Al fields and in the industries that become reliant on Al. Women are already significantly underrepresented in these roles. Some economies have implemented policies to improve gender inclusivity in tech, but barriers persist, particularly in access to science, technology, engineering and mathematics education and professional networks, leaving women with higher tech sector unemployment rates (17 per cent) than men (8 per cent).¹⁶²

Youth unemployment and unemployment among the educated also remain pressing issues in the Arab region. More than half of the population across the region are below 30 years of age, and young people account for 40 per cent of the unemployed workforce. The Arab region has the highest global rates of unemployment of young people and the educated. Youth unemployment is exacerbated by the growing disconnect between academic curricula and labour market demands. Despite high enrolment rates in higher education, unemployment rates increase with higher education levels, as many graduates lack the technical skills and competencies sought by employers, particularly in high-growth sectors such as AI, cybersecurity and fintech.¹⁶³

Another labour market consideration frames the importance of capacity-building efforts to prepare workforces in the Arab region with the skills they need for the Al economy. The rate of people not in employment, education or training in the Arab region reached 33 per cent in 2024, the highest globally. Young women are disproportionately affected, with 46 per cent classified as not in employment,



In 2024, the labour force participation rate in the Arab region stood at
49 per cent, but only
19 per cent of women were part of the workforce compared to
74 per cent of men.





Young women are disproportionately affected, with 46 per cent classified as not in employment, education or training compared to 21 per cent of young men.



education or training compared to 21 per cent of young men. The issue is more pronounced in non-GCC economies (39 per cent), where structural unemployment and economic stagnation exacerbate job shortages.¹⁶⁴

1. Basic skills and workforce readiness gaps rooted in local education systems

The region also grapples with basic skill gaps that slow AI adoption. Many universities continue to emphasize theoretical knowledge over applied skills, leaving graduates struggling to transition into a workforce increasingly looking for the skills to apply AI and other technologies in practical contexts. Education systems remain out of sync with market demands, not offering hands-on experience with programming and machine learning. Vocational training programmes are also outdated in their ability to equip students with in-demand AI skills such as natural language processing, deep learning, generative AI and AI-driven automation. A lack of AI apprenticeships, micro-credential programmes, and industry-academic partnerships aggravates this. In some cases, companies seeking to implement AI-driven solutions rely on foreign expertise. These challenges are more pronounced in non-GCC countries, where resource constraints create greater barriers for educational institutions seeking to develop cutting-edge AI training programmes.¹⁶⁵

2. Capacity-building for AI skills is beginning to advance

As skill disruption is becoming increasingly evident, workforce capacity-building efforts are beginning to be seen, at least in the countries most quickly adopting Al.

For example, the United Arab Emirates National AI Strategy 2031 has led to the development of specialized AI literacy programmes, including the United Arab Emirates AI Camp, which trains students and professionals in AI applications, and training initiatives at AI-dedicated Mohammed bin Zayed University of Artificial Intelligence. The United Arab Emirates partnership with Microsoft aims to equip one million individuals with AI skills by 2027. The Saudi Authority for Data and Artificial Intelligence has launched AI-focused training partnerships with Google, IBM and Huawei, aiming to upskill thousands of professionals annually. Under its National Strategy for Data and Artificial Intelligence, Saudi Arabia aims to train 20,000 AI and data specialists by 2030. At the academic level, 86 per cent of universities are offering AI-related undergraduate programmes and government-backed AI academies are upskilling thousands of professionals.¹⁶⁶

Egypt has also taken steps to expand AI education. The Digital Egypt Builders Initiative has been launched in collaboration with the Massachusetts Institute of Technology and Coursera, offering specialized AI training and AI data science certifications to university graduates. Bahrain Polytechnic has introduced AI courses, aligning with the country's broader digital transformation plans. The Mohammed VI Polytechnic University in Morocco is focusing on AI education as well as research, positioning itself as a hub for AI development in North Africa. Overall, region-wide, progress remains uneven and many low-income and middle-income countries lack the resources to implement comprehensive AI skill development capacity-building strategies for their workforces.


As Al adoption accelerates in the Arab region, workforce readiness needs are not the only capacitybuilding imperatives. There are also

governance structure and infrastructure needs,

which must be urgently addressed to enable the region to leverage the full potential of Al.



E. Other key elements of Al capacity-building in the Arab region

As Al adoption accelerates in the Arab region, workforce readiness needs are not the only capacity-building imperatives. There are also governance structure and infrastructure needs, which must be urgently addressed to enable the region to leverage the full potential of Al. Skill education programmes, governance and regulatory frameworks, and infrastructure development for Al in the Arab region represent an intersection between technology, policy and industry. Investments in all three of these elements of Al capacity-building will shaping the role of Al in regional economies, influencing labour markets, innovation ecosystems and digital transformation efforts.¹⁶⁷

Just as there are barriers to the development of Al-related workforce skills faces, such as labour market disparities and the mismatch of education systems to industries' needs, there are also obstacles regarding the Arab region's Al-relevant infrastructure and governance mechanisms.

1. Computing resources and other research and development limitations need attention

One of the most pressing capacity-building demands in the Arab region is insufficiencies in high-performance computing resources and Al-optimized data centres. While some GCC countries like Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates have invested substantially in cloud computing and Al-specific infrastructure, regional supply still trails demand by 40 per cent. Al workloads – particularly in machine learning training and inference tasks – require substantial computing power, yet data centres in the region often lack the specialized hardware to support largescale Al applications.

A significant bottleneck in infrastructure expansion is the shortage of Al chips, with procurement times in the region averaging two years, delaying the deployment of Al-powered solutions. Non-GCC countries face even greater challenges, as many lack basic cloud computing capabilities to support Al model training and deployment. The divide between well-funded Al hubs and lower-income countries raises concerns about economic polarization, as wealthier countries leverage Al for productivity gains while others struggle to integrate even foundational Al technologies. Without significant capacity-building efforts to enhance Al computing resources and make cloud-based Al services accessible, these disparities are likely to deepen.¹⁶⁸

The Arab region also lags behind in other forms of critical AI research infrastructure, patent generation and model development. Compared to global AI hubs, Arab region countries produce far fewer AI research papers and patents. Many of the AI models and applications used in the region are imported from foreign tech firms, rather than being developed domestically. This is due in large part to limitations in relevant laboratory capacity and lack of the tools needed in AI research and development. Despite investment in AI-focused academic programmes and research institutions in some countries in the region, most have yet to establish a robust AI research and development-backed AI research infrastructure – not just buildings and equipment, but also grants, industry-academic partnerships and AI startup incubators – has resulted in



Nearly **50 per cent** of chief executive officers in the Arab region recently identified building the **research and development infrastructure** as an essential focus for reaching **AI goals** between now and **2030**.



limited homegrown AI solutions. Without stronger capacity-building investment in AI research and development infrastructure, countries in the Arab region are at risk of remaining consumers of AI technologies rather than active contributors to the global AI economy.

Nearly 50 per cent of chief executive officers in the Arab region recently identified building this infrastructure as an essential focus for reaching AI goals between now and 2030.¹⁶⁹ Some countries are implementing actions. In August 2024, the United Arab Emirates Government partnered with Microsoft for two new joint AI centres in Abu Dhabi. Saudi Arabia partnered with United States-based semiconductor startup Groq in September 2024. Saudi Arabia aims to create the largest data centre specialized in AI processing in the world. In October 2024, the Saudi Public Investment Fund and Google Cloud declared a strategic partnership for a Public Investment Fund-funded cutting-edge data centre to be operated by Google. Bahrain, Kuwait, Oman and Qatar aim to make similar deals with global tech industry firms. Similar capacity-building in other countries will be essential as the region moves into the future.

2. Al governance and ethical oversight challenges

The lack of a unified AI governance framework is another barrier to adoption in Arab region countries. Unlike the European Union, for example, which has a riskbased regulation model, the Arab region lacks standardized AI policies, leading to inconsistencies across countries. This creates challenges for businesses operating across the region, as each country has different guidelines on privacy, AI-driven decision-making and AI ethics. The absence of standardized data-sharing agreements also limits AI development. AI models require large, diverse datasets for training, but current data localization laws in various countries in the Arab region restrict cross-border AI collaboration. Without harmonized AI policies and regional cooperation, AI innovation in the region will remain fragmented, limiting its ability to compete with global AI leaders.¹⁷⁰

Governments and industry leaders globally are implementing AI governance initiatives that could serve as models for countries in the Arab region, tailored to their unique circumstances and priorities. For example, in addition to the European Union AI Act, which focuses on risk-based AI regulation and transparency, the United States Government recently introduced an AI Bill of Rights establishing principles for safe and ethical AI use. Also in the United States, the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, a non-profit professional association, introduced a set of ethical AI guidelines outlining industry standards for responsible AI development. Bias in AI decision-making, misuse of AI-powered surveillance and a lack of algorithmic transparency are some of the concerns that can be addressed through capacity-building in governance and regulatory frameworks and institutions.¹⁷¹

Al governance capacity-building is beginning to gain traction in the region. For example, the Dubai International Financial Centre has implemented Al principles to regulate Al ethics and usage in financial services. Saudi Arabia has developed an Al ethics framework, emphasizing responsible Al practices, while Egypt has engaged in discussions on Al regulations to address concerns around bias and transparency.¹⁷²

While some industries in the Arab region are rapidly integrating Al-driven solutions, others remain slow to adopt Al due to regulatory as well as financial or workforce



To fully capitalize on Al in the Arab region, it is essential to implement a comprehensive policy **framework** that addresses existing deficiencies in Al-relevant **education**, **infrastructure** and **governance**, all supporting innovation, inclusivity, trust, security and other societal imperatives.



constraints. For example, in healthcare, Al applications such as medical imaging diagnostics, robotic-assisted surgeries and Al-driven patient monitoring could revolutionize the sector, but strict regulatory requirements, alongside the shortage of Al-trained healthcare professionals, have slowed adoption. Similarly, in energy and oil and gas industries, Al-powered predictive maintenance and operational optimization could enhance efficiency, but investment in Al-driven solutions remains limited beyond a few pilot projects, in part due to a policy and regulatory environment that does not adequately incentivize innovation. Most countries in the Arab region lack the policy and governance framework support necessary to build Al-driven economies. Slow movement in this element of Al capacity-building could reinforcing economic disparities and delaying the region's overall Al transformation.

F. A policy framework for Al capacity-building in the Arab region

To fully capitalize on Al in the Arab region, it is essential to implement a comprehensive policy framework that addresses existing deficiencies in Al-relevant education, infrastructure and governance, all supporting innovation, inclusivity, trust, security and other societal imperatives. Such a framework should comprise the following set of strategic pillars aimed at building robust Al capacity, driving sustainable economic growth, and ensuring equitable technological advancement for all.

1. Academic and educational development

- Curriculum enhancement: Integrate AI-focused curricula across all educational levels, emphasizing practical applications to prepare students for the evolving job market. This includes developing modules that cover machine learning, data analytics and AI ethics, ensuring students gain hands-on experience through projects and laboratory work.
- Industry-aligned programmes: Collaborate with private companies and startups to co-develop dynamic Al courses, ensuring alignment with current market demands. Establish advisory boards comprising industry experts to regularly update curricula, reflecting the latest technological advancements and industry requirements.
- Multidisciplinary integration: Introduce programmes that combine AI with sectors such as healthcare, agriculture and logistics, addressing regional priorities. For example, develop courses that explore AI applications in precision farming, medical diagnostics and supply chain optimization, fostering innovation at the intersection of disciplines.
- Experiential learning: Provide access to high-performance computing infrastructure and AI laboratories for hands-on training. Establish partnerships with tech companies to equip institutions with state-of-the-art tools, enabling students to work on real-world datasets and scenarios.
- Inclusive scholarships and fellowships: Offer financial support to underrepresented groups, including women and rural communities, to promote equitable access to AI education. Implement outreach programmes to identify and mentor talented individuals from diverse backgrounds, ensuring inclusivity in AI talent development.

2. Talent development and workforce upskilling

- Accessible learning: Develop flexible online and hybrid courses in partnership with global platforms to make Al education accessible for working professionals. Leverage massive open online courses and virtual classrooms to reach a wider audience, accommodating various learning paces and schedules.
- Workforce training: Encourage government and private sector partnerships to offer AI-specific training for professionals in key industries. Design workshops and certification programmes that address sector-specific AI applications, enhancing productivity and innovation.
- On-the-job training: Incentivize companies to provide apprenticeships and internships to build practical AI skills. Develop frameworks for industry-academia collaboration, allowing students to gain hands-on experience while contributing to organizational projects.
- Lifelong learning: Ensure continuous education opportunities to help the existing workforce adapt to the rapidly evolving AI landscape. Promote a culture of lifelong learning by offering micro-credentials and short courses that enable professionals to update their skills regularly.

3. Digital infrastructure and computational capacity

 Connectivity expansion: Expand broadband access, particularly in underserved areas, to reduce the digital divide and ensure equitable access to Al tools and resources. Implement national initiatives to enhance Internet penetration to facilitate remote learning and inclusion.

- Computing power: Establish regional data centres to provide the necessary computational capacity while maintaining data sovereignty. Invest in scalable cloud infrastructure that supports AI research and development, offering resources to startups and academic institutions.
- Green energy solutions: Support green energy initiatives to power AI systems sustainably, reducing environmental impacts while maintaining computational efficiency.
 Encourage the adoption of energy-efficient hardware and promote research into low-power AI algorithms.

4. Al research and innovation

- Research and development initiatives: Launch joint research initiatives between private companies, academia and Governments. Establish research consortia focused on addressing regional challenges through AI, such as water scarcity, healthcare access and renewable energy.
- Collaborative regional research: Fund regional research on topics like gender bias, linguistic diversity and cultural representation in AI. Create platforms for knowledge exchange and collaborative projects that reflect the Arab region's unique social and cultural contexts.
- Open-source platforms: Develop open-source Al platforms to enable affordable and scalable adoption by startups, SMEs and research institutions. Promote the sharing of code repositories and tools to accelerate innovation and lower entry barriers.
- Data-sharing platforms: Establish a regional data-sharing platform to aggregate high-quality, diverse datasets for Al applications. Ensure data governance frameworks are in place to protect privacy and promote ethical data usage.



5. Al governance and regulation

- Comprehensive policies: Draft policies addressing Al challenges including data privacy, algorithmic transparency, intellectual property and ethics to ensure Al deployment aligns with societal values and legal standards. Make these policies adaptable to evolving technologies.
- Policy alignment: Coordinate policies across countries on gender equity, bias mitigation and cultural sensitivity. Establish regional committees to harmonize regulations and promote best practices in Al governance, ensuring a unified approach to ethical Al deployment.
- Regulatory training: Train policymakers and regulators on Al risks and opportunities to ensure informed decisionmaking. Conduct workshops and seminars to build capacity in understanding Al technologies and their societal implications, fostering a regulatory environment that supports innovation while safeguarding public interests.
- Regulatory sandboxes: Create environments to test innovative AI solutions in critical sectors without imposing full regulatory constraints. These sandboxes will allow for experimentation under controlled conditions, enabling the assessment of new technologies' impact and feasibility before widespread implementation.
- International partnerships: Collaborate with organizations and institutions to align governance frameworks with global best practices while respecting regional contexts. Engage in international dialogues to stay abreast of emerging trends and standards in Al ethics and regulation, ensuring that regional policies are informed by global experiences.

6. Al ethics and bias detection

- Ethical certification: Implement programmes and guidelines to ensure AI systems align with regional cultural and legal norms. Develop certification processes that assess AI applications for ethical compliance and societal impact, promoting public trust in AI.
- Ethics councils: Establish national and regional councils to ensure alignment with cultural, social and legal norms while harmonizing governance standards. These councils should include diverse stakeholders, including ethicists, technologists and community representatives, to provide comprehensive oversight of Al initiatives.
- Bias monitoring: Develop policies for monitoring and mitigating algorithmic bias. Implement auditing mechanisms to evaluate Al systems for fairness and inclusivity, ensuring they do not perpetuate discrimination or reinforce existing inequalities.
- Accountability mechanisms: Require organizations to publish reports on how they address bias in Al applications. Foster accountability through transparency in these

processes and public scrutiny, encouraging continuous improvement in AI system design and deployment.

7. Innovation ecosystems and entrepreneurship

- Startup support: Launch incubators and accelerators to support early-stage AI startups and SMEs with funding, mentorship and access to cutting-edge tools and technologies. These initiatives can stimulate innovation and drive economic growth by nurturing new ideas and facilitating their transition into viable products and services.
- Public-private partnerships: Promote collaborations to foster Al innovation in key industries, focusing on sectors critical to regional economies. Such partnerships can leverage the strengths of both public and private sectors, combining resources and expertise to tackle complex challenges and develop impactful Al solutions.
- Industry-academia collaboration: Foster partnerships to drive applied AI research on regional challenges. Encourage joint projects that bring together academic researchers and industry practitioners to develop practical solutions aligned with real-world needs.
- Regional collaboration: Establish a regional Al research fund to finance innovation and cross-border projects. This fund can support collaborative initiatives that address shared challenges, promote knowledge exchange, and strengthen collective Al capabilities.

8. Al literacy, public awareness and trust building

- Literacy campaigns: Conduct public campaigns to address misconceptions and build trust in AI applications. Campaigns should provide clear and accurate information about AI technologies' benefits and potential risks, helping demystify AI and alleviate public concerns.
- Localized outreach: Use regional dialects and culturally relevant examples to highlight the role of Al in solving local issues. Tailoring communication strategies to resonate with diverse audiences can enhance understanding and acceptance of Al across different communities.
- Governance education: Launch initiatives to educate the public about safeguards in place to protect their rights and ensure ethical Al use. Transparency about regulatory frameworks and ethical guidelines can foster public confidence in Al systems and their governance.
- Community engagement: Organize forums to educate citizens on the societal benefits of AI while addressing

concerns about job displacement and privacy risks. Engaging directly with communities allows for open dialogue, enabling stakeholders to voice their concerns and contribute to shaping Al policies that reflect societal values.

 Inclusive design: Ensure AI solutions are designed to serve all demographic groups, including those with limited technical literacy. Inclusive design principles ensure that AI tools are accessible and beneficial to all, promoting equity in the distribution of their advantages.

9. Cybersecurity and AI safety

- National frameworks: Develop comprehensive cybersecurity frameworks tailored to AI applications, addressing data privacy, adversarial attacks and system vulnerabilities. These frameworks should establish standards and best practices for securing AI systems against emerging threats, ensuring their safe and reliable operation.
- Training programmes: Equip AI professionals with the skills to secure systems against emerging threats. Offer specialized training programmes on topics such as secure coding practices, threat modelling and incident response, building a workforce for maintaining robust AI security.
- Global collaborations: Partner internationally to access the latest cybersecurity tools and practices. Global collaborations allow for the sharing of knowledge and resources, and will enhance the Arab region's capacity to protect Al systems against sophisticated threats.
- Regional task forces: Establish collaborative efforts across countries to share best practices, monitor threats, and respond to emerging risks. Task forces can facilitate realtime information exchange and coordinated responses to incidents affecting AI systems.

10. Funding and resource mobilization

- National budgets: Allocate specific budgets for Al capacitybuilding, ensuring sustained investment in education, infrastructure and research initiatives. Governments should prioritize funding for Al projects that align with national development and national vision goals and that have the potential for significant societal impact.
- International funding: Seek grants and investment from international organizations and development agencies to support Al initiatives. Engaging with global funding bodies can provide resources and foster partnerships that will enhance the region's Al capabilities.
- Private sector engagement: Encourage private sector investment in AI through incentives such as tax breaks,

grants and public recognition. Creating a favourable investment climate can stimulate corporate contributions to AI development and application.

• Public-private partnerships: Foster collaborations between government entities and private companies to pool resources for large-scale AI projects. These partnerships can leverage the strengths of both sectors to drive innovation and address complex challenges.

11. Gender inclusivity in Al

- Representation in decision-making: Ensure that women and underrepresented groups are included in governance councils and policymaking bodies. This inclusion will foster diverse perspectives, leading to more comprehensive and equitable AI policies.
- Policies for equitable AI: Draft regulations that promote gender equity in AI development and deployment. Policies should mandate rigorous consideration of gender and intersectional impacts throughout the entire AI system's lifecycle, design to development to governance. Such frameworks ensure marginalized communities, particularly women and gender minorities, are involved in shaping AI initiatives' priorities, processes and outcomes.
- Gender-equity in workplace policies: Encourage organizations to adopt gender-equity policies, such as equal pay, flexible work arrangements and anti-harassment policies. These measures create an inclusive work environment that attracts and retains diverse talent, essential for innovative Al development.
- Diversity in Al teams: Promote gender diversity in Al development teams to minimize unconscious biases in system design. A diverse team is more likely to identify and address potential biases, leading to fairer Al outcomes.
- Incentives for private sector engagement: Provide tax incentives or grants to companies that achieve gender equity targets in their AI teams. This approach encourages the private sector to prioritize diversity and inclusion, contributing to a more balanced AI workforce.
- Training programmes: Integrate gender bias awareness into Al education and training programmes, in both academic institutions and industry. Educating stakeholders about the implications of gender bias in Al fosters the development of more equitable technologies.
- Workshops for developers: Conduct workshops for Al developers on designing algorithms that actively mitigate gender bias in datasets and decision-making. These workshops can provide practical tools and methodologies to identify and reduce bias in Al systems.



A phased and tiered strategy for Al capacity-building can be designed to be both adaptive and inclusive, ensuring that each country can progress according to its unique circumstances while benefiting from regional collaboration.



12. Linguistic and cultural representation in AI

- Culturally representative AI: Ensure that governance frameworks promote the creation of AI systems that reflect the multilingual and multicultural diversity of the Arab region, making them relevant and equitable for all populations. This involves developing AI that recognizes and respects local contexts and cultural nuances.
- Dialect-specific natural language processing research: Invest in natural language processing research focusing on regional Arabic dialects and minority languages.
- Diverse datasets: Partner with linguists and cultural experts to create datasets representing the full diversity of the Arab region, including culture, gender, ethnicity, socioeconomic status and geography. Diverse datasets are key for training AI systems that are fair and unbiased.

G. A phased and tiered approach

The Arab region is a mosaic of cultural, economic and technological landscapes, each country presenting unique strengths and challenges in the realm of Al. The United Arab Emirates and Saudi Arabia have made significant investments in Al infrastructure and research. Other countries in the region are at earlier stages of Al adoption, facing challenges such as limited digital infrastructure, skill gaps and data privacy concerns. These disparities necessitate a phased and tiered strategy for Al capacity-building, tailored to each nation's specific context. By fostering collaboration, more advanced countries can share knowledge, resources and best practices with those in earlier stages, ensuring that all countries in the region can participate in and benefit from the Al-driven future. A phased and tiered strategy for Al capacity-building can be designed to be both adaptive and inclusive, ensuring that each country can progress according to its unique circumstances while benefiting from regional collaboration.

Phase 1 – Short term: Focus on establishing foundational infrastructure and basic governance frameworks, initiating public awareness campaigns, and fostering grassroots innovation.

- Foundational infrastructure: Develop essential digital infrastructure, including high-speed Internet access and data centres, to support Al initiatives.
- Governance frameworks: Establish regulatory bodies and policies to oversee Al development and ensure ethical practices.
- Public awareness: Launch campaigns to educate the public on the benefits and potential of AI, encouraging acceptance and engagement.
- Grassroots innovation: Support local startups and innovators through funding and mentorship programs to stimulate AI solutions addressing regional challenges.

Phase 2 – Medium term: Aim to strengthen talent pipelines, develop regional data ecosystems, implement robust cybersecurity measures, and enhance regional collaboration.

- Talent development: Invest in education and training programmes to cultivate a skilled AI workforce.
- Data ecosystems: Create shared data platforms to facilitate research and development across borders.
- Cybersecurity: Implement measures to protect data integrity and build trust in Al systems.

 Regional collaboration: Foster partnerships among countries in the Arab region to share knowledge, resources and best practices.

Phase 3 – Long term: Focus on scaling Al research hubs, establishing cross-border partnerships, and integrating Al into both traditional and emerging industries.

- Al research hubs: Develop centres of excellence to drive innovation and attract global talent.
- Cross-border partnerships: Collaborate with international entities to grow AI market reach.
- Industry integration: Embed AI solutions into sectors like healthcare, agriculture and finance to boost efficiency and productivity.

Tier – Higher-income countries: Concentrate on advanced AI research, cloud computing infrastructure and leadership in AI ethics.

- Advanced research: Invest in cutting-edge AI technologies and applications.
- Cloud computing: Develop scalable infrastructure to support large-scale Al operations.
- Ethical leadership: Establish frameworks to guide responsible AI development and use.

Tier – Middle-income countries: Prioritize talent development, affordable infrastructure and empowerment of SMEs.

- Talent development: Enhance educational programmes to build a competent AI workforce.
- Affordable infrastructure: Ensure access to needed tools and platforms for Al development.
- SME empowerment: Support SMEs in adopting AI to improve competitiveness.

Tier – Least developed countries and conflict-affected countries: Leverage regional and global partnerships, utilize open-source Al tools, and implement digital inclusion initiatives.

- Partnerships: Collaborate with neighbouring countries and global organizations to share resources and expertise.
- Open-source tools: Adopt cost-effective AI solutions to overcome budget constraints.
- Digital inclusion: Implement programmes to ensure all communities benefit from Al.

Employment and Al adoption challenges in the Arab region are deeply intertwined. Addressing these issues requires a multi-faceted approach, including workforce reskilling, investment in Al-ready infrastructure, inclusive Al governance and industry-academia partnerships. By adopting a phased and tiered technology-driven policy framework, economies in the region can bridge skill gaps, accelerate Al adoption, and position themselves as global leaders in the digital economy.

H. Metrics and evaluation for Al capacity-building in the Arab region

To effectively monitor and assess the progress of Al capacitybuilding initiatives in the Arab region, clear metrics and evaluation frameworks must be established. These metrics should be tailored to the phased and tiered strategy, ensuring that each country's unique context is considered. Key performance indicators might include:

1. Infrastructure development

- Digital connectivity: Track the percentage of the population with access to high-speed Internet, aiming for universal coverage.
- Data centre capacity: Measure total data centre capacity (in megawatts) to support Al operations, with targets adjusted for each country's needs.

2. Talent, education and skill development

• Al workforce growth: Monitor the number of professionals trained in Al-related fields, with a focus on annual growth rates.

• Educational programmes: Assess the number and quality of Al-focused educational programmes at universities and technical institutes.

3. Research and innovation

- Published research: Count the number of AI research papers published in reputable journals by institutions within the region.
- Patents: Track the number of Al-related patents filed annually as an indicator of innovation.

4. Industry adoption

- Al integration in businesses: Evaluate the percentage of businesses adopting Al solutions across various sectors.
- SME engagement: Measure the involvement of SMEs in Al initiatives, ensuring inclusivity.

5. Policy and governance

- Regulatory frameworks: Count the number of Al policies and ethical guidelines developed and implemented. Benchmark against global standards, accounting for regional differences.
- Data privacy compliance: Monitor adherence to data privacy regulations for responsible Al.

6. Public awareness and inclusivity

• Awareness campaign reach: Gauge the effectiveness of public awareness campaigns by measuring audience reach and engagement levels.

 Digital inclusion: Track the reduction in the digital divide, focusing on marginalized communities' access to AI benefits.

Regular evaluations using these metrics will provide insights into the effectiveness of Al capacity-building efforts and will allow for timely adjustments to strategies and help ensure that the initiatives lead to sustainable and inclusive growth across the Arab region.

I. Recommendations aligned with capacity-building

Four recommendations were identified that are drawn directly from the twelve-pillar policy framework for Al capacitybuilding outlined above, and that align with recommendations and analysis outlined in three pathways for Al development in the Arab region outlined in chapters 2, 3 and 4. They are not exclusive in their relevance to the pathways, as they could also be supportive of other pathways that policymakers and other leaders might pursue.



Develop a region-wide interconnected set of programmes to train individuals with the skills needed to work as users and developers of Al throughout the private and public sectors

Substantial numbers of new jobs will be created in the Arab region from the advancement of Al. Even larger numbers of existing jobs will change because Al tools and applications will be integrated into workers' tasks and responsibilities. Millions of people need skills they do not yet possess to use Al in their daily work or to become developers of Al. Governments and other entities in the region are already creating programmes for Al-related skill development. This recommendation proposes an initiative in which these programmes collaborate with one another and also help establish similar programmes in countries that do not yet have them.¹⁷³

Countries with already-established Al skill development programmes could act as regional hubs, hosting training classes and other activities (in person and remotely) for people from other countries. Equitable regional representation should be ensured via quotas for placements in the classes for each country. One focus area for skill building should be technical (Al development and building Al systems, targeting university and institute graduates of computer science, data science, data analytics). A second should be Al use in workplace applications (targeting people already holding jobs, with affirmative action for women and for university-educated men and women not currently in the workforce). A third should be on intermediate digital skills for everyday contexts (with affirmative action for women, young people and informal sector workers).

Alongside hub-hosted training activities, individual country Al skill development initiatives should liaise to share best practices, lessons learned, and curricula and materials. Hubs and individual country programmes should partner with local and multinational corporations; global educational programmes and providers for content and certificates; and with regional entities. Links for job placements should be established between the tech startup sector in Arab region countries, as well as universities and organizations in other sectors, to promote brain retention for programme graduates instead of brain drain from the region.



Implement legislation in Arab region countries to provide safety nets for workers displaced due to AI and to establish fair work conditions for digital freelance and gig labour as it is increasingly impacted by AI

While the expansion of generative AI and language models will create new work opportunities, two negative outcomes are also anticipated: job loss for potentially large numbers of people whose work will be replaced by automation, and freelance digital work that does not offer fair work conditions. With respect to the latter, freelance and gig work is growing everywhere in the world. More than 30 per cent of professionals in Arab region countries are undertaking freelance work, and freelance registrations increased by around 142 per cent from 2022 to 2023 in a wide variety of sectors of the economy. Many of these workers have seen their roles dramatically impacted since the release of ChatGPT in ways like downward pressure on pay rates due to competition from Al.¹⁷⁴

Countries in the Arab region should allocate or acquire funding and then design and implement programmes that provide safety nets for workers who lose their jobs to automation. Mechanisms could be in the form of cash transfers conditional on joining training programmes to upskill workers or on starting entrepreneurial activity within a specified period of time. Specific programmes could be established for displaced women workers in countries where they are anticipated to bear the brunt of workplace shocks stemming from Al. Labour laws should be revised to adopt clear definitions of digital freelance and gig work and these workers should be included in national labour market surveys to ensure their proper inclusion in national policymaking. Once these definitions and inclusions are established, labour laws should be further revised to include digital freelance and gig workers in national social protection schemes. Digital platform owners should be incentivized to adopt practices for their workers, following principles of fair pay, conditions, contracts, management and representation.

Models exist that could be looked to for designing safety nets for jobs lost due to Al in Arab region countries. For example, Uzbekistan mandates employers to comply with employment termination mechanisms recommended by the International Labour Organization to provide displaced workers a monthly average salary for up to two months as they search for a new job. In Indonesia, a job loss insurance programme provides displaced workers "financial assistance, reskilling opportunities, and job placement services".¹⁷⁵ Fairwork, an action-research project working on work standards in the platform economy around the world, has done research on how to set fair, inclusive and dignified standards for digital freelance and gig workers. Models already exist in some Arab region countries that could be adapted or expanded to support Al-displaced workers. For example, the United Arab Emirates has a form of insurance that provides financial support for workers in government-sector roles as well as private sector if they are terminated by their employers. In January 2025, the Government of Tunisia began consideration of a new law that would provide lost wages and other benefits such as healthcare insurance coverage and reskilling training for individuals laid off from their jobs.



Develop and implement programmes to build open-source AI skills for regional developers and users and networks to foster innovation collaborations among them

Open-source AI allows countries to develop their own technology with greater ease and greater diversity of innovation inputs, reducing reliance on for-profit external providers and giving countries more control over their digital future. Open-source models can be more readily adapted to local languages, industries and priorities than proprietary AI, without restrictions. This makes AI development more accessible, not requiring owning expensive servers or having a major AI company. As the open-source market has grown from \$8 billion in 2019 to \$100 billion by 2025, the region has an opportunity to use it to shape AI in ways that serve its needs.¹⁷⁶

Training programmes focused on how to engage in and leverage open-source Al innovation would enable thousands of professionals, students and researchers to take part in this collective effort, strengthening local expertise and expanding economic opportunities. Training should focus on practical skills to develop, adapt and apply open-source Al. Participants of the training programmes should learn how to contribute to shared AI projects, customize models for local use, and integrate Al into industries such as healthcare, finance and governance, in their own languages and regional context. Use of networking technologies, blockchain applications and AI frameworks should be core topics. The demand for these skills is already growing, with nearly half of hiring managers seeking networking expertise and 55 per cent prioritizing formal training. To ensure responsible development, people in these training programmes will also need to understand the security, governance and ethical considerations related to integrating code from external sources into their work. This will be particularly important for open-source-developed applications being used in sensitive use cases involving, for example, users' personally identifiable information or other personal data, or provision of services impacting public safety.



Foster a synergistic Al-enabled tech sector throughout the Arab region through training in innovation management

A strong Al ecosystem depends not just on engineers but also on professionals who can connect technology with realworld needs. Innovation managers play a key role in making Al development align with market demand, user needs and national priorities. Without expertise in business strategy, funding and commercialization, Al research can struggle to create meaningful impact.¹⁷⁷

Innovation management training should build competencies in developers and entrepreneurs that support AI commercialization and adoption. Programmes should teach market analysis, business model development and funding strategies to help AI projects transition from research to scalable solutions. Training should also emphasize user-driven design, ensuring that AI apps are developed with real-world usability in mind. Additional focus areas should include managing intellectual property, forming partnerships, and integrating AI with existing business structures.

The global economy is already in early stages of a transformative evolution through convergence of technological advancements in AI, virtual reality, blockchain and robotics. Combining generative AI and other types of AI with these technologies will unlock unique, interactive digital experiences across sectors such as retail, financial services and healthcare. Innovation management training programmes created under this recommendation should provide participants a baseline understanding of these other technology areas and how they leverage AI. They should provide skills for conceiving and operationalizing business models for new product and service innovations at the intersections of AI, VR, blockchain and robotics.

Governments should collaborate with local universities, research institutions and industry to develop specialized programmes in innovation management. Programmes should be accessible to both technical and non-technical professionals, ensuring that AI researchers, policymakers and business leaders can work together effectively. Training should incorporate case studies, project-based learning and mentorship from industry experts to provide hands-on experience.



Key findings, key messages, and recommendations

In this section, drawn from the four preceding chapters, are key findings, key messages and recommendations, organized by the type of recommendation that each primarily represents. Most recommendations have more than one dimension. For example, some policy recommendations also encompass an investment dimension or a technical dimension. Similarly, some investment or technical recommendations also encompass a policy dimension.

Each recommendation also indicates the categories of key stakeholders that will be instrumental in carrying the actions forward. Stakeholder types noted are national-level policymakers, State and municipal-level government officials, private sector, civil society organizations, international governmental organizations and international finance institutions, and academia. Finally, each recommendation also supports one or more of the SDGs.

Policy, legislative, and regulatory recommendations (P)



🕞 Key finding

Many countries are implementing regulations to ensure the alignment of artificial intelligence (Al) with their societies' ethics and values, and to manage the safety and security of Al systems. However, fewer than 10 per cent of the 138 countries surveyed score above 50 on an index (1–100) on responsible Al measures.

🔁 Key message

Establishing standards for ethics, safety and security before globally-sourced models and applications are readily accessible in the Arab region's Al ecosystem will help ensure countries can leverage the benefits of Al in ways that align with the region's cultures and values.

Recommendation

Draft, adopt, and implement an "Arab Region Charter for Responsible AI" as a foundation for ethics, safety and security in the local development of Al and in adaptations of partners' AI innovations, as well as in the use of Al applications from any source.

•ဇ္ဘိ• Key stakeholders

National-level policymakers, intergovernmental organizations and international finance institutions, academia.



🖳 Key finding

More than 80 countries around the world, with a high degree of diversity in terms of their geographies, cultures and industrialization levels, are actively developing AI capabilities, models and applications with a focus on innovation.

P Key message

Innovations from a wide variety of sources will enable entrepreneurs, corporate leaders, Governments and others in the Arab region to ensure their adaptations of AI are the best available solutions with the maximum potential to improve over time in service of local priorities.

Recommendation

Diversify partnerships for Al innovation to include a wide range of countries from the Global South, especially Africa, including triangular cooperation alliances that also involve international organizations, high income countries and businesses.

•🔆 Key stakeholders

National-level policymakers, private sector, intergovernmental organizations and international finance institutions, State and municipal government officials.

The ability of AI to expand access to education and create personalized adaptive learning experiences can improve job skill development. Nineteen Arab region countries joined together with the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization in an initiative to promote the integration of AI tools into their national education systems.

🔁 Key message

 1 man
 4 man
 5 mm
 8 mm
 9 mm
 10 mm
 1

New means of training and education enabled by AI will make job skill development available to millions of people, helping solve one of the fundamental problems contributing to unemployment and underemployment in the Arab region.

Recommendation

Establish a region-wide job skill programme leveraging Al tools to empower and enable the demographic wealth of the region for future work and entrepreneurship.

∘¦ẳ₀ Key stakeholders

National-level policymakers, State and municipal government officials, private sector, civil society organizations, intergovernmental organizations and international finance institutions, academia.

1 mm 2 mm 3 mmm 4 mmm 5 mmm 6 mmm 7 mmm 8 mmm 9 mmm 10 mmm 11 mmm 12 mmm 12 mmm 13 mmm 13 mmm 13 mmm 13 mmm 13 mmm 15 mmm 16 mmm 17 mmm 17 mmm 17 mmm 17 mmm 17 mmm 17 mmm 18 mmm 18 mmm 18 mmm 17 mmm 18 mm

E Key finding

In 2023, there was a 59 per cent rise over 2022 in the number of open-source Al projects on the most popular open-source site, and nearly two thirds of the Al foundation models released were open-source. Data regulations around the world are increasingly being structured to protect individuals' privacy while also promoting open-source innovation.

Key message

Given the foundational role of data in enabling AI innovation, opening up data sharing across the Arab region in a structured way will fuel solutions to the SDGs. Concurrently, the individuals and organizations generating data must be protected.

Recommendation

Harmonize data legislation across the region to promote sharing of data on open-source platforms, encouraging Al innovation for advancing the SDGs.

ංඤ්• Key stakeholders

National-level policymakers, private sector, civil society organizations, academia.



A growing number of Al and other digital platforms and tools perform social listening functions as a means of increasing public participation in governance and policy decision-making in communities and in humanitarian operations.

🔁 Key message

The data collection and analysis capabilities of Al can amplify citizen voices in decision-making processes both in matters of everyday societal governance and in disasters or other situations where Governments or other parties need urgent citizen input to ensure responsiveness and equitable outcomes.

Recommendation

Employ AI tools in social listening applications to enhance citizen-government engagement, social cohesion, and disaster and other humanitarian relief efforts.

🔆 Key stakeholders

National-level policymakers, State and municipal-level government officials, private sector, civil society organizations.

E Key finding

Around 35 per cent of businesses have adopted Al technologies in their operations and job roles, and another 42 per cent are considering Al for future implementation. Al is being used by more than 50 per cent of companies with over 5,000 employees. Job roles in 90 per cent of government organizations surveyed globally are already using or exploring using Al.

Key message

Jobs in every sector in every country in the Arab region are already integrating Al and its usage will increase rapidly over the next decade, creating a mismatch between workers' skills and the skills they need, which needs to be addressed.

Recommendation

Develop a region-wide interconnected set of programmes to train individuals with the skills needed to work as users and developers of Al in job roles throughout the private and public sectors.

୍ଦ 🔆 Key stakeholders

National-level policymakers, State and municipal-level government officials, private sector, civil society organizations, academia.

An expected 83 million jobs will be lost globally as a result of AI, while 69 million new jobs will be created. Generative AI has the potential to automate up to 300 million full-time jobs in the United States and Europe. Arab region countries can expect similar levels of job loss impacts, relative to the sizes of their job markets.

🔁 Key message

The unemployment and underemployment situation in many countries in the Arab region will be exacerbated by job displacement from Al across all sectors. Actions to help people maintain their quality of life are needed as they take steps to secure new jobs, including jobs that might be created by Al development.

Recommendation

Implement legislation in Arab region countries to provide safety nets for workers displaced due to Al and establish fair working conditions for digital freelance and gig labour as it is increasingly impacted by Al.

ంస్లీ• Key stakeholders

National-level policymakers, State and municipal-level government officials, private sector, civil society organizations.

Technical recommendations (T)



E Key finding

At least 15 ESCWA member States have national visions or were developing one in 2024, and the majority have adopted the vision of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development in these national development plans. More than half of ESCWA member States also have national Al strategies, and others are working on strategies or other nationallevel Al frameworks or guidance.

Key message

Structured mechanisms for aligning Al innovation initiatives with specific national goals and for measuring their results over time will help public sector officials and other leaders harness the full power and potential of Al for the improvement of societal wellbeing.

Recommendation

Devise and adopt a tool that countries in the Arab region can use to operationalize linkages between their Al strategies and national visions or long-term development plans.

هُنْ⊷ Key stakeholders

National-level policymakers, State and municipal government officials, academia.

4 such 4 such 4 such 5 such

E Key finding

The main Internet source of training data for most large language models is between 50–70 per cent in English. Arabic language websites represent less than 1 per cent of the world's total, and Arabic is not in the top 15 languages represented online.

🗩 Key message

Lack of available digital data and content in the Arabic language will threaten the region's place in the global digital economy and impede efforts to preserve and promote Arab cultures.

Recommendation

Scale Arabic language digital content for AI models and applications by promoting the production and curation of Arabic multimedia outputs, connecting and opening Arabic digital knowledge platforms and archives, and supporting production of localized datasets.

ංඤූ්• Key stakeholders

National-level policymakers, State and municipal government officials, private sector, civil society organizations, academia.

4 BUTH Image: Strategy of the strategy of the

E Key finding

The number of Arabic language-centric large language models in development is growing but efforts face challenges that are specific to the language, including dialect and colloquial differences and a shortage of Arabic digital data. Smaller models have been proven to be highly capable of leveraging customized local datasets for Al applications adapted for linguistic and cultural relevance.

Key message

Al models and applications reflecting the full range of Arabic dialects will unlock billions of dollars in economic opportunities throughout the region and open the digital economy to millions of Arab region residents currently at its margins, many of whom represent the next generation of the region's Al and digital workforce.

Recommendation

Coordinate public and private sector efforts to develop generative AI tools built on Arabic language-centric content within an ecosystem of small and large language models and action models that are reflective of diverse dialects and other cultural contexts.

•ٍ¢ Key stakeholders

National-level policymakers, private sector, civil society organizations, intergovernmental organizations and international finance institutions, academia.



Successfully advancing complex research requires diverse research capabilities, perspectives and access to resources. International collaborative efforts have been proven to contribute to the growth of science, knowledge and innovation.

🗩 Key message

Sharing of knowledge and expertise among researchers and innovators with diverse perspectives and backgrounds will accelerate AI and other scientific and technical outcomes in the Arab region while also promoting beneficial cultural exchange.

Recommendation

Establish a regional Al researcher exchange programme.

ංඤ්• Key stakeholders

National-level policymakers, private sector, academia.



E Key finding

Al models generally perform better when trained and used in a user's native language, with superior understanding of nuances and cultural context generating more accurate and relevant responses. However, their performance is highly dependent on the quality and quantity of training data and other factors.

Key message

As digital tools increasingly become the norm for the provision of many essential government services, and more such tools use Arabic dialects to improve accessibility and quality of services for citizens and residents, officials must have confidence that the AI models powering the tools are as effective as the top global models.

Recommendation

Establish a rigorous testing and evaluation programme to validate Arabic language large language models for preferred use in the provision of government services in the Arab region countries.

ංඤ්• Key stakeholders

National-level policymakers, State and municipal-level government officials, private sector, academia.

Investment recommendations (I)



E Key finding

The culture sector comprises 6 per cent of the global economy with estimated annual revenues of more than \$4 trillion per year. In the Arab region, cultural heritage tourism and other forms of tourism was a \$275 billion market in 2024, projected to grow to more than \$450 billion by 2034. While countries in the region are investing billions in Al-enabled culture and tourism initiatives, there are no notable multi-country or region-wide efforts.

🔁 Key message

Shared efforts and shared resources on Al for cultural heritage preservation will fuel multi-billion dollar opportunities in Arab region countries' creative sectors and build bonds of recognition and empathy across the region's diverse populations and with international peers.

Recommendation

Establish a regional fund for designing and implementing a region-wide collaborative project and platform on "Arab cultural heritage: past, present and future – enabled with Al".

ංඤූ්ං Key stakeholders

National-level policymakers, State and municipal government officials, private sector, civil society organizations, academia.



E Key finding

Agriculture- and foodrelated use cases are the second highest growth area for Al development after healthcare. More than 50 Al use cases are impacting the SDGs, mostly related to agriculture and food security, offering improvements in optimizing water usage, crop monitoring, yield management, input cost savings, reducing waste and others.

• Key message

Strengthening the Arab region's capacity for food security can lead to addressing other critical SDG challenges. Al has unique abilities to power future means of ensuring sustainable agricultural practices and sustainable food supply chains.

Recommendation

Establish a network for regional research on Al for sustainable agriculture, linking and scaling promising initiatives and Al innovations that address food security.

هُنْ⊷ Key stakeholders

National-level policymakers, private sector, civil society organizations, academia.

E Key finding

Open-source Al usage among developers and researchers is rising substantially, with many preferring open-source frameworks over proprietary options. More than 80 per cent of companies are building 25 per cent or more of their Al tools on open-source platforms, and thousands of software development teams around the world have experimented with open-source Al.

🗩 Key message

Open-source AI allows entrepreneurs and others to fully customize their work without relying on infrastructure or other resources beyond their control, enabling them to learn from a global community and adapt their applications and innovations to suit unique situations and specific local requirements.

Recommendation

Develop and implement programmes to build opensource AI skills for regional developers and users and to build networks to foster innovation collaborations.

۰﴾ Key stakeholders

National-level policymakers, State and municipal-level government officials, private sector, civil society organizations, academia.

4 that 5 there of a scale of a sc

E Key finding

Combining different digital technologies in new ways creates whole new industries and societal advancements, from ride-sharing (combining smartphones, geolocation and secure payment) to smart cities (combining machine learning, 5G, cloud computing and more) and many others. Innovation management training across a range of industry sectors improves companies' and individuals' ability to conceive and realize innovations.

Key message

Alongside the development of necessary Al-specific technical skills, training on the business and innovation management aspects of the broader ecosystem of interrelated digital technologies like Metaverse and blockchain will enable entrepreneurs in the Arab region to identify and create new opportunities to drive meaningful local economic growth.

Recommendation

Foster a synergistic Al-enabled tech sector throughout the Arab region through training in innovation management.

•🔆 Key stakeholders

National-level policymakers, State and municipal-level government officials, private sector, civil society organizations, academia.

goami/via adobe stock

)

C

10

1

••

Annex 1. Illustrative adaptations of AI for selected national vision goal areas in Arab region countries

The breadth and diversity of goals across the national visions of Arab region countries are considerable. The ways in which Al could be most meaningfully adapted will be different for different goals and different countries. Understanding and considering what Al adaptations to national goals might look like can help inform leaders' thinking and decision-making. Several such adaptations are provided below as illustrative case studies. They depict what might be possible in the future, and in some cases, what is already being explored. In each case, the illustrations describe why the areas of effort are distinctively important in the Arab region; how Al can help create new kinds of valuable outcomes; and examples of where countries are already adapting Al innovations in these areas.

These case studies were selected because the goal areas – transportation, water resource management and energy – are represented in some Arab region countries' national visions. The aim with these case studies is not to be prescriptive, but rather, illuminative. Each country will make decisions about which national vision goals to focus on as top AI adaptation priorities, in the near term and over time as AI continues to advance.

Adapting AI transportation sector goals: traffic and congestion management

Traffic congestion in large cities around the world, including Cairo, Baghdad and Riyadh, is a growing concern. Negative impacts include high carbon emissions, health conditions caused by emissions and workers' lost productive time. It impedes national vision goals of environmental sustainability, healthy populations and economic growth. An average car trip in Dubai takes 30 per cent longer than it should due to traffic congestion. Urban transportation systems in the Arab region on average score 34 out of a possible of 60 in terms of efficiency. Residents of Riyadh lost nearly 90 hours of productive time in traffic in 2023.¹⁷⁸ A number of Al innovations have already been developed and are in stages of being deployed in cities around the world that can help reduce traffic congestion and its negative impacts. The majority of these tools focus on predictive traffic modelling, analysing large volumes of historical and real-time data to enable urban transit officials to take actions in real time, such as adjusting traffic signal timings in anticipation of congestion conditions. Tools and algorithms can analyse data on public transportation usage in real time to adjust train and bus frequencies and make other adjustments in supply relative to demand. Improved public transit effectiveness can be a contributing factor in people shifting from personal automobile usage, improving traffic congestion problems. Another example of the growing future impact of Al on traffic congestion is the monitoring of highway traffic with Al sensors, enabling push notifications to motorists of incidents to enable them to reroute to avoid unexpected congestion. As e-commerce grows in cities and streets are increasingly congested by delivery trucks, Al can be used as it is in Rotterdam, the Netherlands, "to optimize the movement of freight trucks and ensure that their delivery occurs on time without jamming the city streets".¹⁷⁹

Adaptation of AI to address traffic congestion is growing around the world, helping countries make progress on goals like reducing carbon emissions and improving quality of life for urban residents. The German cities of Mönchengladbach and Hamm are using a product that monitors traffic from deployment sites at intersections and along stretches of road. The system controls the timing of traffic lights and can detect when approaching emergency vehicles require a sustained wave of green lights to respond to incidents. The city of Verona in Italy is piloting a similar AI-driven intelligent sensor system: "by integrating data from radar and cameras within each sensor, the AI enables the system to classify different types of vehicles, bringing a new reliable level of precision to traffic tracking and management".¹⁸⁰

Al adaptations for traffic congestion management are making headway in the Arab region. In Abu Dhabi, the Government's Integrated Transport Centre is engaged in two projects with Google. One collects and analyses data at intersections, while the second uses Google's Al platform with large datasets from Google Maps to "predict traffic patterns and develop proactive plans to minimize them".¹⁸¹ In Saudi Arabia, the Arriyadh Development Authority has embarked on a \$100 million project with the United States -based company TransCore for an Al-driven traffic control system at 350 intersections in Riyadh. The system "combines data, real-time communications, and analytics to handle traffic conditions" for day-to-day management and to help agencies coordinate responses to emergencies.¹⁸²

Adapting AI to transportation sector goals: road safety

Road safety is an acute problem in the Arab region. The Arab region in 2019 had the highest traffic death rate in the world at 17.7 deaths per 100,000 people per year. Efforts are underway in a number of countries to address the problem, focusing on factors like driving behaviour, infrastructure issues and stronger enforcement of traffic laws. Al innovations can play a role. Enhancing road safety would save lives and also generate significant economic upside, projected in GCC countries alone at 3,000 fewer deaths per year and a savings of \$250 billion over 20 years through lower material losses, lower healthcare related and insurance costs, and other factors.¹⁸³

The same kinds of AI applications that optimize traffic flow to reduce congestion can also provide road safety benefits. For example, AI analysis of traffic data can not only predict gridlock before it emerges but also identify high-risk stretches of road where accidents are more likely to occur, enabling urban planners to reengineer these areas. The International Road Assessment Programme, a United Kingdom-based non-profit, has begun implementing this in its AI for Road Safety project. The project uses machine learning to analyse an extensive database of geolocated crash, road attribute and other data to generate risk maps of road networks and assign safety performance metrics to areas within the road networks. Planners in cities globally can use these assessments to design and build safety improvements to roads and streets.

There are a number of other AI applications that can increase road safety. Some focus on analysing and influencing driver behaviour, or triggering automations in a vehicle to act on the driver's behalf. A growing number of newly produced cars have built in AI-powered advanced driver-assistance systems like adaptive cruise control, automated emergency braking and pedestrian detection that can analyse data from cameras, sensors and radar to make split-second decisions that help prevent accidents. Another recent innovation is AI dashboard cameras that monitor and warn against drivers' actions that may create hazardous conditions, such as mobile phone usage or erratic or aggressive lane changes. In July 2022, the General Safety Regulation of the

European Union legislation mandated the inclusion of these AI technologies in new vehicles. One is intelligent speed assistance, which "informs, warns, and discourages the driver from exceeding the local speed limit". Another is driver monitoring systems, which "use cameras and AI to track eye movement, head position, and facial expressions, and alert drivers when signs of distraction or drowsiness are detected".¹⁸⁴

Al road safety innovation is beginning to emerge in the Arab region. One example is from Saudi Arabian startup Hazen. They have developed Al-powered video analysis software deployable along roads and streets that "can spot everything from sudden lane changes, to drivers not wearing seatbelts or using phones".¹⁸⁵ Their technology is in use in Egypt, Oman and Saudi Arabia, and is poised to begin operations in Argentina, Nigeria and the United Kingdom. It received an award from the International Road Federation in 2020 for the impact it is already having and the potential for that impact to scale in support of public safety goals.¹⁸⁶

Adapting AI to water sector goals: wastewater treatment

The Arab region is the most water-stressed region in the world. Water scarcity is projected to worsen considerably in the coming decades. Among the projected impacts is that "climate-related water scarcity could lead to economic losses equalling up to 14 per cent of the region's GDP" by 2047.¹⁸⁷

Significant work is advancing to develop AI applications to address water scarcity in a variety of ways. AI tools are capable of analysing large datasets of historical data and real time activity from sensors in water systems to optimize water distribution, detect leaks and anomalies in water flow and pressure, predict future demand, and more. In agriculture, "AI-powered irrigation systems represent a paradigm shift, as they can optimize water usage by considering various factors such as weather patterns, soil conditions, and plant water requirements"¹⁸⁸ in integrated analytic models. AI sensors can monitor the quality and safety of water supplies by detecting pollutants and other concerns, with a granularity unachievable by other means. Numerous other use cases for AI in water management are being identified and deployed around the world.

One application area that could be particularly impactful in Arab region countries is in wastewater treatment, enabling greater volumes of water to be reused for irrigation in a region where agriculture accounts for 85 per cent of water usage. For example, "Al algorithms can analyze sensor data to predict equipment failures, optimize chemical dosing for better treatment performance", and "optimize energy usage, leading to significant cost savings and reduced environmental impact".¹⁸⁹ Machine learning models have been piloted and show promise in a variety of aspects of wastewater treatment including managing the by-products of disinfection and chlorination, improving filtration techniques used for removal of contaminants in wastewater, and employing Al algorithms to analyse data from Internet of Things sensors to predict equipment failure.

Globally, most wastewater treatment plants have yet to update their systems to utilize the technology. One that has done so is in Cuxhaven, Germany, using an Al-based system to analyse data in the plant's supervisory control and data acquisition system to optimize its aeration and other operational processes to reduce energy and chemical use. DARROW, a project funded by the European Union for employment initially in four countries, is working on similar objectives. It is developing Al tools "to identify the right amount of air depending on the composition of the water, so it can be treated using as little energy as possible".¹⁹⁰ DARROW will also enable predictive maintenance of critical control systems in treatment plants. In the United States, the city of Valencia is piloting Al-based water quality prediction models in its drinking water treatment plants to anticipate events that may disrupt operations and to recommend optimal chemical doses and prevent deterioration of plant equipment.

In the Arab region, the International Water Management Institute is working with Google on e-Rewater, a programme to improve wastewater reuse by employing AI with sensors to evaluate sources of water for contaminants. It is also creating an online dashboard for utility managers and policymakers with accessible and comprehensive information on wastewater generation and recycling potential in Egypt, Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates. In 2020, UNDP partnered with the Tubas Joint Service Council for Water and Wastewater and Palestine-based startup FlowLess on a project to test an AI and Internet of Things-based system for detecting water losses. In 2024, two Jordanian teenagers developed an AI-based smart water filtration tool that purifies wastewater for reuse in irrigation and mitigates soil and crop damage issues. The project was recognized with an award by Codeavour, an organization that sponsors AI and coding competitions for young people.¹⁹¹

Adapting AI to water sector goals: desalination

Desalination is a major source of drinking water in many countries in the Arab region – 40 per cent in the United Arab Emirates, 70 per cent in Saudi Arabia, and nearly 90 per cent in Bahrain and Oman, but other countries in the region rely on it as well. Ten countries already have operational desalination plants and Jordan is underway on plans for a new megaproject. Cost and negative environmental impacts are two key issues with desalination. With both, Al can make a major difference.¹⁹²

Desalination involves complex, costly and time consuming processes. In simple terms, it involves forcing seawater through semipermeable membrane materials under high pressure. It also requires complex pre-treatment of the seawater to remove bacteria and other matter that can damage the membrane. Al can make these processes more efficient by determining the precise sequence in which individual atoms should be removed from the membrane, "creating the most efficient geometry of each pore for the process".¹⁹³ The intensive energy demand of desalination is a key element of both the cost and the environmental impact, and Al can address this. The optimization of the flow of atoms through the membrane reduces the energy consumption of the process. Researchers in Spain have made advances with an Al system that optimizes fluctuating electricity prices and renewable energy availability to enable integration of solar and other non-fossil fuel sources into desalination plant operations. As more countries in the Arab region transition to renewable energy and take advantage of the solar energy potential of the region's abundant sunlight, this will reduce the cost and emissions impact of desalination operations in which the share of renewable energy was only 1 per cent in 2016.¹⁹⁴

Al-enabled desalination is beginning to emerge globally. In Europe, where there are more than 2,000 operational desalination plants, there is growing investment in the necessary research and development. Recent reporting shows more than 20 million Euros under the Horizon 2020 programme for tech innovation research and development for desalination. In Singapore, the National Water Agency and the National Research Foundation engaged the water resources engineering firm Gradiant in 2024 to design, build, and operate a new desalination facility employing the firm's SmartOps Al technology to reduce the energy consumption of operational processes in the plant. SmartOps uses machine learning algorithms to optimize and predict plant operations. Synauta, a Canadian Al water technology company has been working for five years with desalination facility operators in the Arab region, Australia and Europe.¹⁹⁵

In Bahrain, a new Hidd Independent Water Project is expected to go under contract for construction in 2025. A French company has been engaged for a new Hassyan seawater desalination plant in Dubai, scheduled to start operating in 2026. Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates announced plans in 2023 for \$14 billion and \$10 billion in desalination projects, respectively; Saudi Arabia aims to invest \$80 billion by 2030. A project in Jordan will build a plant on the Gulf of Aqaba, expected to increase the sovereign desalination capacity of Jordan from 4 billion to 350 billion litres a year.¹⁹⁶

Adapting AI energy sector goals: smart grid and variable energy optimization

Transition to renewable energy is underway in the Arab region, as it is around the world. It is both urgent and a source of economic opportunity due to soaring energy demand; decarbonization commitments under the Paris Treaty; considerable natural resources (sunlight and wind) enabling the region to become both a large-scale user of renewable energy for domestic demand, and an exporter; and others. However, the intermittent availability of solar and wind power, and the asynchronous interconnection of outputs to electricity grids, makes increasing the share of renewables in the energy mix difficult. Al can help address some of the technical challenges inherent in the transition to variable renewable energy.¹⁹⁷

The ability of AI to analyse massive datasets from multiple sources at exceptional speed drives numerous value propositions for countries working to transition to variable renewable energy. Leveraging historical and real-time data across the energy value chain, from generation to transport, storage, distribution and consumption, AI offers unprecedented capabilities. It can analyse energy demand as it happens and predict future demand, helping producers and utilities address mismatches before problems occur. This enables real-time adjustments to variable renewable energy output at the generation point, as well as storage optimization. AI can monitor and diagnose infrastructure system problems, enabling predictive maintenance. In the wind power context, AI models can predict wind behaviour with high precision, enabling operators to adjust turbines in real-time, maximizing energy capture and also profitability. AI can also determine the optimal placement and design of renewable energy assets.¹⁹⁸

Use of AI in smart grid optimization and to accelerate integration of variable renewable energy into countries' energy mix is moving forward rapidly. United States-based firm Siemens Gamesa, operating in 90 countries around the world, employs AI models to continuously adjust operations in their offshore wind farms to maximize power output while minimizing cost. DroneDeploy uses AI-powered software in its aerial drone platforms to "evaluate solar farm layouts to maximize energy generated per site, and automatically monitor the health of solar panels and other equipment in the field".¹⁹⁹ In Indonesia, State-owned electricity utility is underway on a pilot project to use AI for predictive maintenance of power plants throughout the country. Independent Indonesian power producer Star Energy has integrated AI analytics into the operations of its geothermal power plants to optimize efficiency and reliability in their energy production. Eneryield, a startup in Sweden, is providing grid operators with predictive and real-time maintenance to reduce unplanned outages, using a proprietary machine learning prediction technology that "seamlessly integrates into existing power networks without requiring additional hardware".²⁰⁰

Al-enabled smart grid deployment is beginning to accelerate in the Arab region, particularly in Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates but also in Egypt, Jordan, Morocco and others. Saudi Arabia recently published a National Smart Grid Roadmap outlining plans for deployment over the next two decades, and the State-owned and operated Saudi Electricity Company is underway on nationwide installation of 10 million smart meters. In Dubai, the Electricity and Water Authority has begun integrating Al into smart grids that have been installed in the city over the last decade. The Automatic Smart Grid Restoration System is an Alenabled autonomous fault detection and service restoration technology, part of the United Arab Emirates smart grid strategy updated in 2021. An ongoing project in Egypt is set to become the Arab region's first-ever country-wide smart grid.²⁰¹

Adapting AI to energy sector goals: green hydrogen

Green hydrogen is another renewable energy source that can help countries meet their transition goals and commitments, meet the booming domestic demand for energy and other economic growth objectives. At least five countries in the Arab region (Egypt, Morocco, Oman, Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates) are exploring green hydrogen as part of their future energy strategies. All has the potential to make green hydrogen more viable.²⁰²

With green hydrogen, the electricity used to power the electrolysis process comes solely from renewable energy sources like solar or wind for zero carbon emissions. Electrolysis involves multiple complex and costly processes. Al can help address both factors. "Al algorithms optimize these processes by forecasting and regulating the parameters that impact the yield and quality of hydrogen. This reduces energy consumption and enhances the efficiency of production."²⁰³ Another complexity lies in using renewable sources in a production process at scale, given the intermittent nature of wind and solar. Al algorithms can be used by green hydrogen producers to "aid in forecasting the availability of these sources, thereby optimizing hydrogen production".²⁰⁴

Al can also play a role in making green hydrogen viable as an energy export for producer countries. The difficulties in export lie in the fact that "transporting hydrogen requires supercooling it, compressing it, or carrying it in another, more manageable form such as ammonia".²⁰⁵ Al can optimize the production of blue ammonia just as it does for the green hydrogen production. Research by the United States Department of Energy "tasked with investigating organic molecules for suitability as liquids to carry hydrogen (to make transportation safer and easier)" used Al to "narrow from 160 billion possibilities to 41 molecules in 14 hours". The computation would have required five years in a conventional computer-based analysis without Al.²⁰⁶

Al to simplify and scale green hydrogen is advancing in important ways. In Scotland in 2020 and 2021, a project called HyAl employed Al algorithms to optimize production at the European Marine Energy Centre. By analysing weather data, electricity prices and energy usage to predict power costs and user demand, Al maximized cost-effectiveness and minimized grid stress. A follow-on HyAl 2.0 project is underway to pilot real-time control of hydrogen production using Al. In 2024, Siemens introduced a generative Al-powered chatbot, Hydrogen Plant Configurator, enabling engineers to create optimized plant designs. Al is used to predict plant-specific key figures such as possible power consumption, heat generation and other factors critical to planning and operating a more sustainable hydrogen plant.²⁰⁷

In the Arab region, five countries are actively working on green hydrogen. Saudi Arabia is making significant investments, and one market research estimate projects a compound annual growth rate of 50 per cent between 2023 and 2032 for the country's green hydrogen industry. As part of the NEOM development, Saudi Arabia is building the world's largest green hydrogen production plant, projected to be operational by the end of 2026. At COP27 in 2022, Egypt signed nine agreements, including a

joint statement on a European Union-Egypt renewable hydrogen partnership. Through these, Egypt will explore the potential development of green hydrogen and green ammonia production plants that would comprise more than \$80 billion in investment and produce nearly 3 million tons of hydrogen annually. In 2022, Oman released a Strategy on Green Hydrogen, projecting \$140 billion in investment over the next 30 years aimed at producing more than 1 megaton of green hydrogen per year by 2030, rising to more than 8 megatons per year by 2050. These efforts can be accelerated and their impacts on energy transition and emission reduction goals scaled by leveraging AI.²⁰⁸

Annex 2. Additional AI use cases supporting the SDGs

1 POVERTY

Al for economic resilience in disaster conditions

In an initiative co-led by the ITU, World Meteorological Organization, and United Nations Environment Programme, AI technologies are transforming how communities prepare for, respond to, and recover from natural disasters. By leveraging advanced analytics and predictive modelling, AI technologies are aiding in damage assessment. By analysing satellite imagery and ground reports, they can help evaluate the extent of a disaster's impact in real-time. In resource allocation, they can help optimize distribution of critical supplies for equitable delivery of food, medical aid and housing materials to affected regions. In economic impact prediction, by powering models that assess potential economic losses, they can enable targeted support to be sent in advance of a disaster to the industries and individuals most at risk. In this initiative and others like it, AI is enhancing the efficiency and equity of disaster recovery, helping communities mitigate the economic setbacks that often push them into poverty after catastrophic events. One key benefit of applying AI in this context is more fair resource distribution; data-driven insights help ensure vulnerable populations receive adequate timely assistance. Another is improvements to economic stability, as AI predictions enable Governments to implement policies that reduce the financial impact of disasters, supporting long-term recovery. There are also beneficial outcomes to improve decision-making – integration of diverse data sources, from satellite imagery to local infrastructure reports, enables precise response strategies.²⁰⁹



Al to improve and secure global food supply chains

Al is contributing to addressing food security challenges and achieving the objectives of SDG 2 by enabling important improvements in global food supply chains. As food moves from production facilities to markets and stores to consumers, Al algorithms can monitor "critical control elements such as temperature and humidity to protect storage conditions and avoid costly mistakes like food spoilage",²¹⁰ defects in food products, unauthorized tampering and more. Major global players in the food supply chain like Amazon are already employing Al technologies for these critical food safety and security aims. As the technology advances it will be available to SMEs, even in rural farms and markets around in the world. The combination of Internet of Things sensors with blockchain technology and Al-powered data analytics tools also enhances supply chain transparency, recording every step in the journey from farm to table. These Al-enabled innovations can signal to human monitors when and where conditions exist that are putting food safety or timely delivery at risk and expedite intervention. In food manufacturing facilities, Al algorithms can analyse large sets of data from production lines, packaging processes and shipment preparation activities to improve product turnaround time, optimize inventory management, and enable predictive maintenance of equipment. As food is en route from production facilities to consumers, Al can calculate the most efficient transportation routes, cutting fuel and other costs and helping ensure greater speed of delivery and confidence that communities will receive

critically needed food. One key benefit of AI in food supply chain optimization is aligning supply and demand. AI can predict how much of different foodstuffs and products are needed in different places and enable data-driven decision-making to help prevent overproduction, shortages and miscalculations of delivery timings. Another beneficial outcome is reduced waste, as AI tools help minimize spoilage by optimizing storage conditions in facilities and during transport, increasing the amount of safe fresh food available to communities and individual consumers. AI in this use case also helps build consumer confidence – the transparency that AI provides as food moves through supply chains builds trust that producers and oversight officials are accountable for their responsibilities to meet communities' food needs.²¹¹



Improving early detection and treatment of diseases affecting women

Among the many applications in the health context, four Cambridge University scientists recently outlined how AI technologies are transforming women's healthcare, specifically by enabling breakthroughs that are defining the **future of early cancer detection**. AI-powered tools can detect early signs of breast and cervical cancer through imaging and data analysis. Tailored AI recommendations for personalized treatment plans can optimize treatment based on patient data. Additionally, AI systems can continuously monitor, track, and assess patients' health to identify cancer risks and recommend timely interventions. The impacts of AI on women's health outcomes are significant. Early detection of breast and cervical cancer helps increase survival rates and reduce treatment complexity. AI facilitation of proactive healthcare measures also helps reduce mortality from preventable conditions. A third important benefit lies in empowering healthcare decisions, as patients receive informed, personalized care guided by AI analysis.²¹²



Al-enabled learning in virtual reality environments

Al is enabling major advances in the integration of VR and AR into education, from primary through to university levels, with powerful results on learning outcomes. Enhanced visualization helps students grasp and retain complex concepts, perhaps most importantly in science, technology, engineering and mathematics fields. With the help of Al-powered 3D VR and AR tools, students can visualize these concepts in new and immersive ways, bringing learning to life and making it more engaging and exciting. These tools also make learning experiential. Students can engage in virtual simulations that range from exploring ancient archaeological sites, to conducting advanced scientific experiments as if they were in a world-class laboratory. This helps inspire their creativity and spark their imaginations. As these technologies continue to evolve, the scope and impact of immersive learning are expected to expand, offering even more innovative and effective educational solutions. Al is critical to enabling these kinds of 3D VR environments for educational and other purposes. It enables the processing of the huge amounts of data such tools rely on. Al also analyses students' physical movements in the classroom in real-time to translate them into actions in the VR environments, allowing them to interact in the VR. One benefit of these developments is enhanced engagement – Al-powered VR in educational settings provides memorable immersive interactive experiences. Learning in VR environments powered by Al can improve students' retention of information by engaging spatial cognition capabilities that are more productive and effective in learning than other forms of cognition. A third benefit is in collaboration and social skills development – by creating exciting environments students can work in together, Al-powered VR learning improves teamwork and social skills.²¹³



Addressing gender bias and supporting women's empowerment through AI

One of the many ways AI technologies are contributing to progress around the world on SDG 5 is in helping bridge the gender gap by addressing biases in hiring, promotion and performance evaluations. These tools will help ensure that women have equal opportunities in the workplace, especially in male-dominated industries. One way in which this will be achieved is mitigating against bias in hiring. AI algorithms are being used to identify and reduce gender biases in recruitment processes, allowing women to have the same chances of being hired for roles as their male counterparts. AI tools can also be used to conduct performance reviews and identify potential biases that may disadvantage women in evaluations, promotions and pay. AI-driven platforms also help empower women through providing personalized access to online courses, career development tools, and financial services that help them start and grow businesses. One of the beneficial impacts of AI in this critical area is enhanced career growth – with fair evaluations enabled by AI tools, women can expect more equitable growth and development within their careers. It also supports economic empowerment, as AI platforms provide access to professional development and financial tools, enabling women to pursue entrepreneurial ventures and gain financial independence.²¹⁴



Al for flood prediction and management

Al is being utilized around the world to predict and manage water-related disasters. One example is a use case ongoing from 2018 in Colima, Mexico. By analysing data from various sources such as sensors and satellite imagery, Al helps identify areas at risk of contamination and provides solutions for efficient water distribution during emergencies. Al algorithms are capable of uniquely powerful data analytics using these data sources to predict flood risks and detect contamination in water sources. During and after natural disasters, Al systems can help optimize distribution of available water resources for equitable access and help ensure that contaminated water is identified and purified, preventing the spread of waterborne diseases. The impacts include equitable access for flood-affected communities to clean water for drinking, sanitation and hygiene; reduction in waterborne disease risk; and improved disaster resilience as Al-driven flood prediction and water management systems help communities better prepare for and respond to natural disasters.²¹⁵



Energy efficiency in smart cities

The use of AI in smart cities to improve energy efficiency is growing as fast as the growth of smart cities themselves. AI systems have increasingly powerful capabilities to analyse and integrate data from various sources such as weather forecasts, electricity usage patterns and occupancy levels to identify opportunities for energy saving. Leveraging these diverse data types, AI algorithms adjust energy distribution based on real-time demand, ensuring that energy grids are balanced and optimized for efficiency. AI can predict when maintenance is needed for energy infrastructure in smart cities by analysing usage patterns against equipment performance, reducing downtime and improving system reliability. The integration of AI into energy management is accelerating the aims of smart city development and their differentiation from traditional urban designs in a variety of important ways. One is through reduced energy consumption: optimizing energy usage enables smart cities to greatly reduce their overall energy consumption, helping lower greenhouse gas emissions. Another is by cost saving – efficient energy management leads to lower energy bills and operational costs for residents and businesses, making smart cities more economically sustainable. A third benefit is enhanced resilience, as AI-driven energy management systems strengthen urban energy grids, enabling them to handle fluctuations in demand and potential disruptions more effectively.²¹⁶



AI to empower SMEs

Micro-, small- and medium-sized enterprises (MSMEs) comprise the majority of economies in every region and most countries - 90 per cent of businesses, between 60 and 70 per cent of employment, and 50 per cent of GDP, globally. Al will be critical to the continued growth of MSME. It may even be key to their future viability, as many could be at risk of losing ground to larger competitors in the absence of the AI those competitors are already leveraging. Expansion of AI use will be vital to the ability of MSMEs to benefit from customer service automation and personalized marketing. It will help with their sales forecasting, enabling better inventory management, efficient resource allocation, and a greater ability to meet fluctuations in customer demand without overproduction or stock shortages. It will enable cost-saving automation in their bookkeeping and other operational functions. One example of AI tools custom-designed for MSMEs is from Chinese company Ant Group, which has developed an Al-powered recommendation engine that will empower MSMEs to connect with their target customers more effectively despite the resource constraints they face as small businesses. Impacts from greater AI use by MSMEs will be numerous. One is enhanced efficiency - integrating Al into operations will streamline workflows and reduce time and effort on laborious tasks, enabling MSME proprietors to focus on higher value-adding activities. A second is enhanced customer experience - because AI-powered chatbots enable MSMEs to offer 24/7 service, they can boost customer satisfaction and retention and thereby revenue growth. A third benefit is in data-driven decision-making. Al will help MSME proprietors identify patterns and trends in vast amounts of data both in internal operations and customer preferences, enabling better informed strategic decision-making and reducing risk of errors.²¹⁷



Smart cities and innovation in Barcelona, Spain

Barcelona has implemented several AI-driven innovations to manage its urban infrastructure more efficiently, transforming itself into a smart city that optimizes resources and services for its citizens. These innovations use AI-powered Internet of Things sensors and data analytics to improve operations and outcomes in a variety of urban operations. AI-powered sensors reduce congestion by monitoring traffic patterns and adjusting traffic lights to improve flow. AI also helps monitor energy usage across the city, lowering environmental impacts by adjusting and optimizing the distribution of power and reducing consumption. In waste management, AI-powered Internet of Things technology monitors waste levels in garbage bins, enabling optimized waste collection routes and reducing unnecessary pickups. A new AI-Internet of Things solution, inteliLIGHT, "reduces street lighting energy expenses and power consumption by up to 40 per cent by adding intelligence and control to the lighting network".²¹⁸ Numerous impacts supportive of SDG 9 are being seen in Barcelona, and can be anticipated in other cities where AI is used in these ways. One is enhanced safety, as AI-driven real-time monitoring and predictive maintenance of infrastructure helps reduce the risk of failures, increasing public safety. A second is in cost savings, as proactive maintenance, along with optimized resource allocation, reduces costs for city administrators. A third benefit is in sustainability – through better management of energy and waste, AI applications help reduce CO₂ emissions and minimize other environmental impacts.



Al for secure financial services

Al is improving access to financial services. One example is in fraud detection. Al systems can monitor financial transactions in real time to detect and prevent fraud, helping ensure secure access to financial services. A growing number of machine learning models are being developed and trained to "detect anomalies in customer behaviors and connections as well as patterns of accounts and behaviors that fit fraudulent characteristics".²¹⁹ Other tools are emerging that can "predict the next transaction of a customer, which can help payments firms preemptively assess risks and block fraudulent transactions".²²⁰ The impacts on efforts to achieve SDG 10 objectives are already visible. One outcome is economic empowerment. By improving the security of

individuals' and MSMEs' transactions, AI empowers individuals and businesses to grow, reduces poverty, and promotes financial stability. A second benefit is in risk management – AI helps financial institutions and individuals assess and manage risks more effectively, enabling services for and economic activities in underserved populations.



Al for disaster resilient infrastructure

Al can enhance urban infrastructure resilience to natural disasters. Through risk assessments and predictive modelling, Al helps cities prepare for and mitigate the impacts of disasters like floods, earthquakes and hurricanes. Al analyses data from a wide variety of sources, including weather patterns, historical disaster data and current infrastructure conditions, to assess disaster risks. Al systems can create detailed vulnerability maps to identify areas and infrastructure at high risk, allowing cities to prioritize resilience efforts. A growing number of Al models are also being developed to serve in more real-time disaster prediction efforts, sensing and quantifying the likelihood and potential impact of natural disasters. Al models can then generate recommendations that enable the immediate deployment and allocation of disaster preparedness and recovery resources. The systems thus help strengthen infrastructure and reduce vulnerabilities. ITU is co-leading a new Global Initiative on Resilience to Natural Hazards through Al Solutions with four other United Nations organizations to advance research and development on such Al applications. Impacts on SDG 11 include enhanced resilience as improved risk assessment and predictive measures increase the ability of urban infrastructure to withstand natural disasters. Another benefit is in reducing the impact of disasters on communities.²²¹



Al for sustainable supply chains

Applications are emerging for Al to optimize supply chains, making them more sustainable by reducing environmental impact and improving operational efficiency. Smart supply chain monitoring is a key part of what Al can do in support of SDG 12. Al tools are able to integrate data from all stages of an organization's or industry's supply chain, providing a real-time view of the environmental impacts throughout the process from production to delivery. In this monitoring and analysis, the Al tracks and analyses key metrics like carbon footprint, energy consumption and material/resource usage, providing valuable insights for optimization. Al systems can also help companies streamline and optimize resource allocation in their product manufacturing and distribution processes, helping ensure materials are used efficiently and minimizing waste. Based on data collected on these processes, Al provides recommendations for manufacturers and suppliers on how to adopt more sustainable practices, like reducing energy usage or switching to greener materials. It also helps with forecasting demand for product components and the final products themselves (reducing the risk of overproduction and over-shipment), and with automating inventory replenishment and inventory clearance. Al can thus reduce environmental impact as lower carbon footprints and reduced resource consumption lead to more sustainable production processes. A second benefit is improved efficiency, as Al-driven optimization reduces costs in supply chain operations while improving overall efficiency. A third is in the promotion of sustainable practices, as Al helps encourage companies across the entire supply chain to adopt greener practices, contributing to long-term environmental preservation.²²²



Al for experiential climate change education

Al is contributing to meeting objectives related to climate change mitigation and SDG 13 by powering hyper-realistic VR environments for experiential climate change education. A number of such VR applications have already been developed. They create an immersive and interactive experience that can help people understand and internalize the impacts of climate change in a fundamentally different way, experiencing these effects rather than simply reading about them. One example is a project by the United Nations Environment Programme, which has created an immersive VR experience of a user's personal carbon footprint, in a platform that integrates 3D graphics and full-sphere surround-sound. It confronts the user with their carbon footprint in the form of an orange ball of gas that can be as large as 18 metres high. Another example is from the non-profit Climate Interactive, which has created an immersive experience allowing users to explore and experience how solutions to climate change challenges might play out. They have engaged policymakers and business leaders, educators, the media and the public. VR environments for climate education are realizable in large part because Al helps create the synthesis of massive datasets needed to render the VR experiences. These new forms of Al- powered climate change education help create a sense of urgency, as the experiential component challenges people to think differently about the choices they make each day. They also inspire engagement: experiential learning about the potential effectiveness of different climate change mitigation solutions can magnify users' commitment to supporting those solutions. Finally, they are expanding the reach of climate change education to audiences such as the millions of video game enthusiasts around the world.²²³



Al for marine pollution monitoring

Al is being applied to monitor and reduce marine pollution, a major threat to ocean ecosystems. Al-driven solutions are at the core of a growing number of unprecedented solutions for detecting pollution sources and monitoring the quality of water at risk from pollution. For example, Al systems can analyse satellite imagery and drone-collected data to detect various types of pollution in marine environments, including oil spills, plastic waste and chemical contaminants. These systems provide real-time detection of pollution hotspots and track changes in water quality over time, helping ensure quick responses to emerging pollution threats. Beyond detection and monitoring, Al algorithms can recognize patterns in pollution data, such as the density of concentrations of plastics found in remote ocean locations, helping to understand the sources, spread and long-term impacts of marine pollution. This is crucial for predicting future pollution events and guiding preventive measures. Al systems also generate alerts for authorities and environmental organizations, enabling them to take timely action in response to pollution events such as coordinating cleanup efforts and enforcing regulations. Such uses of Al in support of SDG 14 are producing important results. One is reduction of damage from threat sources – early detection of pollution sources and rapid intervention helps reduce the amounts of harmful substances entering marine ecosystems. Another is that Al-driven systems that integrate data from multiple sources can provide new kinds of insight into complex multi-species marine ecosystems. A third benefit is greater public awareness. Al to track and report pollution events leads to better-informed communities and their use of more sustainable practices.²²⁴



Al for forest management

One form of Al application in support of SDG 15 focuses on sustainable forest management. Al can analyse satellite imagery and data from sensors installed in forests to monitor their health in real-time. It can detect early signs of deforestation, diseases and other threats such as wildfires, invasive species or illegal logging, allowing for rapid intervention. Importantly, Al can integrate data from various sources to create a comprehensive view of forest health and identify potential risks to ecosystems. With

this kind of data-driven insight, responsible authorities and conservationists can optimize the allocation of forest management resources, helping direct efforts to the areas needing most attention. Al can also help coordinate reforestation projects and reduce unnecessary interventions in healthy ecosystems. Al models can predict how different factors such as climate change, human activities or disease outbreaks might affect forest ecosystems. These models help in planning long-term strategies for forest health and management. Al helps maintain the resilience of forest ecosystems by providing data and insights for better decision-making, ensuring the long-term survival of forests.²²⁵



Al for crime prediction and prevention

Al can be used to predict, analyse, and prevent crime, enhancing public safety and improving law enforcement strategies. Innovative breakthroughs in crime data analysis become possible when Al systems aggregate and integrate various data sources such as crime reports, social media activity, surveillance footage and other publicly available data. By doing so, Al can spot trends and emerging patterns. Al models can also be used to predict when and where crimes are likely to occur based on historical crime data, seasonal trends, demographic factors and other relevant inputs. This helps law enforcement agencies identify potential crime hotspots and times, optimizing the deployment of police patrols and other resources to the areas where crime is more likely to occur. This proactive approach improves the effectiveness of policing and reduces strain on law enforcement. Al-driven platforms can also facilitate communication and collaboration between law enforcement and local communities. These platforms can help raise awareness, engage citizens in crime prevention, and create safer environments through shared data and intelligence. In this dimension of SDG 16, Al is enabling impacts like reduced crime rates by predicting crime patterns and enabling proactive measures. It is also improving trust between communities and law enforcement agencies. A third benefit lies in how Al helps ensure limited law enforcement resources are used more effectively, improving the efficiency of policing efforts.²²⁶



Al for sustainable development partnerships

Al can fuel cross-border and cross-sector partnerships in support of all the SDGs, individually and collectively. Al-driven platforms can provide open-data sharing capabilities allowing Governments, non-governmental organizations and private sector organizations to exchange valuable data related to the SDGs. Al systems can also enable collective analytics of shared data to identify patterns and trends that highlight opportunities that can be seized and scaled in multiple countries in mutually supportive ways. SDG progress will be accelerated as Al supports the planning and execution of initiatives that increasingly involve coordinated efforts bridging areas including education, renewable energy and poverty reduction. Al will also help to evaluate the impacts of collaborative projects and initiatives, providing actionable recommendations to improve outcomes and make development efforts more effective. The Al for Good initiative is an example of a global partnership that is promoting the use of Al in SDG implementation, and also itself using Al to fuel its mission. The Global Partnership for Sustainable Development Data is another – "a network of over 700 private sector, academic and civil society organizations, and governments", leveraging partnerships in support of the SDGs will be considerable. It is already enabling enhanced decision-making. Al-supported analysis of data generated and leveraged by networks of development-focused organizations helps them make informed decisions and prioritize initiatives based on need and impact. It also creates resource efficiency benefits – by optimizing the use of resources in joint initiatives. Al helps reduce waste and inefficiency, contributing to more effective and sustainable outcomes.

Endnotes

- 1. This Executive Summary is drawn from the balance of the report that follows. Citations for all quoted content appearing in this Executive Summary, and all other content in it that requires citation, are provided in the subsequent chapters 1 through 5 where that content appears.
- 2. Krystal Hu, "ChatGPT Sets Record for Fastest-Growing User Base", Reuters, February 2, 2023, sec. Technology.
- Andrew Tarantola, "How OpenAl's ChatGPT Has Changed the World in Just a Year", Engadget, November 30, 2023; Bachel Hespell, "Our 10 Biggest Al Moments so Far", Google, September 26, 2023; Lola Osinoiki, "History of Al at Microsoft", Academic & Employability Skills, July 18, 2024; Tim Mucci, "History of Artificial Intelligence", Ibm.com, October 21, 2024.
- 4. Benjamin Stratton, "27 Mind-Blowing Al Industry Growth Statistics in 2024 (and Beyond)", Blue Tree Digital, November 22, 2023; Edge Delta, "9 Must-Read Al Startup Statistics in 2024", Edge Delta, May 23, 2024.
- Michael Shirer, "IDC: Artificial Intelligence Will Contribute \$19.9 Trillion to the Global Economy through 2030 and Drive 3.5 per cent of Global GDP in 2030", IDC: the Premier Global Market Intelligence Company, 2024; Mike Kaput, "McKinsey: Al Could Generate up to \$23 Trillion Annually by 2040", Marketingaiinstitute.com (Marketing Al Institute, November 5, 2024); Chris Bradley and others, "The next Big Arenas of Competition", McKinsey & Company, October 23, 2024.
- Yaqub M., "23 Al in Business Statistics: How Many Companies Use Al", BusinessDasher, March 24, 2022. SAS, "Your Journey to a Your Journey to a GenAl Future", 2024. International Telecommunication Union, "United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI)", 2023.
- 7. IBM Data and AI Team, "Shedding Light on AI Bias with Real World Examples", Ibm.com (IBM, October 16, 2023).
- 8. John Villasenor, "Artificial Intelligence, Deepfakes, and the Uncertain Future of Truth", Brookings, February 14, 2019. Edwin Lax, "Al Pollution: The Future Threats of Information Warfare", Trendsresearch.org, 2024.
- Katharine Miller, "Privacy in an Al Era: How Do We Protect Our Personal Information?", Stanford University (Stanford University, March 18, 2024); Office of the Victorian Information Commissioner, "Artificial Intelligence and Privacy – Issues and Challenges", Office of the Victorian Information Commissioner, August 2018.
- 10. Allie Funk, Adrian Shahbaz, and Kian Vesteinsson, "The Repressive Power of Artificial Intelligence", Freedom House, 2023.
- Sayed Fayaz Ahmad and others, "Impact of Artificial Intelligence on Human Loss in Decision Making, Laziness and Safety in Education", Humanities and Social Sciences <u>Communications 10, no. 1 (June 9, 2023); Kevin Roose, "A.I. Poses 'Risk of Extinction,' Industry Leaders Warn", The New York Times, May 30, 2023, sec. Technology. Ralph Lewis M.D., "What Would It Take to Build Sentient Al? | Psychology Today", www.psychologytoday.com, October 8, 2023.
 </u>
- Judiciary Committee, Subcommittee on Privacy, Technology, and the Law United States Senate, <u>Written Testimony of Dario Amodei, Ph.D. Co-Founder and CEO, Anthropic, For a hearing on Oversight of A.I.: Principles for Regulation, 25 July 2023.</u>
- 13. Will Henshall, "4 Charts That Show Why Al Progress Is Unlikely to Slow Down", Time, August 2, 2023.
- Alex Rankine, "China's DeepSeek AI is a 'Sputnik moment' for the US". Moneyweek, February 4, 2025; Bob Evans, "Microsoft, Oracle CEOs Applaud DeepSeek Phenomenon; Safra Catz: "Fantastic!"" Cloud Wars, February 4, 2025; João da Silva, Natalie Sherman & Imran Rahman-Jones, "Stargate: Tech Giants Announce AI Plan Worth up to \$500bn". BBC News, January 22, 2025.
- 15. Adam Thierer, "The Pacing Problem and the Future of Technology Regulation | Mercatus Center", www.mercatus.org, August 8, 2018.
- 16. Thalia Khan, "Shaping the Future of Al Policy: A Q&a with Shamira Ahmed", Partnership on Al, October 3, 2024.
- 17. <u>Ibid</u>.
- La Moncloa, "Escrivá: 'the Spanish Artificial Intelligence Oversight Agency Is a Pioneer in Europe and Its Functions Are Key to Moving towards a Reliable and Ethical AI," Lamoncloa.gob.es, 2024.
- Knowledge@Wharton, "Mobile Phone Rollout Is an Instructive Comparison to AI", Fair Observer, September 1, 2024; Robbie Allen, "Why Artificial Intelligence Is Different from Previous Technology Waves", Medium (Medium, June 12, 2017); Nataly Delcid, Sophie Gao, and Catherine Jeon, "Generative AI Adopted Faster than the Internet or Personal Computers, HKS Study Finds | News | the Harvard Crimson", Thecrimson.com, 2022; Chinasa Okolo, "AI in the Global South: Opportunities and Challenges towards More Inclusive Governance", Brookings, November 1, 2023.
- 20. Muath Alduhishy, "Sovereign AI: What It Is, and 6 Ways States Are Building It", World Economic Forum, April 25, 2024; Macquarie Data Centres, "Sovereign AI", Macquarie Data Centres, September 16, 2024.
- 21. Will Henshall, "4 Charts That Show Why AI Progress Is Unlikely to Slow Down", Time, August 2, 2023; Charlie Giattino and others, "Artificial Intelligence", Our World in Data, September 22, 2023 (Chart 15; Chart 7).
- 22. Tortoise, "The Global Al Index Tortoise Media", Tortoisemedia.com, 2024.
- 23. Stanford University, "Global Al Vibrancy Tool Artificial Intelligence Index", alindex.stanford.edu, n.d.
- 24. Tortoise, "The Global Al Index Tortoise Media", Tortoisemedia.com, 2024.
- 25. <u>Ibid.</u>
- 26. Tortoise, "The Global Al Index Tortoise Media", Tortoisemedia.com, 2024; Stanford University, "Global Al Vibrancy Tool Artificial Intelligence Index", alindex.stanford.edu, n.d.
- 27. Keith Strier, "What Is Sovereign Al?", NVIDIA Blog, February 28, 2024.
- 28. Pablo Chavez, "Sovereign Al in a Hybrid World: National Strategies and Policy Responses", Lawfare, 2024; Mohamed Soliman, "Digital Borders: The Biden Administration's Final Al Rule", The National Interest, January 16, 2025; Sarah Wu and Ben Blanchard, "Taiwan Boosts Protection of Key Tech, but Says Won't Affect Chipmakers' Business", Reuters, December 5, 2023; Kirti Gupta, Chris Borges, and Andrea Leonard Palazzi, "Collateral Damage: The Domestic Impact of U.S. Semiconductor Export Controls", CSIS, July 9, 2024.
- 29. Muath Alduhishy, "Sovereign AI: What It Is, and 6 Ways States Are Building It", World Economic Forum, April 25, 2024; Macquarie Data Centres, "Sovereign AI", Macquarie Data Centres, September 16, 2024; Pablo Chavez, "Sovereign AI in a Hybrid World: National Strategies and Policy Responses", Lawfare, 2024.
- 30. <u>Reuters Staff, "Saudi Arabia Signs MoUs with IBM, Alibaba and Huawei on AI", Reuters, October 22, 2020; Carrington Malin, "Aramco Digital and WWT Form Strategic Al Infrastructure Partnership", Middleeastainews.com (Middle East Al News, July 2024); Reem Walid, "Saudi Arabia's Participation at WEF Strengthens Global Push for Innovation, Al", Arab News (Arabnews, January 19, 2025); Mohammed Soliman, "Beyond Oil: Google's Big Bet on Saudi Arabia's Al Future", Middle East Institute, 2024.</u>
- 31. UAE Government Portal, "ChatGPT | the Official Portal of the UAE Government", UAE, December 15, 2023.
- <u>Chris Metinko, "Eye on Al: Microsoft's 642 Deal Could Bring More Al Money, Tech to UAE", Crunchbase News, April 18, 2024; Sam Winter-Levy, "With Its Latest Rule, the U.S. Tries to Govern Al's Global Spread", Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, January 13, 2025.</u>
- 33. Francesco Salesio Schiavi, "Deep Dive: The UAE's Strategic Al Ambitions", Amwaj.media (amwaj.media, November 11, 2024); Carrington Malin, "UAE Sets a Global Policy for Artificial Intelligence", Middleeastainews.com (Middle East Al News, October 11, 2024).
- 34. <u>Bahrain FinTech Bay, "Bahrain Fintech Ecosystem Report 2022" (Bahrain FinTech Bay, 2022); Aayushya Ranjan, "Nokia and Ooredoo Oman Partner to Build Advanced Al-Ready</u> Network by 2025 – TechAfrica News", TechAfrica News, December 5, 2024; Times News Service, "Times of Oman", Times of Oman, December 16, 2024.
- 35. Zawya, "Arloid Al Gains Traction in the Middle East with New Partnerships Deployed to Reduce Energy Consumption", Zawya.com (Zawya, May 20, 2022).
- 36. <u>Daily News Egypt, "Egypt, Italy to Partner on Al Centre in Cairo Serving Africa", Dailynewsegypt, April 22, 2024; David Thomas, "Egypt and Italy to Establish Al Centre in Cairo", African Business, May 13, 2024; State Information Service, "Egypt, Latvia Discuss Collaboration in Digital Transformation, Al", State Information Service, January 16, 2025; Muhammed Kotb, "Egypt Aims to Leverage Al in the Healthcare Sector", Egyptian Streets, January 17, 2025; Sindhu V Kashyap, "Egypt Partners with Tsinghua Unigroup to Launch \$300 Million Tech Investment Fund Focused on Al and Semiconductors - ITP.net", ITP.net, September 9, 2024.</u>
- 37. Industries.MA, "Morocco and Artificial Intelligence: The Present and the Future", Industrie du Maroc Magazine, December 12, 2024; Ben Wodecki, "Nvidia Helps Launch Al Hub in Tunisia to Advance Al Skills in North Africa", Capacity Media, September 18, 2024; Onetrust Data Guidance, "DataGuidance", DataGuidance, January 31, 2022; USTDA, "USTDA, Jordan Partner on Artificial Intelligence for Improved Cancer Care – USTDA", Ustda.gov, June 12, 2024.
- <u>Robert Annor, "Morocco and Saudi Arabia Strengthen Collaboration in Digital Transformation and Al", Techreviewafrica.com, January 12, 2025; Al71, "Al71 Partners with Morocco for Digital Transformation Strategy", Ai71.ai, October 16, 2024.</u>
- 39. Zawya, "UAE and Egypt Sign Partnership Agreement to Accelerate Development of Digital Economy", Zawya.com (Zawya, December 18, 2023); MBZ University of Artificial Intelligence, "MBZUAI Delegation Discusses Cooperation on AI with Egyptian Higher Education Institutions", MBZUAI, August 17, 2022; Samira Njoya, "Egypt and Algeria Commit to Stepping up Cooperation in the Digital Sector", Wearetech.africa (We Are Tech, June 21, 2023); Trends, "A TRENDS Study Recommends Enhancing Regional Cooperation among Maghreb Countries in the Field of Artificial Intelligence", Trendsresearch.org, August 14, 2024.
- 40. The Peninsula Newspaper, "Qatar Chairs Artificial Intelligence Session at 48th Arab Labour Conference", Thepeninsulaqatar.com, September 20, 2022; ILO, "ILO Director-General Houngbo Calls for Collective Action in the Arab States to Address Growing Challenges in the World of Work", International Labour Organization, April 27, 2024; ATICM, "Ministry of Communications and Information Technology", Moit.gov.eg, 2019.
- UNDP, "MBZUAI and UNDP Partnership to Advance Use of Artificial Intelligence for Sustainable Development", UNDP, February 16, 2024; UNESCO, "UNESCO Supports Arab States in Developing AI Competencies for Students and Teachers", Unesco.org, 2024; SDAIA, "SDAIA and OECD Sign MoU to Enhance AI Incident Monitoring in the Middle East", Prnewswire.com (Cision PR Newswire, September 10, 2024).
- 42. Cody Combs, "In Abu Dhabi, Proponents of Open-Source AI Development Make Their Case", The National, November 27, 2024.
- Stanford University, "Artificial Intelligence Index Report 2024", 2024 (pp. 14, 57); IBM, "IBM Study: More Companies Turning to Open-Source AI Tools to Unlock ROI", IBM Newsroom, December 19, 2024; Kyle Daigle, "Survey: The AI Wave Continues to Grow on Software Development Teams", The GitHub Blog, August 20, 2024; Hugging Face, "Hugging Face Hub Documentation", huggingface.co, n.d.
- 44. <u>Arab Barometer, "Arab Barometer Wave VIII Arab Barometer", Arabbarometer.org, 2023; John Brazier, "Al Talent Is Becoming More Mobile and Seeking New Global Destinations for Work: BCG", UNLEASH, December 9, 2024.</u>
- 45. United Arab Emirates University, "Al Strategy Aims to Develop Digitally Skilled Citizens", University World News, March 13, 2024; Tunisian Al Society, "The Tunisian Think Tank of Al+Data", Tunisian Al Society, 2024; Nii Simmonds and Mario Masaya, "How ASEAN Can Drive Its Digital Economy", World Economic Forum, June 26, 2024.
- 46. Sindhu Kashyap, "Big Tech's Al Race: A Boon or Bane for Middle Eastern Innovation? ITP.net", ITP.net", July 9, 2024; Muath Alduhishy, "Sovereign Al: What It Is, and 6 Ways States Are Building It", World Economic Forum, April 25, 2024; Stanford University, "Artificial Intelligence Index Report 2024", 2024 (chapter 7).
- 47. UNDP, "Looking beyond the Horizon", 2014.
- Tarek Katramkiz and others, "Local Implementation of the 2030 Agenda in the Arab World: Addressing Constraints & Maximising Opportunities", 2020; Saudi Arabia, "Vision 2023", 2016; Vision 2030, "Vision Realization Programs", Vision2030.gov.sa, 2024.
- 49. MPED, "The National Agenda for Sustainable Development Egypt's Updated Vision 2030", 2023.

- 50. Jordan, "Jordan 2025", 2014; Iraq, "Iraq Vision 2030", 2019.
- 51. Our World in Data, "Countries with National Artificial Intelligence Strategies", Our World in Data, 2024; Artificial Intelligence Index, "CHAPTER 7: Policy and Governance", 2023; OECD, "OECD Updates AI Principles to Stay Abreast of Rapid Technological Developments", OECD, May 3, 2024; OECD.AI, "National Strategies, Agendas and Plans AI Strategies and Policies - OECD.AI", Oecd.ai, 2025.
- 52. <u>Bachel Adams and others, "Global Index on Responsible Al 2024 Corrected Edition", Tiiny.site, 2024; Ministry of Communication, "Egyptian Charter for Responsible Al Launched", mcit.gov.eg, April 20, 2023; Saed Karajah & Partners LLP, "The Jordanian National Ethics Charter for Artificial Intelligence and Its Guiding Ethical Principles", 2022; The Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan, "The National Artificial Intelligence Code of Ethics", n.d.; Data Guidance, "DataGuidance", DataGuidance, August 2, 2024; <u>Responsible Al</u>, "The Global Index on Responsible Al", Global-index.ai, 2024; MENA Observatory, "MENA Al OBSERVATORY", Menaobservatory.ai, 2022; <u>AUC</u>, "Access to Knowledge for Development Center | AUC School of Business", AUC School of Business, 2024.</u>
- 53. <u>EIPA, "Implementation of OKR Methodology in the National Agency on Corruption Prevention", Eipa, October 24, 2024; Frederick Boltz and others, "Methods Brief Developing Key Performance Indicators for Climate Change Adaptation and Resilience Planning Resilience Roadmap Purpose and Definitions", 2022.</u>
- 54. Key performance indicators are quantitative measures assessing performance to achieve a particular goal. Key performance indicators "often align with SMART goals specific, measurable, achievable, relevant, and time-bound". 0KRs are "goal-setting frameworks used to define and track progress on key objectives and their outcomes. Objectives are what [an enterprise] wants to happen; key results are the metrics that make those objectives measurable". See <u>Atlassian, "OKR Examples for Setting Goals</u> [the Workstream", Atlassian, 2024.
- 55. <u>OECD, "Triangular Co-Operation with Africa", 2022; International meeting on triangular co-operation, "linking global processes to create local impact", 2024; PRC Ministry of Foreign Affairs, "Al Capacity-Building Action Plan for Good and for All_Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the People's Republic of China", Mfa.gov.cn, September 27, 2024.</u>
- 56. United Nations Office for South-South Cooperation, "Implementing BAPA+40 What is next for Triangular Cooperation?", October 18, 2019.
- 57. <u>American Academy of Arts & Sciences</u>, "America and the International Future of Science", American Academy of Arts & Sciences, December 14, 2020; U.S. Mission Japan [2024, April 10]. "United States and Japan announce two new university-corporate Al partnerships worth \$110 million". PwC. (n.d.). ST.E.P. - Sustainable Talent Exchange Programme; Vinnova (2024, April). Al collaboration between Sweden and Singapore within talent exchange.
- 58. Chui, Michael, Lareina Yee, Bryce Hall, Alex Singla, and Alexander Sukharevsky. "The State of Al in 2023: Generative Al's Breakout Year". McKinsey & Company, August 1, 2023.
- 59. Chui, Michael, Roger Roberts, Lareina Yee, Eric Hazan, Alex Singla, Kate Smaje, Alex Sukharevsky, and Rodney Zemmel. "The Economic Potential of Generative AI: The Next Productivity Frontier". McKinsey & Company, June 14, 2023.
- 60. <u>Ibid</u>.
- 61. Davenport, Thomas H., Matthias Holweg, and Dan Jeavons. "How AI Is Helping Companies Redesign Processes". Harvard Business Review, March 2, 2023.
- Baily, Martin Neil, and Aidan T. Kane. "How Will AI Affect Productivity?" Brookings Institution, May 2, 2024; Alowais, Shuaa A., Sarah S. Alghamdi, Nora Alsuhebany, Farah K. Alolayan, Khawla F. Alotaibi, Ghufran Y. Alsaleh, Raneem A. Alsuwayyid, Nora K. Alsuwailem, and Reem S. Alodayni. "Revolutionizing Healthcare: The Role of Artificial Intelligence in Clinical Practice". BMC Medical Education 23, no. 689 (2023).
- 63. Chui, Michael, Roger Roberts, Lareina Yee, Eric Hazan, Alex Singla, Kate Smaje, Alex Sukharevsky, and Rodney Zemmel. "The Economic Potential of Generative AI: The Next Productivity Frontier". McKinsey & Company, June 14, 2023.
- 64. <u>Gilbert + Tobin. "Can Al Solve the Tower of Babel?" Gilbert + Tobin Insights, July 11, 2023; Cooper, Kindra. "OpenAl GPT-3: Everything You Need to Know". Springboard Blog, September 27, 2023; "What Are the Most Used Languages on the Internet?" 2023. Internet Society Foundation. May 15, 2023.</u>
- 65. <u>Nicholas, Gabriel, and Aliya Bhatia. "Lost in Translation: Large Language Models in Non-English Content Analysis". Center for Democracy & Technology, May 2023; Petersen, Tanya. "Large Language Models Trained in English Found to Use the Language Internally, Even for Prompts in Other Languages". Tech Xplore, March 14, 2024; Colombo, Charlotte. "Al Chatbots 'Think' in English, Research Finds". ReadWrite, March 8, 2024.</u>
- 66. <u>Holdsworth, James. "What Is Al Bias?" IBM Think, December 22, 2023; Hardesty, Larry. "Study Finds Gender and Skin-Type Bias in Commercial Artificial-Intelligence Systems".</u> <u>MIT News, February 11, 2018</u>.
- 67. Zhu, Luan, Wenjing Mou, Yunxuan Lai, Qianqian Yu, Huiyue Zhou, Xianyao Zhang, Xiaoming Zhang, and others "Language and Cultural Bias in Al: Comparing the Performance of Large Language Models Developed in Different Countries on Traditional Chinese Medicine Highlights the Need for Localized Models". Journal of Translational Medicine 22, no. 319 (2024).
- 68. Rebecca Anne Proctor, "The Promises and Challenges of Al for Arabic", Aramcoworld.com, May 2024.
- Hammoud, Hadi, Susheel Sethumadhavan, Amro Messaoudi, Carl Etienne Chaaya, Hadi Hammoud, Susheel Sethumadhavan, and Amro Messaoudi. 2024. "How Can Middle East Governments Champion Arabic LLMs?" Middle East. March 27, 2024; Malin, Carrington. 2024. "G42 Reboots Inception with Family of Open-Source Al Models". Middleeastainews.com. Middle East Al News. August 5, 2024; Heath, Ryan, and Ina Fried. 2024. "U.S., Microsoft Elbow China's Al in Gulf". Axios. April 17, 2024; Metinko, Chris. 2024. "Eye on Al: Microsoft's G42 Deal Could Bring More Al Money, Tech to UAE". Crunchbase News. April 18, 2024.
- 70. <u>Kahil, Nadine. 2024. "Inside Qatar's AI Project That Aims to Preserve the Arabic Language". WIRED Middle East. June 13, 2024; "His Excellency the Prime Minister Unveils Fanar, a Breakthrough in Arabic AI". 2024. Government Communications Office State of Qatar. Government Communications Office State of Qatar. December 11, 2024; <u>Malin,</u> Carrington. 2024a. "G42 Reboots Inception with Family of Open-Source AI Models". Middleeastainews.com. Middle East AI News. August 5, 2024.</u>
- 71.
 Alghamdi, Asaad, Xinyu Duan, Wei Jiang, Zhenhai Wang, Yimeng Wu, Qingrong Xia, Zhefeng Wang, and others 2023. "AraMUS: Pushing the Limits of Data and Model Scale

 for Arabic Natural Language Processing"; Malin, Carrington. 2024a. "SDAIA's ALLaM Arabic LLM Now Live on Watsonx". Middleeastainews.com. Middle East Al News. May 21,

 2024; Oliver Wyman and Saudi Data and Artificial Intelligence Authority (SDAIA). "Innovation Dasis: The Generative Al Landscape in Saudi Arabia". Riyadh: SDAIA, 2023; Malin,

 Carrington. 2024a. "First LLM Trained Exclusively on Saudi Data Sets". Middleeastainews.com. Middle East Al News. March 6, 2024; "SDAIA, SCAI Unveil SauTech Speech-To-Text

 Software". 2022. Saudigazette. September 14, 2022.

- 72. <u>"Tarjama& Launches Pronoia LLM for Business Arabic Translation". Middleeastainews.com. Middle East Al News. October 16, 2024;</u> <u>"MBZUAI-Led Research Team Builds</u> Moroccan Arabic Al Models". Middleeastainews.com. Middle East Al News. September 29, 2024.
- Arxiv, "Quantifying Multilingual Performance of Large Language Models across Languages", Arxiv.org, 2023; Will Morton, "LLM Performance Varies Based on Language Input", AuntMinnie, January 31, 2025.
- 74. <u>"5 Creative Ways to Use AI for Sentiment Analysis". 2023. Lumoa. December 20, 2023.</u>
- 75. Bloomberg. 2024. "Cheap Al Bots Rapidly Expand across India, Transforming Tech Landscape". Business Standard. August 26, 2024.
- 76. <u>"ChatGPT | the Official Portal of the UAE Government". U.ae, 2021; Flanagan, Ben. "Who gets the vaccine first? In Saudi Arabia, Al has the answer". WIRED Middle East, 24 November 2020; "UN Global Pulse Is Using Radio and Al to Leave No Voice Behind". Unfoundation.org, 18 Apr. 2019.</u>
- 77. Girimonte, Melissa. 2024. "Jobs That Are Growing with the Rise of AI". Partnerstack.com. 2024.
- 78. Dzieza, Josh. 2023. "Inside the AI Factory". The Verge. June 20, 2023; PERRIGO, BILLY. 2023. "AI by the People, for the People". Time. July 27, 2023.
- 79. Reid, Jeff. 2024. "A New Era Is Here: Analyzing the Surge in Artificial Intelligence Innovation in the Middle East". Entrepreneur. Entrepreneur Middle East. July 26, 2024; Malin, Carrington. 2024. "Abu Dhabi Unveils Hub71+ AI to Boost AI Startups". Middleeastainews.com. Middle East AI News. December 13, 2024.
- 80. <u>"UNESCO and Somalia Moved the Needle on Digital Learning in the Conflict-Affected Country". 11 December, 2020. Unesco.org. UNESCO. 2020; The Peninsula Newspaper. 2024. "Iraq to Use Artificial Intelligence in School Curricula". Thepeninsulaqatar.com. July 5, 2024; <u>"Iraq to Incorporate Al in Education System: Advisor". 6 February, 2024. Rudaw.</u> net. 2024; <u>"Al and Education: Morocco Is Not the Country to Miss Out". Interview with Dr Abdelilah Kadili". 2024. Human-Technology-Foundation.org. Human Technology</u> Foundation. January 3, 2024.</u>
- 81. Baweja, Srishti. 2024. "How Multilingual LLMs Can Revolutionize Education in India". E2enetworks.com. February 28, 2024.
- 82. <u>Ibid</u>.
- <u>"UNSDG | Harnessing Artificial Intelligence for Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)". 2024. Unsdg.un.org. May 8, 2024; Shiyas, Amal. 2023. "Microsoft Research Project Helps Languages Survive – and Thrive - Source Asia". Microsoft Source Asia. Microsoft. November 13, 2023.
 </u>
- 84. Chhabria, Pooja, and Chris Hamill-Stewart. 2024. "The 'Missed Opportunity' with AI's Linguistic Diversity Gap". World Economic Forum. September 27, 2024.
- 85. <u>Rai, Sim, and Hajar Alzerma. 2022. "Reaching Unbanked Migrant Workers in the Middle East | 11:FS". 11:FS. August 16, 2022; "Financial Inclusion in Middle East and North Africa | FinDev Gateway". 2019. Findevgateway.org. 2019; JRASB Journal, and Dr. Manoj Sharma. 2023. "View of a Study: How AI Is Incorporated in the Middle East Banking". Jrasb. com. June 28, 2023.</u>
- 86. "Understanding Intangible Cultural Heritage". 2019. Canadian Commission for UNESCO. October 10, 2019.
- 87. <u>"Al in Art Authentication: Preserving Middle Eastern Artifacts and Cultural Heritage". 2024. Tech CEOs Magazine. January 2, 2024; Eyadah, Heba, and Anas Odaibat. 2024.</u> <u>"A Forward-Looking Vision to Employ Artificial Intelligence to Preserve Cultural Heritage". Humanities and Social Sciences 12 (5): 109–14. https://doi.org/10.11648/j. hss.20241205.12.</u>
- Pasikowska-Schnass, Magdalena, and Young-Shin Lim. "Artificial Intelligence in the Context of Cultural Heritage and Museums: Complex Challenges and New Opportunities". European Parliamentary Research Service, Members' Research Service, May 2023; Bontje, Marloes. "New EuropeanaTech Task Force Report Explores AI in Relation to GLAMs". Europeana Pro, September 16, 2021; Oon, Amanda. 2021. "How AI Is Helping Preserve and Promote Malaysia's Cultural Heritage". Govinsider.asia. August 17, 2021.
- Ibrahim, Mostafa. 2024. "Al in Art and Cultural Heritage Conservation". Ultralytics.com. August 14, 2024; Staff, Tomorrow's Affairs. 2024. "How Robots and Al Contributed to the Restoration of Notre Dame's Beauty". Tomorrow's Affairs. December 9, 2024.
- 90. "Project". n.d. RePAIR Project.
- 91. Bollinger, Hugh. 2024. "A.I. To Restore Lost Art". RiledUp Journal. July 22, 2024; UKRI, and Penelope Allison. 2024. "GtR". Ukri.org. 2024.
- 92. Ibrahim, Mostafa. 2024. "Al in Art and Cultural Heritage Conservation". Ultralytics.com. August 14, 2024; Peng, Roger, and Nicolas Hengartner. "Quantitative Analysis of Literary Style". Roger D. Peng 56 (August 2002). https://doi.org/10.1198/000313002100.
- 93. Yirka, Bob. 2022: "Using AI to Fill in the Missing Gaps in Ancient Texts". Techxplore.com. Tech Xplore. March 10, 2022; "Restoring Ancient Greek Inscriptions Using AI Deep Learning | University of Oxford". 2019. Ox.ac.uk. University of Oxford. 2019; Patton, Stacey. 2024. "AI Meets Archives: The Future of Machine Learning in Cultural Heritage CLIR". CLIR. October 21, 2024.
- 94. Bounab, Youcef. 2024. "Tunisian Muslim Community Turns to Al to Save Heritage". AL-Monitor: The Middle East's Leading Independent News Source since 2012. June 4, 2024.
- 95. Alyafeai, Zaid, Al-Shaibani, Maged S, and Moataz Ahmed. 2023. "Ashaar: Automatic Analysis and Generation of Arabic Poetry Using Deep Learning Approaches". ArXiv.org. Cornell University. July 2023; Qarah, Faisal. 2024. "AraPoemBERT: A Pretrained Language Model for Arabic Poetry Analysis". ArXiv.org. Cornell University. March 19, 2024.
- 96. Wiecha, Karin. 2013. "New Estimates on the Rate of Global Language Loss the Rosetta Project.". Rosettaproject.org. March 28, 2013; Othon Viannis. 2024. "Al-Powered Preservation of Endangered Languages". Historica. December 3, 2024.
- 97. Othon Viannis. 2024. "Al-Powered Preservation of Endangered Languages". Historica.org. Historica. December 3, 2024; Vincent, James. 2022. "Google Plans Giant Al Language Model Supporting World's 1,000 Most Spoken Languages". The Verge. November 2, 2022; "SILICON – Stanford Initiative on Language Inclusion and Conservation in Old and New Media". 2024. Stanford.edu. 2024.
- 98. Othon Viannis. 2024. "Al-Powered Preservation of Endangered Languages". Historica.org. Historica. December 3, 2024; Vincent, James. 2022. "Google Plans Giant Al Language Model Supporting World's 1,000 Most Spoken Languages". The Verge. November 2, 2022; "SILICON – Stanford Initiative on Language Inclusion and Conservation in Old and New Media". 2024. Stanford.edu. 2024.

- 99. Haokip, Thongkholal. "Artificial Intelligence and Endangered Languages". Journal of North East India Studies 12, no. 1 (January-June 2022): 1-7.
- 100.
 Chen, Dayang, Na Sun, Jong-Hoon Lee, Changman Zou, and Wang-Su Jeon. 2024. "Digital Technology in Cultural Heritage: Construction and Evaluation Methods of Al-Based

 Ethnic Music Dataset". Applied Sciences 14 (23): 10811–11. https://doi.org/10.3390/app142310811; Ma, Trang, Hieu Nguyen, Khang Nguyen, Xuan Nguyen, and Thanh-Nghi Do.

 2025. "ViTIP: Al-Powered Vietnamese Traditional Instrument Preservation System Using 3D Space". In Intelligent Systems and Data Science. ISDS 2024, edited by Nguyen

 Thai-Nghe, Thanh-Nghi Do, and Salem Benferhat. Communications in Computer and Information Science, vol. 2190. Singapore: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-97-9613-7_17.
- 101. Ram, Gondor. 2024. "Fusion at the Frontier: AI's Role in Reinventing Traditional Cooking Techniques". The Al Cuisine. February 23, 2024.
- 102. Lau, Ka Hei Carrie, Bhada Yun, Samuel Saruba, Efe Bozkir, and Enkelejda Kasneci. 2024. "Wrapped in Anansi's Web: Unweaving the Impacts of Generative-AI Personalization and VR Immersion in Oral Storytelling". arXiv preprint arXiv:2409.16894v1.
- Kong Polytechnic University, Hong. 2024. "Researchers Harness Generative AI to Preserve Cantonese Porcelain Art and Heritage". Techxplore.com. Tech Xplore. October 16, 2024.
- 104. Vina, Abirami. 2024. "Al in Archaeology Paves the Way for New Discoveries". Ultralytics.com. August 29, 2024; "European Citizen Science Platform:: Heritage Quest". 2021. Eu-Citizen.science. June 22, 2021.
- 105. UNESCO, "Promoting the Diversity of Cultural Expressions and Creative Economy", Unesco.org, 2023; "Middle East Tourism Market Size, Share & Forecast 2024-2034". 2024.
 Futuremarketinsights.com. April 23, 2024; Walid, Reem. 2024. "Preserving the Past, Building the Future: Saudi Arabia's Cultural Heritage and Business Synergy". Arab News. November 9, 2024; "Egypt Eyes More Archaeological Site Investment to Enhance Tourist Experience". 2023. Sis.gov.eg. December 31, 2023; "Middle East Tourism Market Size, Share & Forecast 2024-2034". 2024.
- 106. <u>"AlUla | Journey through Time Masterplan". n.d. Ucl.rcu.gov.sa. Government of Saudi Arabia</u>.
- 107. Qatar Foundation. 2024. "Al in Heritage and Culture: How QF Experts are Finding New Ways of Connecting Past and Present" Linkedin.com. Qatar Foundation. June 3, 2024.
- 108. Kenney, Steven. 2024. "The Metaverse and the Future of the Arab Region Public Policy Choices and Actions". UNESCWA; "Temple of Eshmun". 2024. CyArk. 2024.
- 109. "5 Ways Restoring Cultural Heritage Drives Economic Growth". 2024. Aga Khan Development Network. September 7, 2024.
- 110. <u>Masood Alavi, Dina, Matthias Wählisch, Collin Irwin, and Asif Konya. "Using Artificial Intelligence for Peacebuilding". Journal of Peacebuilding & Development 17, no. 2 (2022): 239-243. https://doi.org/10.1177/15423166221102757; Politically Speaking. 2023. "Exploring the Potential and Pitfalls of Artificial Intelligence as a Tool for Prevention and Peacebuilding". Medium. June 2, 2023; Washington Post. 2021. "The United Nations Is Turning to Artificial Intelligence in Search for Peace in War Zones", April 23, 2021.</u>
- 111. Pietromarchi, Virginia. 2024. "Can Al Mediate Conflict Better than Humans?" Al Jazeera. February 29, 2024.
- 112. <u>Kiarie, Edwin. 2024. "Cultural Heritage Preservation in the Face of Globalization". International Journal of Humanity and Social Sciences 3 (3): 1–14. https://doi.org/10.47941/ ijhss.208; Ziyan, Jihane. 2023. "Globalization and Its Impact on Cultural Identity: An Analysis". Medium. February 27, 2023.</u>
- Douaji, Taha. 2024. "The Scope of Al in Arabic: Opportunities, Challenges, and Use Cases". Alpha-Apps.ae. October 21, 2024; 2022. Arabic Collections Online. 2022; Sigma Aldrich. 2025. "NMR Chemical Shifts of Impurities". Merck 1 (1); Proctor, Rebecca Anne. 2024. "The Promises and Challenges of Al for Arabic". Aramcoworld.com. Aramco. May 1, 2024.
- 114. <u>"Small Language Models (SLMs): A Cheaper, Greener Route into AI". 2024. Unesco.org. UNESCO. March 18, 2024; Hasan, Suha. 2024. "Startups in Egypt Are Trying Hard to Navigate_ the Economic Storm. Is There a Silver Lining?" Fast Company Middle East | the Future of Tech, Business and Innovation., August.</u>
- 115. Wu, F., Li, Z., Li, Y., Ding, B., & Gao, J. (2024). FedBi0T: LLM local fine-tuning in federated learning without full model. In Proceedings of the 30th ACM SIGKDD Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining (KDD '24) (pp. 3345–3355). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3637528.3671897; Bumgardner, V. K. C., Mullen, A., Armstrong, S. E., Hickey, C., Marek, V., & Talbert, J. (2024). Local large language models for complex structured tasks. AMIA Joint Summits on Translational Science Proceedings, 2024, 105–114; Mourtada, R., Littig, L., Carrasco, M., Schetinin, S., & Baru, A. (2024); Digital government in the age of Al: Championing GCC next-gen citizen services. Boston Consulting Group; Fares, D. (2023). The role of large language models (LLMs) driven chatbots in shaping the future of government services and communication with citizens in UAE (Master's thesis, Rochester Institute of Technology). Rochester Institute of Technology.
- 116. <u>"United Nations Activities on Artificial Intelligence (AI)". 2023. International Telecommunication Union.</u>
- 117. <u>Gosselink, Brigitte, Kate Brandt, Marian Croak, Karen Desalvo, Ben Gomes, Lila Ibrahim, Maggie Johnson, and others 2024. "Al in Action: Accelerating Progress towards the Sustainable Development Goals". Google.</u>
- Vinuesa, Ricardo, Hossein Azizpour, Iolanda Leite, Madeline Balaam, Virginia Dignum, Sami Domisch, Anna Felländer, Simone Daniela Langhans, Max Tegmark, and Francesco Fuso Nerini. 2020. "The Role of Artificial Intelligence in Achieving the Sustainable Development Goals". Nature Communications 11 (1): 233. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-14108-y.
- 119. "Press Release: Sustainable Development Report 2024". 2024. Sdgtransformationcenter.org. June 17, 2024; Sachs, Jeffrey, Guillaume Lafortune, and Grayson Fuller. 2024. "The SDGs and the UN Summit of the Future. Sustainable Development Report 2024". Sustainable Development Report 2024; United Nations. 2024. "The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2024". United Nations.
- 120. "Press Release: Sustainable Development Report 2024". 2024. Sdgtransformationcenter.org. June 17, 2024.
- 121. United Nations. 2024a. "Sustainable Development Report 2024". Sustainable Development Report. 2024; "UNSDG | UN Deputy Secretary-General's Remarks at the Arab Forum for Sustainable Development". 2024. Un.org. UNSDG. 2024.
- 122. Bankhwal, Medha, Ankit Bisht, Michael Chui, Roger Roberts, and Ashley van Heteren. 2024. "Al for Social Good: Improving Lives and Protecting the Planet". McKinsey Digital Report. McKinsey & Company, May 2024.
- 123. UNDP. 2024. "Sustainable Development Goals". United Nations Development Programme. United Nations. 2024.

- 124. Bankhwal, Medha, Ankit Bisht, Michael Chui, Roger Roberts, and Ashley van Heteren. 2024. "Al for Social Good: Improving Lives and Protecting the Planet". McKinsey Digital Report. McKinsey & Company, May 2024.
- 125. "Microfinance Artificial Intelligence: Driving Financial Inclusion: AI Applications in Microfinance for Entrepreneurs FasterCapital". 2024. FasterCapital. 2024.
- 126. <u>"Telecommunication Standardization Sector AI for Good-Innovate for Impact Final Report"</u>. 2024. International Telecommunication Union; S.S., Vinod Chandra, Anand Hareendran S., and Ghassan Faisal Albaaji. 2024. "Precision Farming for Sustainability: An Agricultural Intelligence Model". Computers and Electronics in Agriculture 226 [November]: 109386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2024.109386; "Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO)". 2024. AI for Good. December 5, 2024.
- 127. <u>Raza, Marium M., Kaushik P. Venkatesh, and Joseph C. Kvedar. 2022. "Intelligent Risk Prediction in Public Health Using Wearable Device Data". Npj Digital Medicine 5 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41746-022-00701-x; Seitz, Sara. 2024. "The Evolution of Wearables and the Future of Predictive Analytics". Sequenex. October 15, 2024.</u>
- 128. <u>"Telecommunication Standardization Sector AI for Good-Innovate for Impact Final Report". 2024. International Telecommunication Union; Newton, Casey. 2016. "Can AI Fix Education? We Asked Bill Gates". The Verge. April 25, 2016; Anderson. "How AI Helped Overcome the Education Gap with This Pilot Project in Rwanda – a Story of Hope". Medium, Medium, 4 Mar. 2024.</u>
- 129. Chemisto, Musa, Tar JL Gutu, Kassim Kalinaki, Darlius Mwebesa Bosco, Percival Egau, Kirya Fred, Ivan Tim Oloya, and Kisitu Rashid. 2023a. "Artificial Intelligence for Improved Maternal Healthcare: A Systematic Literature Review: 2023 IEEE AFRICON, AFRICON, 2023 IEEE AFRICON, AFRICON, 2023 IEEE, September, 1–6. https://doi. org/10.1109/AFRICON55910.2023.10293674.
- 130. wintwisu_admin. 2019. "Using AI to Diagnose Water Consumption Patterns". WINT. April 24, 2019; "Telecommunication Standardization Sector AI for Good-Innovate for Impact Final Report". 2024. International Telecommunication Union (p. 47).
- 131. "The Smart Grid: How AI Is Powering Today's Energy Technologies". 2024. Sap.com. SAP. July 25, 2024.
- 132. World Economic Forum. 2023. "The Future of Jobs Report 2023". World Economic Forum. April 30, 2023; Cazzaniga, Mauro. 2024. "Gen-Al: Artificial Intelligence and the Future of Work". IMF. January 14, 2024; Karippacheril, Tina George, Kevwe Pela, and Asbath Alassani. 2024. "What We're Reading about the Age of Al, Jobs, and Inequality". World Bank Blogs. May 7, 2024.
- 133. <u>TimesTech. 2022. "Transformation of Infra Management in These 5 Ways Using AI". TimesTech. October 10, 2022; Team DigitalDefynd. 2024. "10 Ways AI Is Being Used in Infrastructure Development [2024]". DigitalDefynd. March 2, 2024.</u>
- 134.
 <u>"'Artificial Intelligence for Equity in Education' Drives UNESCO and 11th Equitable Education Alliance Event in Asia-Pacific". 2024. Unesco.org. UNESCO. June 5, 2024;

 Patel, Utsav. 2024. "How Artificial Intelligence Will Empower Personalized Education". Softwebsolutions. July 30, 2024; Baweja, Srishti. 2024. "How Multilingual LLMs Can Revolutionize Education in India". E2enetworks.com. February 28, 2024.

 </u>
- 135. Watson, Clare. 2023. "Al Can Already Design Better Cities than Humans, Study Shows". ScienceAlert. September 17, 2023; Sanchez, Thomas W., Hannah Shumway, Trey Gordner, and Theo Lim. 2022. "The Prospects of Artificial Intelligence in Urban Planning". International Journal of Urban Sciences 27 (2): 1–16; "Al for Good Impact Report". 2024. International Telecommunication Union. p. 42.
- 136. Olawade, David B, Oluwaseun Fapohunda, Ojima Z Wada, Sunday O Usman, Abimbola O Ige, Olawale Ajisafe, and Bankole I Oladapo. 2024. "Smart Waste Management: A Paradigm Shift Enabled by Artificial Intelligence". Waste Management Bulletin 2 [2]. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wmb.2024.05.001.
- 137. Koivuniemi, Anna. 2024. "The Future of Climate Action: Patterns, Predictions and Possibilities". Presentation at ITU AI for Good Summit 2024, Google DeepMind Impact Accelerator.
- 138. Fujitsu. 2020. "Fujitsu Tech Leverages AI and Underwater Drone Data for 'Ocean Digital Twin.'" Fujitsu Global. March 26, 2020; Verma, Snehal. 2023. "MIT Solve". Mit.edu. May 11, 2023; Tiehm, Andreas. 2023. "Protecting Water Biodiversity with Molecular Biology and AI for Targeted Protection | TZW". TZW. 2023.
- 139. Thompson, Tosin. 2023. "How Al Can Help Save Endangered Species". Scientific American. October 31, 2023; Snow, Jackie. 2016. "Rangers Use Artificial Intelligence to Fight Poachers". Animals. June 12, 2016.
- 140.
 MC GRATH, PHILIP. 2024. "Avoiding Juris-Fiction: A Way Forward for Transparent, Risk-Based Al Experimentation in Justice and the Rule of Law". World Bank Blogs. October 11, 2024; Schindler, Eckard. 2025. "Judicial Systems Are Turning to Al to Help Manage Vast Quantities of Data and Expedite Case Resolution". Ibm.com. February 4, 2025; Allyson Brunette. 2024. "Humanizing Justice: The Transformational Impact of Al in Courts, from Filing to Sentencing - Thomson Reuters Institute". Thomson Reuters Institute. October 25, 2024.
- 141. "Global Initiative on Al for Health". 2018. www.who.int. World Health Organization. 2018.
- 142.
 "World Bank Open Data". 2025. World Bank Open Data. 2025; World Bank. 2019. "Labor Force Participation Rate, Female (per cent of Female Population Ages 15+) [Modeled

 ILO Estimate) Middle East & North Africa | Data". Worldbank.org. 2019; "World Bank Open Data". 2025. World Bank Open Data. 2025. "World Bank Open Data". 2025b. World

 Bank Open Data. 2025; "World Bank Open Data". 2025b. World Bank Open Data. 2025; International Labour Organization. 2024. "ILO Flagship Report ILO Flagship Report World

 Employment and Social Outlook Trends".
- Al Nahlawy, Hoda. 2023. "Rising to the Challenge: Climate Action in the Arab Region". UNDP. September 28, 2023; Williment, Chloe. 2024. "Al & Sustainability: Tackling Food Waste and Climate Change". Sustainabilitymag.com. Bizclik Media Ltd. October 10, 2024; "MENA AI OBSERVATORY". 2022. Menaobservatory.ai. 2022; "Al4D Scholarship Enhancing Doctoral and Early Career Research in Artificial Intelligence (Al) and Machine Learning (ML) in Sub-Saharan Africa by Women Candidates – Al4D Africa". 2025. Acts-Net.org. Artifical Intelligence for Development. 2025; Staff Reporter. 2021. "Egypt Launches Al-Enabled System to Enhance Agriculture Process". Farmers Review Africa. December 8, 2021; Dawson, Rachel. 2022. "These Tech Startups from the MENA Region Are Getting Noticed". Fast Company MENA, May 28, 2022; "DeepLeaf". 2023. EuroQuity. 2023; "Startups Supported by the Accelerate for Impact Platform". 2023. Alliance Bioversity International - CIAT. 2023; Hult Prize 2020 Lima Regional Summit - Zar3tna 6-Min Pitch!" 2020. F6S. 2020.
- 144. <u>Healey, Robert. 2024. "Navigating the Complexities of Data Privacy Compliance across the Middle East and North Africa (MENA)". Formiti. Formiti. Termiti Data Privacy App. September 16, 2024; "Data Privacy Frameworks in MENA Emerging Approaches and Common Principles". 2019. PWC GSMA; Blind, Knut, Crispin Niebel, and Christian Rammer. 2023. "The Impact of the EU General Data Protection Regulation on Product Innovation". Industry and Innovation 31 (3): 1–41. https://doi.org/10.1080/13662716.2023.2271858.</u>

- Shulla, K., Leal Filho, W., Sommer, J. H., Lange Salvia, A., & Borgemeister, C. (2020). Channels of collaboration for citizen science and the sustainable development goals. Journal of Cleaner Production, 264, 121735; Petrosyan, A. (2024, December 12). Global age distribution of internet users 2024, by region. Statista; Consul Democracy, "CONSUL DEMOCRACY", Consuldemocracy.org, June 10, 2024; Mathieu Ollagnier, "How Humanitarian Organisations Are Investing in Al to Save Lives", Euronews, October 27, 2023; Fraisl. D., Campbell, J., See, L., and others (2020). Mapping citizen science contributions to the UN sustainable development goals. Sustainability Science, 15, 1735–1751; Mickoleit, A. (2014). Social media use by governments: A policy primer to discuss trends, identify policy opportunities and guide decision makers (OECD Working Papers on Public Governance, No. 26). OECD Publishing.
- 146. Ana Beduschi, "Harnessing the Potential of Artificial Intelligence for Humanitarian Action: Opportunities and Risks", International Review of the Red Cross, June 2022.
- 147. WEF, "Al in Action: Beyond Experimentation to Transform Industry" (World Economic Forum, January 2025).
- 148. Mauro Cazzaniga, "Gen-Al: Artificial Intelligence and the Future of Work", IMF, January 14, 2024.
- 149.
 Bessen, J. (2015). Learning by doing: the real connection between innovation, wages, and wealth. Yale University Press.; Internet Society", Work and Learning through the Internet Internet Society", Internet Society, 2024; Lyndall Baker Landauer, "The History, Development, and Importance of Personal Computers | Encyclopedia.com", Encyclopedia.com, 2019; Troy Monterey, "Unleashing Productivity: How the 1990s Internet Revolution Transformed Efficiency Ictsd.org", Ictsd.org, August 19, 2023; Daron Acemoglu and Pascual Restrepo, "Artificial Intelligence, Automation and Work" (National Bureau of Economic Research, January 2018); Avery Hartmans and others, "Vans' Parent Company Is Laying off 500 Employees. Here's the Full List of Major Retailers Making Cuts, from Gap to Walmart", Business Insider, December 1, 2023.
- 150.
 The Jobs of The Future, "The Transformative Impact of Technology on the Job Market: Exploring Emerging Career Opportunities Jobs of the Future", The Jobs of the Future,

 December 31, 2024; Yungiu Zhan and Shuwen Yang, "Does Internet Use Improve Employment?—Empirical Evidence from China", PLOS ONE 19, no. 4 (April 16, 2024); Nir

 Jaimovich and Henry Siu, "How Automation and Other Forms of IT Affect the Middle Class: Assessing the Estimates", November 2019.
- 151. Inventionland, "The History of Mobile Apps", Inventionland, April 3, 2019; Laura Beans, "How Mobile Changed Social Media Marketing", Cleveland Digital Marketing Agency, May 1, 2017; Jen Fisher, "Workplace Burnout Survey", Deloitte United States, 2015; Gillian Rose Barnes and others, "How Remote Work Is Affecting the New Generation of Auditors and Audit Quality: Recent Research and Its Implications", Journal of Forensic and Investigative Accounting 16, no. 1 (2024); Ramy Zeid and others, "The Gig Economy and the Future of Work: Global Trends and Policy Directions for Non-Standard Forms of Employment", n.d.; Dr. Andreas Svoboda, "Gig Economy and Remote Work Challenge Traditional Retirement Planning", International Journal of Management Studies and Social Science Research 6, no. 3 (2024).
- 152. OECD, "Al and Employment", OECD, December 13, 2021.
- 153. James Manyika and others, "Jobs Lost, Jobs Gained: What the Future of Work Will Mean for Jobs, Skills, and Wages", McKinsey & Company, November 28, 2017.
- 154. WEF, "The Future of Jobs Report 2025" (World Economic Forum, January 2025); World Economic Forum. "The Future of Jobs Report 2023". World Economic Forum, 30 April 2023; Rege, Manjeet. "Generative AI's Real-World Impact on Job Markets". Newsroom | University of St. Thomas, 28 May 2024.
- 155. WEF, "Leveraging Generative AI for Job Augmentation and Workforce Productivity: Scenarios, Case Studies and a Framework for Action" (World Economic Forum, November 2024); Aarushi Singhania, "What Do Workers Need to Learn to Stay Relevant in the Age of AI? Chief Learning Officers Explain", World Economic Forum, January 19, 2024; WEF, "The Future of Jobs Report 2025" (World Economic Forum, January 2025).
- 156. WEF, "The Future of Al-Enabled Health: Leading the Way" (World Economic Forum, January 2025); Muhammad Yusuf Bin Masod and Siti Farhana Zakaria, "Artificial Intelligence in the Printing Industry: A Systematic Review of Industrial Applications, Challenges and Benefits" (International Journal of Research and Innovation in Social Science, October 2024); N Othman and others, "Risk Assessment and Control Measures for the Printing Ink Production Process", International Journal of Civil Engineering and Technology 8, no. 10 (October 1, 2017): 41–55; Margarita Almyranti and others, "Artificial Intelligence and the Health Workforce" (OECD, November 2024).
- 157. WEF, "The Future of Jobs Report 2025" (World Economic Forum, January 2025).
- 158. Accenture, "The New Growth Algebra Saudi Arabia's Generative Al Opportunity", Sdaia.gov.sa, 2025.
- 159. <u>Ibid</u>.
- Information
 Venture Search, "2025 UAE Job Market Outlook", Venturesearch.com, January 28, 2025; Elias Al Helou, "How Economic Growth, Rise of Al Fuel Dynamic Labor Market in UAE", Economy Middle East, January 6, 2025.
- 161. Anthon Garcia, "The Impact of AI on the Job Market in the Region", Economy Middle East, December 23, 2024; Anna Siampani, "CEOWORLD Magazine", CEOWORLD Magazine, December 10, 2024; The Peninsula, "AI to Generate S5bln in Qatar's Economy; Workforce to Expand 13,000 by 2030", Zawya.com (Zawya, December 10, 2024); Chloe Domat, "Qatar: Bold Leap into New Technologies", Global Finance Magazine, December 9, 2024.
- 162. ILO, "World Employment and Social Outlook Trends 2025" (International Labour Organization, 2025).
- 163. ILO, "Arab States Employment and Social Outlook Trends 2024: Promoting Social Justice through a Just Transition", International Labour Organization, February 20, 2024; "World Bank Open Data". 2025. World Bank Open Data. 2025; World Bank. 2019. "Labor Force Participation Rate, Female (per cent of Female Population Ages 15+) (Modeled ILO Estimate) - Middle East & North Africa | Data". Worldbank.org. 2019; "World Bank Open Data". 2025. World Bank Open Data. 2025.
- 164. <u>ILO, "Global Employment Trends for Youth 2024", International Labour Organization, August 12, 2024; MATSH, "Skills Gap and Training Needs by Industry in the Gulf Region", Matsh People Development, November 23, 2024.</u>
- 165. Shamsul Anam Emon, "MENA Region: Bridging the Skills Gap in the MENA Workplace", MENA Exec Training, October 12, 2024; "IBM Launches Himmah in the Kingdom, an Associate Program to Upskill the Next Generation of Saudi Technology Leaders". IBM Newsroom - Middle East & Africa, 2024.
- 166. Inc. Arabia Staff, "The UAE to Train One Million Residents in Al Skills by 2027", Inc. Arabia, November 12, 2024; Gain Summit, "State of Al in Saudi Arabia" (Gain Summit, September 2024).
- 167. United Nations, "Capacity-Building", United Nations, 2021.
- 168. Diana Dib and others, "Overcoming Al Ecosystem Challenges | Strategy& Middle East", PwC, 2024.
- 169. Bizpreneurme, "E6 and IBM Study Focuses on MENA's Opportunity to Lead AI Transformation despite Tech Readiness Challenges Bizpreneur Middle East", Bizpreneurme.com,

January 23, 2025; Ashley Andrew Rossiter, "Strategic Technology in the Middle East: Gulf States' Place in the Al Race | ISPI", ISPI, January 28, 2025.

- 170. Trigui, Hana, and others "Exploring Al Governance in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) Region: Gaps, Efforts, and Initiatives". Data & Policy, vol. 6, 1 Jan. 2024.
- 171. European Commission. "Regulatory Framework on Al | Shaping Europe's Digital Future". European Commission, 14 Oct. 2024; IBM. "Al Bill of Rights". Ibm.com, 27 Sept. 2024; IEEE. Ethically Aligned Design a Vision for Prioritizing Human Well-Being with Autonomous and Intelligent Systems. 2019.
- 172. Clyde. "DIFC Enacts Landmark Regulation for Autonomous and Semi-Autonomous Systems". Clydeco.com, Clyde & Co LLP, 28 Sept. 2023; Sdaia.gov.sa, 2024.
- 173. Dubai Future Foundation, "One Million Arab Coders OMAC Dubai", Dubai Future Foundation, 2024; Wael Al Mubarak, "3 Ways Arab Nations Are Leading the Skills Revolution", World Economic Forum, May 2, 2023; MCIT, "Ministry of Communications and Information Technology", Mcit.gov.eg, 2021; Sindhu V Kashyap, "Google to Invest \$15M in Al Skills, Research, and Infrastructure for MENA - ITP.net", ITP.net, October 31, 2024; Andrew Baird and Nour Kamel, "How Can the Al Revolution Boost Youth Employment in MENA?", World Economic Forum, January 16, 2024.
- 174. David Morelo, "The Most AI-Proof Career Opportunities in the Middle East", Tech Magazine, June 21, 2024; Fast Company, "Fast Company | the Future of Business", Fast
 Company, 2000; Fairwork, fair.work, 2024; ILO, "Key Findings of the Report on Social Protection in Case of Job Loss Discussed in Tashkent", International Labour Organization, July 14, 2021; None Muhyiddin and others, "Indonesia's Job Loss Insurance Program (JKP): Evaluating Challenges and Opportunities for Worker Welfare and Market Integration", The Journal of Indonesia Sustainable Development Planning 5, no. 3 (December 31, 2024); UAE, "Insurance against Job Loss", u.ae, 2024; Atlas Magazine, "Towards the Introduction of Job Loss Insurance for Economic Reasons", Atlas-mag.net, 2025; Fairwork, "Lebanon", Fair.work, 2023; Fairwork, "Jordan", Fair.work, 2025; Fairwork, "Morocco", Fair.work, 2023.
- 175. Muhyiddin and others, "Indonesia's Job Loss Insurance Program (JKP): Evaluating Challenges and Opportunities for Worker Welfare and Market Integration", The Journal of Indonesia Sustainable Development Planning 5, No. 3 (31 December 2024).
- 176. Paul Thornley and Maryam Bagheri, "Open-Source Alternatives for Small to Medium Sized Enterprises", 2021, 188–99; ACG Research, "Succeeding on an Open Field: The Impact of Open Source Technologies on the Communication Service Provider Ecosystem", 2018.
- 177. Psico-Smart Editorial Team. "Measuring the Impact of Innovation Management Training on Organizational Performance". Psico-Smart Software, August 28, 2024; "Innovation through Combination of Technologies - Wipro". 2020. Www.wipro.com. October 2020; Nambisan, S., Lyytinen, K., Majchrzak, A., & Song, M. (2017). Digital Innovation Management: Reinventing Innovation Management Research in a Digital World. MIS Quarterly, 41(1), 223–238; Owyang, J. (2017, February 21). Report: The corporate innovation imperative. Web Strategist; Yee, L., Chui, M., & Roberts, R., with Issler, M. (2024). McKinsey technology trends outlook 2024. McKinsey & Company; Treat, David, and Michael Klein. "How Immersive Technology, Blockchain and AI Are Converging". World Economic Forum, 21 June 2024.
- 178. <u>Fast Company Middle East, "The Middle East Has a Traffic Problem. Is Banning Cars the Solution?", Linkedin.com, September 5, 2023; Salma Saleh, "MENA: Annual Time Lost in Traffic by City 2023 | Statista", Statista, 2024.</u>
- 179. <u>Alison Ipswich, "Traction Five: How AI Is Revolutionizing Traffic Management", Tractiontechnology.com, 2017</u>; <u>Viacheslav Petrenko, "AI in Transportation: How AI Technology Is</u> <u>Revolutionizing Traffic Management", Litslink, May 3, 2024</u>.
- 180. YUNEX, "The Role of Artificial Intelligence in Revolutionizing Road Safety", Yunex Traffic, December 11, 2023; Roselyne Min, "Verona Tests AI Sensors to Improve Traffic Congestion and Road Safety", euronews (Euronews.com, October 10, 2024).
- 181. UAE, "Al in Transportation | the Official Portal of the UAE Government", u.ae, September 9, 2024; <u>Transcore</u>, "TransCore | Riyadh Officials Select TransCore to Deploy Traffic Management System in Saudi Arabia's Largest City", Transcore, February 24, 2024.
- 182. UAE, "Al in Transportation | the Official Portal of the UAE Government", u.ae, September 9, 2024; Transcore, "TransCore | Riyadh Officials Select TransCore to Deploy Traffic Management System in Saudi Arabia's Largest City", Transcore, February 24, 2024.
- 183. <u>Hicham Fadel and others, "Vision Zero the Journey to Safer Roads in the Middle East", 2023; Mark Haddad and Gustave Cordahi, "How Advanced Technologies Are Spurring a New Era of Traffic Safety CEO Middle East", CEO Middle East, September 5, 2024; WHO, "Global Report Safety Performance", n.d.</u>
- 184. <u>Bacine County Eye Staff, "Beyond Chatbots: How Al Is Transforming Road Safety | Racine County Eye", Racine County Eye (RCE, September 16, 2024)</u>; FISITA, "Thought Leadership: The Evolution of Road Safety and Automated Driving in Europe – FISITA", Fisita.com, September 30, 2024.
- 185. Majid Alhusseini, "How a Saudi Arabian Al Startup Is Revolutionizing Road Safety across the World", Visionary Magazine, June 26, 2021.
- 186. <u>Ibid</u>.
- 187. AJLabs, "World Water Day: Mapping Water Stress across the Middle East", www.aljazeera.com, March 22, 2023; Natasha Hall, "Surviving Scarcity: Water and the Future of the Middle East", features.csis.org, March 22, 2024; Spencer Feingold and World Economic Forum, "How Can the Middle East and North Africa Manage the Region's Water Crisis?", World Economic Forum, January 6, 2023; Mohammed Mahmoud, "The Looming Climate and Water Crisis in the Middle East and North Africa", carnegieendowment.org, April 19, 2024.
- 188. Noor Al Marzrouei, "Al and Water: Pioneering Solutions for a Thirsty Planet", Trendsresearch.org, 2024; Ross McIntosh, "Water Al: 8 Ways Al in Water Management Creates a Better Future", Sand Technologies, May 3, 2024.
- 189. Salman Zafar, "Water Scarcity in MENA", EcoMENA, May 3, 2014; Green.ORG, "Artificial Intelligence and IoT in Wastewater Treatment", Green.org, January 30, 2024; <u>Ahmed E. Alprol and others</u>, "Artificial Intelligence Technologies Revolutionizing Wastewater Treatment: Current Trends and Future Prospective", January 1, 2024, 314.
- 190.
 Xylem, "Wastewater Treatment Plant Uses AI to Reduce Aeration Energy Use by 26 per cent | Xylem US", Xylem.com, 2017; Gloria Pallares, "From Waste to Resource: How

 Artificial Intelligence Will Transform Water Treatment in the EU", Smart Water Magazine, June 7, 2023; IDRICA, "How AI Is Changing the Paradigm in Treatment Plants", IDRICA,

 October 17, 2024.
- IWMI, "IWMI Announces Development of a New, Google-Supported Tool That Will Harness AI and Satellite Data for Water Reuse in the Middle East and North Africa". International Water Management Institute (IWMI), November 27, 2023; UNDP, "Detecting Non-Revenue Water Using Internet of Things and Artificial Intelligence", UNDP, October 9, 2020; Codeavour 6.0, "Jordanian Teens Develop AI Project for Groundbreaking Sustainable Water Recycling to Revive Fields - Codeavour", Codeavour, February 26, 2024.

- 192. Achref Chibani, "The Costs and Benefits of Water Desalination in the Gulf", Arab Center Washington DC, May 30, 2023; Jonathan Chenoweth, Raya A. Al-Masri, and The Conversation, "Desalination Could Give the Middle East Water without Damaging Marine Life. But It Must Be Managed Carefully", phys.org, January 19, 2023.
- 193. Kayla Valentine, "Using Al to Provide the World with Drinking Water", Cmu.edu, 2021; Genesis Water Tech, "Al in Seawater Desalination Plant Optimization: A Detailed Guide", Genesis Water Technologies, August 19, 2024; Ali Mahmoudi and others, "Challenges and Opportunities of Desalination with Renewable Energy Resources in Middle East Countries", Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews 184 (September 1, 2023).
- 194. Kayla Valentine, "Using Al to Provide the World with Drinking Water", Cmu.edu, 2021; Genesis Water Tech, "Al in Seawater Desalination Plant Optimization: A Detailed Guide", Genesis Water Technologies, August 19, 2024; Ali Mahmoudi and others, "Challenges and Opportunities of Desalination with Renewable Energy Resources in Middle East Countries", Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews 184 (September 1, 2023).
- 195. <u>AQUA Tech, "Al to Drive System-Level Desalination Energy Efficiency", Aquatechtrade.com, September 30, 2024; European Commission, "Desalination", blue-economyobservatory.ec.europa.eu, 2024; Dr Mike Dixon, "Machine Learning Delivers Energy Savings in Desalination", Smart Water Magazine, November 17, 2020.</u>
- 196. Staff Writer, "Bahrain's EWA Expected to Sign Hidd IWP Contract in Q2 2025", Zawya.com (Zawya, November 17, 2024); Veolia, "Veolia Wins €300 Million Water Technology Contract for World's Most Energy-Efficient Desalination Plant, Enhancing Water Security in UAE", 2024; Martin Keulertz, "The Gulf Is All-in on Al, but It's Thirsty Work for a Desert Region", AGBI, April 15, 2024; Industry Events, "5th MENA Desalination Projects Forum", Industryevents.com, 2024; Jonathan Chenoweth, Raya A. Al-Masri, and The Conversation, "Desalination Could Give the Middle East Water without Damaging Marine Life. But It Must Be Managed Carefully", phys.org, January 19, 2023.
- 197. <u>Rystad Energy, "Power Surge: Solar PV to Help Meet Soaring Middle East Power Demand, Reduce Reliance on Fossil Fuels", Rystad Energy, May 27, 2024; Francesco La Camera, "MENA's Transforming Role in an Evolving Energy Landscape", Irena.org, October 26, 2023; <u>Akram Alami and Raja Atoui, "How MENA Can Play a Pivotal Role in the Global Energy</u> <u>Transition", World Economic Forum, November 24, 2023</u>.</u>
- 198. Kris Cooper, "Al and Blockchain Make Smart Grids More Useful to Renewables", Energy Monitor, September 26, 2023; Energy Connects, "Al Is a Powerful Tool to Transform the Energy Market", Energy Connects, March 3, 2022; Equipe Iteris, "Al for Renewable Energy: Catalyzing Innovation and Sustainability - Briteris - a Software Company", Briteris a Software Company, April 15, 2024; Veettil Muhammed, "How Al Can Accelerate the Transition to Green Hydrogen", Schneider Electric Blog, July 12, 2023.
- 199. Bhoomi Gadhia, "Siemens Gamesa Taps NVIDIA Digital Twin Platform for Scientific Computing to Accelerate Clean Energy Transition", NVIDIA Blog, March 22, 2022; Scott Martin, "Hardhats and Al: Startup Navigates 3D Aerial Images for Inspections", NVIDIA Blog, July 6, 2020; Inti Media Indonesia, "Powering Progress: How Al Is Optimizing Indonesia's Energy Grid", Intimedia.id, February 8, 2025; Yusuf Latief, "Swedish Startup's Grid Maintenance Solution Secures ABB Funding | Smart Energy International", Smart Energy International, May 29, 2024.
- 200. Bhoomi Gadhia, "Siemens Gamesa Taps NVIDIA Digital Twin Platform for Scientific Computing to Accelerate Clean Energy Transition", NVIDIA Blog, March 22, 2022; Scott Martin, "Hardhats and Al: Startup Navigates 3D Aerial Images for Inspections", NVIDIA Blog, July 6, 2020; Inti Media Indonesia, "Powering Progress: How Al Is Optimizing Indonesia's Energy Grid", Intimedia.id, February 8, 2025; Yusuf Latief, "Swedish Startup's Grid Maintenance Solution Secures ABB Funding | Smart Energy International", Smart Energy International, May 29, 2024.
- 201. Earth Overshoot Day, "About Earth Overshoot Day", Earth Overshoot Day, March 19, 2024; USTDA, "USTDA Supports Morocco's First Smart Grid Deployment USTDA", Ustda. gov, 2022; Pooja Chandak, "The Solar Week Namibia 2025: Conference & Awards", SolarQuarter, March 13, 2024; Anthony Garcia, "Al-Powered Smart Grids in the Middle East", Energy & Utilities, August 5, 2024; Government of Dubai, "Electricity and Water Smart Grid Supports Dubai's Vision to Become the Smartest and Happiest City in the World", Dewa.gov.ae (DEWA, 2021).
- 202. Giampaolo Cantini, "Hydrogen in the MENA Region: Priorities and Steps Forward", Atlantic Council, February 14, 2023.
- 203. Allied Market Research, "Why Should Green Hydrogen Manufacturers Incorporate Al in Their Manufacturing Operations?", Allied Market Research, 2024.
- 204. <u>Ibid</u>.
- 205. <u>Technology Networks, "Al Finds a Cheaper Way to Make Green Hydrogen", Applied Sciences from Technology Networks (Technology Networks, August 29, 2024); David R Baker, "Why Almost Nobody Is Buying Green Hydrogen", The Japan Times, August 14, 2024; IMUBIT, "Al Platform for Ammonia Production Optimization | Imubit", Imubit, February 21, 2023; Jonathan Croley, "How Can Al Drive Rapid Success in Green Hydrogen Projects?", Hydrogen Fuel News, May 29, 2024.</u>
- 206. <u>Technology Networks, "Al Finds a Cheaper Way to Make Green Hydrogen", Applied Sciences from Technology Networks (Technology Networks, August 29, 2024); David R Baker, "Why Almost Nobody Is Buying Green Hydrogen", The Japan Times, August 14, 2024; IMUBIT, "Al Platform for Ammonia Production Optimization | Imubit", Imubit, February 21, 2023; Jonathan Croley, "How Can Al Drive Rapid Success in Green Hydrogen Projects?", Hydrogen Fuel News, May 29, 2024.</u>
- 207. IRENA, "8 Digital Backbone for Green Hydrogen Production", www.irena.org, n.d.; SIEMENS, "Siemens Accelerates Hydrogen Ramp-up with Generative Artificial In ...", press. siemens.com, June 4, 2024.
- 208. Allied Market Research, "Why Should Green Hydrogen Manufacturers Incorporate AI in Their Manufacturing Operations?", Allied Market Research, 2024; Nadin Hassan, "NEOM Green Hydrogen Targets Global Market Leadership: CEO", Arab News (Arabnews, December 5, 2024); Giampaolo Cantini, "Hydrogen in the MENA Region: Priorities and Steps Forward", Atlantic Council, February 14, 2023.
- 209. "Disaster Management: The Standards Perspective". 2025. Itu.int. International Telecommunication Union. 2025.
- 210. Dombroski, Stephen. 2024. "5 Food Supply Chain Advancements with AI and ML". Ascm.org. July 24, 2024; Creasey, Simon. 2024. "Food Manufacturers Harness AI in Quest for Supply-Chain Efficiency". Just Food. June 27, 2024; Cain, Stephanie. 2024. "AI Is Touching Your Food—Maybe Most of It—by Solving the Food Industry's Unique Supply-Chain Challenges". Fortune. Fortune. June 24, 2024.
- 211. Dombroski, Stephen. 2024. "5 Food Supply Chain Advancements with AI and ML". Ascm.org. July 24, 2024; Creasey, Simon. 2024. "Food Manufacturers Harness AI in Quest for Supply-Chain Efficiency". Just Food. June 27, 2024; Cain, Stephanie. 2024. "AI Is Touching Your Food—Maybe Most of It—by Solving the Food Industry's Unique Supply-Chain Challenges". Fortune. Fortune. June 24, 2024.
- 212. Fitzgerald, Rebecca C., Antonis C. Antoniou, Ljiljana Fruk, and Nitzan Rosenfeld. 2022. "The Future of Early Cancer Detection". Nature Medicine 28 (4): 666–77. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41591-022-01746-x.

- 213. Symeon Retalis. 2024. "Elevating Education with Al-Powered Mixed Reality: Immersive Learning for Student Growth". Kinems Blog. March 28, 2024; "Diving Deeper into Digital: How Al Is Elevating Immersive Learning Experiences". n.d. Digital Learning Institute; Rosenberg, Louis. 2023. "How the Metaverse Will Revolutionize K-12 and Higher Education". Big Think. February 4, 2023.
- 214. PricewaterhouseCoopers, Parul Munshi, and Nicki Wakefield. 2024. "How AI Is Being Adopted to Accelerate Gender Equity in the Workplace". PwC. PwC. March 7, 2024; "Telecommunication Standardization Sector AI for Good-Innovate for Impact Final Report". 2024. International Telecommunication Union (p. 45).
- 215. <u>"Standardization Sector ITU-T Focus Group Technical Report Focus Group on Artificial Intelligence for Natural Disaster Management Innovative Approaches to Natural Disaster Management: Leveraging AI for Data-Related Processes ITUPublications International Telecommunication Union". 2023. International Telecommunication Union.</u>
- 216. Fong, Bernard. 2023. "Advanced Analytics for Optimizing Energy Management in Smart Cities". Smartcities.ieee.org. February 2023.
- 217. United Nations. 2024a. "Micro-, Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises Day". United Nations. 2024; "MAPPING STUDY of the CAPACITY- BUILDING NEEDS and GAPS of SMES to ENGAGE in CLIMATE ACTION in the MENA REGION FINAL SYNTHESIS REPORT 2". 2023; "Small Business AI Adoption Survey". 2023; "Telecommunication Standardization Sector AI for Good-Innovate for Impact Final Report". 2024b.
- 218. <u>"The Future of Internet of Things in Smart Cities Barcelona Case Study". 2023. Angrynerds.co. May 26, 2023; Raluca L, and Raluca L. 2022. "InteliLIGHT Streetlight Control Shines in Barcelona, at Smart City Expo World Congress - InteliLIGHT®". InteliLIGHT®. November 29, 2022.</u>
- 219. Levitt, Kevin. 2023. "How Is Al Used in Fraud Detection?" NVIDIA Blog. December 13, 2023; Bao, Yang, Gilles Hilary, and Bin Ke. 2022. "Artificial Intelligence and Fraud Detection". In Innovative Technology at the Interface of Finance and Operations, edited by Volodymyr Babich, John R. Birge, and Gilles Hilary. Springer Series in Supply Chain Management, vol. 11. Cham: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-75729-8_8; "Al for Good Impact Report". 2024. International Telecommunication Union. p. 4.
- 220. Levitt, Kevin. 2023. "How Is Al Used in Fraud Detection?" NVIDIA Blog. December 13, 2023; Bao, Yang, Gilles Hilary, and Bin Ke. 2022. "Artificial Intelligence and Fraud Detection". In Innovative Technology at the Interface of Finance and Operations, edited by Volodymyr Babich, John R. Birge, and Gilles Hilary. Springer Series in Supply Chain Management, vol. 11. Cham: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-75729-8_8; "Al for Good Impact Report". 2024. International Telecommunication Union. p. 4.
- 221. Vanoli, Christine. 2024. "New UN Initiative to Reduce Disaster Risk with AI ITU". ITU. August 20, 2024; Chapman, Alyson. 2023. "Leveraging Big Data and AI for Disaster Resilience and Recovery". Engineering.tamu.edu. June 5, 2023.
- 222. Göthe, Svante. 2024. "Four Ways Al Can Help Reduce Waste in Your Supply Chain | SupplyChainBrain". Www.supplychainbrain.com. May 6, 2024; Alicke, Knut. 2021. <u>"Succeeding in the Al Supply-Chain Revolution | McKinsey". Www.mckinsey.com</u>. Mckinsey. April 30, 2021.
- 223. "Experience Your Carbon Footprint in VR". 2020. UNEP. June 25, 2020; French, Kristen. 2021. "Can Virtual Reality Save the Planet?" State of the Planet. August 18, 2021; Climate Interactive. 2024. "En-ROADS". Www.climateinteractive.org. 2024.
- 224. <u>Vries, Robin de. 2022. "Using Al to Monitor Plastic Density in the Ocean · Updates · the Ocean Cleanup". The Ocean Cleanup. January 26, 2022; The Ocean Cleanup. 2021.</u> <u>"Oceans | the Ocean Cleanup". The Ocean Cleanup. 2021; Alaa Akram Huby, Rafid Sagban, and Raaid Alubady. 2022. "Oil Spill Detection Based on Machine Learning and Deep Learning: A Review". Oil Spill Detection Based on Machine Learning and Deep Learning, May. https://doi.org/10.1109/iiceta54559.2022.9888651.</u>
- 225. <u>"Could Al Help Stop Deforestation before It Starts?" 2023. World Wildlife Fund. 2023; Hegelbach, Stéphanie. 2022. "Neural Network Can Read Tree Heights from Satellite Images". ETH Zurich. April 20, 2022; Byan Smith, "Al's Role in the Future of Forest Conservation", Network of Nature, March 19, 2024.</u>
- 226. "Predictive Policing: Leveraging AI and Machine Learning for Crime Prevention the Protector". 2024. Newmediacomm.com. November 18, 2024; Leyba, Levi. 2023. "Crime Prediction and Prevention Using Artificial Intelligence". Www.linkedin.com. December 21, 2023.
- 227. "Home". n.d. Al for Good Global Summit 2020; "Global Partnership for Sustainable Development Data". 2024. Data4sdgs.org. 2024.

The report presents a comprehensive analysis of Artificial Intelligence (AI) as a transformative global megatrend, specifically examining its far-reaching implications for the Arab region through 2040. It explores AI's potential to revolutionize key sectors like healthcare, education, cultural preservation, and government services, driving innovation and reshaping economies across the region. The report identifies three strategic pathways for AI's evolution in the Arab region: optimizing partnerships and technologies for local priorities, promoting cultural and linguistic identity through Arabic-language AI development, and leveraging AI to accelerate progress on the Sustainable Development Goals.

the inherent risks and challenges associated with AI, including ethical concerns, data governance, and the potential for deepening inequalities. Concluding with a series of key findings and actionable strategic recommendations, it provides essential insights for government agencies, private sector stakeholders, and civil society. It serves as a vital guide for regional leaders, equipping them with the foresight and tools to proactively engage with AI and shape its trajectory for inclusive, equitable, and sustainable development aligned with the Arab region's unique visions and aspirations.

